REGULATION OF ENERGY METABOLISM IN EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX DETACHED BREAST CANCER CELLS

by

Madeline Powell Sheeley

A Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of Purdue University In Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy



Department of Nutrition Science West Lafayette, Indiana May 2021

THE PURDUE UNIVERSITY GRADUATE SCHOOL STATEMENT OF COMMITTEE APPROVAL

Dr. Dorothy Teegarden, Chair

Department of Nutrition Science

Dr. John Burgess

Department of Nutrition Science

Dr. Qing Jiang

Department of Nutrition Science

Dr. Michael Wendt

Department of Medicinal Chemistry and Molecular Pharmacology

Approved by:

Dr. Amanda Seidl

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF 7	TABLES	6
LIST OF H	FIGURES	7
LIST OF A	ABBREVIATIONS	
ABSTRAG	CT	11
CHAPTER	R 1. INTRODUCTION	
1.1 Vit	amin D	
1.1.1	Structure and Sources	
1.1.2	Vitamin D Metabolism and Mechanism of Action	14
1.1.3	Vitamin D's Role in Calcium Homeostasis and Bone Health	17
1.1.4	Extraskeletal Roles of Vitamin D	
1.1.5	Vitamin D and Breast Cancer	
1.2 Bre	east Cancer Metastasis	
1.2.1	The Metastatic Cascade	
1.2.2	Altered Energy Metabolism in Anchorage Independent Cancer Cells	
1.2.3	Vitamin D Regulation of Breast Cancer Metastasis	
1.3 Vit	amin D Regulation of Cancer Cell Metabolism	
1.3.1	Introduction	
1.3.2	Vitamin D Regulation of Glucose Metabolism	
1.3.3	Vitamin D Regulation of Glutamine Metabolism	
1.4 Py	uvate Carboxylase	40
1.4.1	PC Activity in Normal Tissue	40
1.4.2	Regulation of PC Activity in Normal Tissue	
1.4.3	PC Promotes Metastasis	43
1.4.4	PC's Role in Cancer Cell Energy Metabolism	45
1.4.5	Regulation of PC in Cancer Cells	46
1.5 Re	ferences	
CHAPTER	R 2. PYRUVATE CARBOXYLASE SUPPORTS MCF10A-RAS CELL	SURVIVAL
IN EXTRA	ACELLULAR MATRIX DETACHED CONDITIONS	65
2.1 Ab	stract	65

2.2 In	roduction
2.3 M	ethods
2.3.1	Cell Culture
2.3.2	Poly-HEMA-Coated Plates
2.3.3	MTT Assay
2.3.4	RNA Isolation and qRT-PCR
2.3.5	Glutamine and Glucose Flux
2.3.6	Western Blot Analysis
2.3.7	PC Knockdown and Overexpression
2.3.8	Statistical Analysis
2.4 Re	esults
2.5 Di	scussion
2.6 Ac	knowledgements
2.7 Re	ferences
СНАРТЕ	R 3. 1,25-DIHYDROXYVITAMIN D REDUCES MCF10A-RAS CELL SURVIVAL
IN EXTR	ACELLULAR MATRIX DETACHED CONDITIONS THROUGH REGULATION OF
PYRUVA	TE CARBOXYLASE
3.1 Al	ostract
3.2 In	roduction
3.3 M	ethods
3.3.1	Cell Culture
3.3.2	Poly-HEMA Coated Plates
3.3.3	MTT Assay
3.3.4	Flow Cytometry
3.3.5	RNA Isolation and Analysis
3.3.6	Glucose and Glutamine Flux Analysis
3.3.7	Western Blot Analysis
3.3.8	PC Knockdown and Overexpression
3.3.9	Statistical Analysis
3.4 Re	92 sults
3.5 Di	scussion

3.6	Ack	xnowledgements	100
3.7	Ref	erences	101
CHAP	TER	4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	104
4.1	Sun	nmary	104
4.2	Futi	ure Directions	106
4.	2.1	Mechanism Behind the PC Switch	106
4.	2.2	Regulation of Cellular Oxidative Stress by 1,25(OH) ₂ D in Detachment	108
4.	2.3	Regulation of Lipid Metabolism by 1,25(OH) ₂ D in Detachment	110
4.3	Con	nclusion	112
4.4	Ref	erences	112
APPE	NDI	X A. SUPPLEMENTARY DATA	116
VITA			120

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.	Primers used for qRT-PCR.	71
Table 2.	Primers used for qRT-PCR.	91

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Structural Differences Between Vitamin D_2 and Vitamin D_3	14
Figure 1.2	Vitamin D Metabolism and Mechanism of Action.	16
Figure 1.3	Metastatic Progression	24
Figure 1.4	Decreased glucose metabolism mediated by 1,25(OH) ₂ D.	35
Figure 1.5	Decreased glutamine metabolism mediated by 1,25(OH) ₂ D	38
Figure 1.6	PC's Role in Central Metabolism.	41
Figure 2.1.	Effect of detachment on cell viability.	72
Figure 2.2.	Glutamine metabolism in attached and detached conditions	74
Figure 2.3.	Glucose metabolism in attached and detached conditions.	76
Figure 2.4.	Effect of detachment on PC expression and activity	77
Figure 2.5.	Detached cell viability with PC depletion.	78
Figure 2.6.	Effect of PC overexpression on detached cell viability	79
Figure 2.7.	Dimethyl α-ketoglutarate's effect on PC expression	80
Figure 3.1.	Effect of 1,25(OH) ₂ D on detached cell viability	92
Figure 3.2.	Glutamine metabolism in detached cells treated with 1,25(OH) ₂ D	93
Figure 3.3.	Glucose metabolism in detached cells treated with 1,25(OH) ₂ D	95
Figure 3.4.	Effect of 1,25(OH) ₂ D on TCA cycle intermediates.	96
Figure 3.5.	Glucose-derived anaplerosis in detached cells treated with 1,25(OH) ₂ D	96
Figure 3.6.	Cell viability with 1,25(OH) ₂ D and PC depletion or overexpression.	97

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

1,25(OH) ₂ D	1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D
25(OH)D	25-hydroxyvitamin D
ADP	Adenosine diphosphate
αKG	α-ketoglutarate
AMPK	Adenosine monophosphate kinase
ANOVA	Analysis of variance
ASCT2	Alanine/Serine/Cysteine-preferring Transporter 2
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
AUC	Area under the curve
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid
BMI	Body mass index
CPT1a	Carnitine palmitoyltransferase A1
СҮР	Cytochrome P-450 enzymes
DBP	Vitamin D binding protein
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified eagle medium
DRIP	Vitamin D interacting protein
ECM	Extracellular matrix
EMT	Epithelial-to-mesenchymal transition
ERK	Extracellular signal-regulated kinase
FADH ₂	Flavin adenine dinucleotide
FAK	Focal adhesion kinase
FAO	Fatty acid oxidation
Foxa2	Forkhead transcription factor boxA2
GCASPC	Gallbladder cancer-associated suppressor of pyruvate carboxylase
GLS	Glutaminase
GLUD1	Glutamate dehydrogenase
GLUL	Glutamine synthetase
GLUT	Glucose transporter
GOT	Glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase

GSH	Glutathione
HK2	Hexokinase 2
HNF3β	Hepatocyte nuclear factor 3β
IDH1	Isocitrate dehydrogenase
ILK	Integrin linked kinase
IU	International units
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
lncRNA	Long non-coding RNA
MAPK	mitogen activating protein kinase
MARRS	$1,25(OH)_2D$ -membrane associated rapid response steroid binding receptor
MEG3	Maternally expressed gene 3
MEK	Mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase
MMP	matrix metalloproteinase
mTOR	Mammalian target of rapamycin
MTT	3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
NADH	Nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide
NADPH	Nicotinamide dinucleotide phosphate
Nrf2	Nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2
NSCLC	Non-small cell lung cancer
OCR	Oxygen consumption rate
P1	proximal PC promoter
P2	distal PC promoter
PARP	Poly(ADP-ribose) polymerase
PBS	Phosphate-buffered saline
PC	Pyruvate Carboxylase
PCK	Phosphoenolpyruvate carboxykinase
PDH	Pyruvate dehydrogenase
PDK1	Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 1
PDK4	Pyruvate dehydrogenase kinase 4
PEP	Phosphoenolpyruvate
PI3K	phosphoinositide-3 kinase

Poly-HEMA	Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate)
PPARγ	Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor $\boldsymbol{\gamma}$
PTH	Parathyroid hormone
RANKL	Receptor activator of nuclear factor-kB ligand
Rb	Retinoblastoma
RDA	Recommended dietary allowance
Redox	Reductive-oxidative
ROS	Reactive oxygen species
RXR	Retinoic X receptor
SDH	Succinate dehydrogenase
SLC1A5	Solute carrier family 1A member 5
SOD2	Superoxide dismutase 2
TCA	Tricarboxylic acid
TGFβ	Transforming growth factor β
TRPV	Transient receptor potential vanilloid
UL	Tolerable upper intake level
UV	Ultraviolet
VDR	Vitamin D receptor
VDRE	Vitamin D response element
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factors
VITAL	Vitamin and omega-3 trial
WHI	Women's health initiative

ABSTRACT

Breast cancer is the predominant cancer diagnosed among women, and the second most deadly cancer. The vast majority of cancer-related deaths is caused by the metastatic spread of cancer from the primary tumor to a distant site in the body. Therefore, new strategies which minimize breast cancer metastasis are imperative to improve patient survival. Cancer cells which acquire anchorage independence, or the ability to survive without extracellular matrix attachment, and metabolic flexibility have increased potential to metastasize. In the present studies, the ability to survive detachment and subsequent metabolic changes were determined in human Harvey-ras transformed MCF10A-ras breast cancer cells. Detachment resulted in reduced viability in a timedependent manner with the lowest cell viability observed at forty hours. In addition, decreased cell viability was observed in both glutamine and glucose depleted detached conditions, suggesting a dependence on both nutrients for detached survival. Compared to attached cells, detached cells had reduced total pool sizes of pyruvate, lactate, α -ketoglutarate, fumarate, malate, alanine, serine, and glutamate, suggesting the metabolic stress which occurs under detached conditions. However, intracellular citrate and aspartate pools were unchanged, demonstrating a preference to maintain these pools in detached conditions. Compared to attached cells, detached cells had suppressed glutamine metabolism, as determined by decreased glutamine flux into the TCA cycle and reduced mRNA abundance of glutamine metabolizing enzymes. Further, detached glucose anaplerosis through pyruvate dehydrogenase activity was decreased, while pyruvate carboxylase (PC) expression and activity were increased. A switch in metabolism was observed away from glutamine anaplerosis to a preferential utilization of PC activity to replenish the TCA cycle, determined by reduced PC mRNA abundance in detached cells treated with a cell-permeable analog of α -ketoglutarate, the downstream metabolite of glutamine which enters the TCA cycle. These results suggest that detached cells elevate PC to increase flux of carbons into the TCA cycle when glutamine metabolism is reduced.

Vitamin D is recognized for its role in preventing breast cancer progression, and recent studies suggest that regulation of energy metabolism may contribute to its anticancer effects. Vitamin D primarily acts on target tissue through its most active metabolite, 1α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D). The present work investigated 1,25(OH)₂D's effects on viability of detached cells through regulation of energy metabolism. Treatment of MCF10A-*ras*

cells with 1,25(OH)₂D resulted in decreased viability of detached cells. While 1,25(OH)₂D treatment did not affect many of the glucose metabolism outcomes measured, including intracellular pyruvate and lactate pool sizes, glucose flux to pyruvate and lactate, and mRNA abundance of enzymes involved in glucose metabolism, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced detached PC expression and glucose flux through PC. A reduction in glutamine metabolism was observed with 1,25(OH)₂D treatment, although no 1,25(OH)₂D target genes were identified. Further, PC depletion by shRNA decreased cell viability in detached conditions with no additional effect with 1,25(OH)₂D treatment. Moreover, PC overexpression resulted in increased detached cell viability and inhibited 1,25(OH)₂D's negative effects on viability. These results suggest that 1,25(OH)₂D reduces detached cell viability through regulation of PC. Collectively this work identifies a key metabolic adaptation where detached cells increase PC expression and activity to compensate for reduced glutamine metabolism and that 1,25(OH)₂D may be utilized to reverse this effect and decrease detached cell viability. These results contribute to an increased understanding of metastatic processes and the regulation of these processes by vitamin D, which may be effective in preventing metastasis and improve breast cancer patient survival.

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Vitamin D

1.1.1 Structure and Sources

Vitamin D is a unique nutrient that is obtained from dietary sources and synthesized in the skin upon ultraviolet (UV) exposure from the sun (1). Vitamin D is a fat-soluble vitamin, also referred to as calciferol, and is classified as a seco-sterol (2). The two major forms of vitamin D are vitamin D₃ (cholecalciferol) and vitamin D₂ (ergocalciferol). Dietary vitamin D₃ may be obtained from animal sources such as oily fish, liver, and egg yolk. Additionally, synthesis of pre-vitamin D₃ from 7-dehydrocholesterol occurs in the skin upon UV irradiation (3). Following which a thermosensitive, nonenzymatic rearrangement of three double bonds produces vitamin D₃ (4). Similar to vitamin D₃ synthesis, vitamin D₂ is synthesized from ergocalciferol via UV irradiation from the sun in plants, most commonly mushrooms (3). The two forms of vitamin D have a single structural difference located in the side chains where vitamin D₂ has a methyl group located at carbon 24 and a double bond between carbons 22 and 23 (Figure 1.1). Vitamin D₃ and D₂ are collectively called vitamin D, and maintain the same function in the body despite the structural difference (3).

Apart from sun exposure, dietary sources provide an alternative source of vitamin D. In the United States, the primary source of dietary intake of vitamin D is provided by supplementation and fortified food. This is due to the low availability of naturally occurring sources of vitamin D. Milk is the primary food product that is voluntarily fortified in the United States with 400 international units (IU)/quart (2). Other vitamin D fortified foods include cereals, yogurts, and juices.



Figure 1.1 Structural Differences Between Vitamin D₂ and Vitamin D₃.
The two major isoforms of vitamin D have one structural difference. At carbon 24 vitamin D₂ has a methyl group whereas vitamin D₃ has a double bond.

1.1.2 Vitamin D Metabolism and Mechanism of Action

Vitamin D synthesis from the sun is dependent on multiple factors, including time of day, latitude, and season which play a role in the ability to synthesize vitamin D in the skin. UVB radiation, which has a wavelength of 291-320 nm, is required for vitamin D synthesis. The amount of UVB photons reaching Earth decreases when the solar zenith angle increases (5). Thus, UVB intensity is greatest during midday when the sun is at its highest point. Additionally, the solar zenith angle increases in latitudes above or below 33° in the winter months leading to a decreased ability to synthesize vitamin D (5). Therefore, dermal synthesis of vitamin D will not occur unless there is sufficient UVB exposure which is suboptimal when the solar zenith angle is increased such as in the morning, evening, and winter months (6). In addition, melanin in the epidermal layer of skin can block the UVB that is required for vitamin D synthesis (2). The use of sunscreen with sun protection factor 8 or more blocks UVB rays from penetrating the skin decreasing the synthesis of vitamin D by 95% and could affect vitamin D status (7). Therefore, factors affecting UVB

exposure including solar zenith angle, skin pigmentation, and use of sunscreen block UVB exposure and decrease the rate of vitamin D synthesis.

Synthesis of the most active form of vitamin D requires further metabolism (Figure 1.2). First, vitamin D is transported by the vitamin D binding protein (DBP) in the blood and is metabolized in two sequential hydroxylation reactions (4). The first reaction takes place in the liver and is performed by vitamin D 25-hydroxylase, which is a member of the cytochrome P-450 enzymes (CYPs) and mediates the hydroxylation of carbon 25, forming 25-hydroxyvitamin D (25(OH)D) (4). The primary CYP involved in synthesizing 25(OH)D is CYP27A1 (8). The predominant form of vitamin D in serum is 25(OH)D. Due to its slow turnover and the low amount of regulation of the 25-hydroxylase, 25(OH)D levels are used as a biomarker to assess vitamin D status (4). In the serum, 25(OH)D is transported by DBP and subsequent hydroxylation of 25(OH)D occurs in the kidneys. DBP interacts with megalin and cubulin, cell surface proteins in renal cells at the proximal tubule, to mediate the uptake of 25(OH)D (9,10). Hydroxylation by $(1,25(OH)_2D)$ (4). The hormonally active metabolite of vitamin D is $1,25(OH)_2D$, which mediates the biologically observed effects of vitamin D on calcium homeostasis.

Regulation of gene expression in target tissues by 1,25(OH)₂D occurs through the binding of 1,25(OH)₂D to the vitamin D receptor (VDR) (11). When VDR is not bound to ligand, it is primarily located in the cytoplasm. The binding of 1,25(OH)₂D to VDR induces a conformational change which promotes VDR heterodimerizing with its partner receptor, the retinoic X receptor (RXR). The VDR-RXR heterodimer translocates to the nucleus, where it binds to vitamin D response elements (VDREs) located in the promotors of vitamin D regulated genes (12). VDREs contain imperfect direct repeats of the nucleotide sequence GGGTGA with 3 spacer nucleotides between each repeat (13). VDR-RXR binding to a VDRE requires interaction with coregulators in order to repress or recruit the RNA polymerase and begin or suppress transcription (13). The most characterized coregulator of VDR is the coactivator complex identified in primary keratinocytes as the vitamin D interacting protein (DRIP)/mediator complex (14). The DRIP/mediator complex is a multiprotein complex that directly interacts with VDR to recruit RNA polymerase II to the promoter, thereby initiating transcription.



Figure 1.2 Vitamin D Metabolism and Mechanism of Action.

Vitamin D is either obtained from the diet or synthesized in the skin. It is metabolized to its most active form, 1,25(OH)₂D, in two sequential hydroxylation reactions. Vitamin D's primary mechanism of action in target tissue is through regulation of gene expression through its receptor, VDR.

Inactivation of 1,25(OH)₂D occurs in the kidney through further hydroxylation steps (4). Hydroxylation at the 24th carbon of 1,25(OH)₂D by the 24-hydroxylase (CYP24A1), produces an inactive form of vitamin D, 1,24,25-trihydroxyvitamin D. The 24-hydroxylase also targets 25(OH)D, synthesizing 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D, and inactivation by 24- hydroxylation of both 1,25(OH)₂D and 25(OH)D targets them for excretion. Further, the action of the 24-hydroxylase to form 24,25-dihydroxyvitamin D reduces 25(OH)D availability for synthesis into the active 1,25(OH)₂D form (15). Interestingly, 1,25(OH)₂D action via VDR transcriptionally increases expression of the 24-hydroxylase and decreases expression of the 1 α -hydroxylase via VDREs, creating a negative feedback loop and regulating its activity (15).

Further evidence suggests a non-transcriptional mechanism of action by $1,25(OH)_2D$ through rapid signaling pathways (16). Studies demonstrate increased calcium and phosphorus uptake in intestinal cells within minutes following vitamin D supplementation in rats and this rapid response cannot be explained by the nuclear actions of $1,25(OH)_2D$ (17). An increase in

1,25(OH)₂D accumulation in the basal lateral membrane fraction of intestinal cells was also observed, suggesting the presence of a membrane receptor for 1,25(OH)₂D (18). Further investigation identified the interaction of 1,25(OH)₂D with the 1,25(OH)₂D-membrane-associated rapid response steroid-binding receptor (MARRS), which is a protein that is distinct from the VDR (19). Further evidence of 1,25(OH)₂D activity through MARRS signaling comes from a MARRS knockout mouse model (20). In these studies, after 5 minutes of 1,25(OH)₂D treatment, intestinal epithelial cells from wild-type mice increased calcium uptake, whereas 1,25(OH)₂D-calcium uptake in cells isolated from MARRS knock-out mice was reduced. Similarly, following 1,25(OH)₂D treatment, the protein kinase A pathway was activated in wild-type cells, but not the MARRS knock-out cells (20). In addition to the regulation of intestinal regulation of calcium uptake 1,25(OH)₂D-MARRS activity also functions to inhibit the growth of cancer (21,22). However, studies also demonstrate regulation of functions attributed to rapid signals in previous literature occurs in the absence of rapid signals (23). Thus, the role of rapid signaling and the MARRS in 1,25(OH)₂D action remains controversial.

1.1.3 Vitamin D's Role in Calcium Homeostasis and Bone Health

Vitamin D is most known for its role in bone health by moderating calcium homeostasis (4). Calcium sensing receptors in the parathyroid gland initiate an increase in parathyroid hormone (PTH) synthesis when serum calcium levels are low (30). PTH acts at the kidney to increase the synthesis of the 1 α -hydroxylase, thereby increasing circulating 1,25(OH)₂D levels (31). In addition to the direct downregulation of VDR and the 1 α -hydroxylase, 1,25(OH)₂D acts to decrease PTH synthesis. Reduced PTH synthesis further negatively regulates kidney 1 α -hydroxylase expression (30). The negative feedback of 1,25(OH)₂D demonstrates the tight control of serum calcium levels and overall calcium homeostasis.

The binding of $1,25(OH)_2D$ to the VDR regulates genes involved in calcium absorption and resorption in the intestine, kidney, and bone target tissues, thereby upregulating serum calcium levels (4). At the intestine, increasing $1,25(OH)_2D$ levels act to increase transcription and expression of transient receptor potential vanilloid (TRPV) 6, a calcium channel protein located in the apical membrane of enterocytes. Additionally, $1,25(OH)_2D$ through VDR transcriptionally upregulates the intestinal calcium-binding protein calbindin- D_{9k} (32). Following the entry of calcium into the cell, calcium binds to calbindin- D_{9k} and is shuttled across the cells and exported via the adenosine triphosphatase into circulation (4). Thus, 1,25(OH)₂D action at the intestine directly increases calcium absorption and calcium transport in the serum.

In the kidney increasing production of 1,25(OH)₂D leads to transcriptional upregulation of TRPV5 (4), a calcium channel protein located in the distal tubule which mediates calcium resorption. Upregulation of TRPV5 results in increased calcium resorption in the kidney. Similar to the intestine, 1,25(OH)₂D acts at the kidney to increase expression of calbindin-D_{28k} and increase calcium transport in circulation (33). Collectively, 1,25(OH)₂D acts at the kidney to maintain calcium homeostasis and increasing serum calcium by increasing calcium resorption and transport into the serum.

Serum calcium is regulated by $1,25(OH)_2D$ at the bone through activation of osteoclast bone resorption (34). Membrane-associated expression of the receptor activator of nuclear factor- κ B ligand (RANKL) is induced by both PTH and $1,25(OH)_2D$ in osteoblasts (35). Osteoblasts expressing RANKL bind to RANK expressing osteoclasts by direct RANK/RANKL interactions which subsequently induces bone resorption activity in osteoclasts. VDR knockout mouse models demonstrate $1,25(OH)_2D$'s regulation of osteoclast bone resorption in mice through induction of RANKL in osteoblasts (36). Interestingly, $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment-induced activity in osteoclasts from VDR knockout mice which were in contact with osteoblasts from wild-type mice, demonstrating $1,25(OH)_2D$ regulation of bone resorption requires VDR expression in osteoblasts, but not osteoclasts.

1.1.4 Extraskeletal Roles of Vitamin D

Vitamin D also regulates extraskeletal processes in the body. Specifically, VDR expression is identified in many cell types, including muscle, immune cells, brain, adipocytes, cancer cells, pancreas, skin, endocrine glands, reproductive tissues, and bronchial epithelial cells (27,37). The expression and activity of VDR present in these cell types suggest vitamin D's regulation of processes in these tissues, beyond its classically defined role in calcium homeostasis.

Vitamin D's regulation of muscle cells is indicated by the presence and activity of VDR in C2C12 myoblasts (38). The activity of VDR and the 1 α -hydroxylase was verified as 1,25(OH)₂D and 25(OH)D treatment resulted in growth inhibition in C2C12 cells. Inhibition of the 1 α -hydroxylase abolished 25(OH)D's effects and 1,25(OH)₂D treatment restored the growth inhibition. In addition, vitamin D deficiency and VDR knockout impaired muscle differentiation

in mice (39) and, treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D improved myopathy in patients with age-related bone loss (40). After a twelve-week resistance training placebo-controlled clinical trial vitamin D supplementation increased peak muscle power while no improvement was observed in the placebo group (41). Collectively, these results suggest that vitamin D acts at the muscle to regulate muscle differentiation and improve muscle function.

Immune cell regulation by vitamin D is widely characterized. Low serum 25(OH)D levels are associated with numerous immune-related diseases including psoriasis, type 1 diabetes, respiratory infection, rheumatoid arthritis, multiple sclerosis, and more recently COVID-19 (42). Additionally, treatment with nonhypercalcemic levels of $1,25(OH)_2D$ prevents the development of diabetes (43), arthritis (44), and multiple sclerosis (45) in murine models. Immune cells such as activated macrophages and T and B lymphocytes express the 1 α -hydroxylase and VDR (42). While the mechanisms by which $1,25(OH)_2D$ through VDR regulates immune cell function is ongoing, a decrease in inflammatory cytokine production was observed in T lymphocytes treated with $1,25(OH)_2D$ and poses one potential mechanism (46). In sum, vitamin D is shown to beneficially regulate the immune system.

Regulation of brain cells by vitamin D is demonstrated as well. Low vitamin D status is correlated to an increased risk of developing neuronal disorders such as autistic spectrum disorder, schizophrenia, Alzheimer's disease, and depression (47). Similar to other tissues regulated by vitamin D, the presence of the 1α-hydroxylase and VDR were identified in various locations of the brain and neuronal cells, suggesting 1,25(OH)₂D regulation of brain processes (47). Potential mechanisms of 1,25(OH)₂D regulation of the brain includes regulation of reactive oxygen species (ROS) by increasing production of the intracellular antioxidant glutathione (GSH) (48) and decreased calcium uptake through downregulation of voltage-sensitive L-type calcium channels (49). Future work is required to fully understand vitamin D's role in reducing the incidence of neuronal disorders and diseases to recommend its use in these instances.

Studies demonstrate that vitamin D also regulates adipose tissue physiology. A growing body of literature suggests that vitamin D acts to inhibit the differentiation of preadipocytes. For example, treatment of 3T3-L1 adipocytes with 1,25(OH)₂D inhibited adipogenesis (50). Further investigation demonstrated that 1,25(OH)₂D inhibition of 3T3-L1 preadipocyte differentiation was through downregulation of the transcription factors peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor γ (PPAR γ), and CCCAAT enhancer binding-proteins, which are involved in initiating preadipocyte differentiation. Interestingly, the 1α-hydroxylase was detected in the adipose tissue of Wistar rats fed variable nutrient diets including calcium, vitamin D, fat, and sucrose content, and expression was not dependent on any of these dietary conditions (51). In addition, treatment of 3T3-L1 adipocytes with ³H-25(OH)D resulted in the production of ³H-1,25(OH)₂D, suggesting 1α-hydroxylase activity (51). In addition to its regulation of preadipocytes, vitamin D also exerts regulation in mature adipocyte cell biology. Chang et al. demonstrated that 1,25(OH)₂D treatment of differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes resulted in reduced fat storage, by reducing mRNA abundance of enzymes involved in lipogenesis and increasing mRNA abundance of lipolytic enzymes (52). Additionally, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment of 3T3-L1 adipocytes resulted in reduced synthesis of fatty acids from glucose (53). Collectively these studies suggest that adipose tissue is regulated by 1,25(OH)₂D and that 1,25(OH)₂D inhibits preadipocyte differentiation and mature adipocyte lipid accumulation.

Garland and others created a foundation for vitamin D and cancer research by investigating the incidence rate of colon cancer mortality and the annual mean daily solar radiation across the United States in 1980. They identified that the areas within the United States with the lowest solar radiation exposure had elevated rates of colon cancer (54). These results gave rise to the hypothesis that vitamin D may play a role in preventing colon cancer given that higher solar radiation increases the dermal synthesis of vitamin D. Similar results were discovered for breast cancer incidence rates across the United States (55). These observations lead to further investigation into the role of vitamin D in preventing cancer. An inverse association between vitamin D levels and cancer risk is demonstrated in the colon (56), prostate (57), breast (58), and other cancers (59). Interestingly, evidence also indicates the presence of the 1α -hydroxylase in the colon, pancreas (60), and breast (61), suggesting a mechanistic role of $1,25(OH)_2D$ in regulating cancer through local $1,25(OH)_2D$ production.

1.1.5 Vitamin D and Breast Cancer

Characterization of vitamin D's effects in breast cancer began with observational studies. Given the connection between UVB exposure and reduced breast cancer incidence (55), and that UVB exposure is associated with increased vitamin D status (62), the hypothesis that vitamin D status reduces breast cancer was posed. A systemic review and meta-analysis of observational studies report that higher 25(OH)D levels are associated with improved breast cancer survival and decreased breast cancer progression (63), giving further support to the hypothesis that vitamin D plays a role in regulating breast cancer. The effects of vitamin D on breast cancer are characterized in a wide variety of studies, including clinical trials, animal models of breast cancer, and breast cancer cell models.

The results of clinical trials investigating vitamin D's effects on cancer incidence and progression are inconsistent. No effect of vitamin D on breast cancer incidence was demonstrated in the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) study, in which 400 IU vitamin D/day was given to participants with a follow-up of seven years (64). However, these results may be explained by the limitations of the study. First, the use of additional personal vitamin D supplementation by participants was not controlled in this study and may confound the effect of additional vitamin D supplementation. In addition, the low dose of vitamin D (400 IU/day) was chosen based on bone health recommendations from the Dietary Guidelines for Americans at the time. These recommendations were not established to prevent cancer and highlight the need to identify safe doses of vitamin D supplementation that are sufficient for cancer prevention. Further, the primary outcome of the study was benign proliferative breast disease which is noncancerous and does not encompass the steps of breast cancer progression which may be regulated by vitamin D. Indeed, analysis of vitamin D's effects on invasive breast cancer, a secondary outcome to the trial, demonstrated a preventative effect (65). These results support that vitamin D may regulate the progression of breast cancer to more advanced stages, based on reduction in invasive breast cancer observed with vitamin D supplementation.

Other clinical trials provided supportive results regarding vitamin D's prevention of breast cancer progression. For example, the protective role of vitamin D against breast cancer was studied in a clinical trial of post-menopausal women (66). This study occurred over a four-year period where participants were given 1100 IU/day vitamin D (1100 IU /day), a higher dose than that in the WHI study, where the primary endpoint was bone health. In a post-hoc analysis, excluding the first twelve months of follow-up, vitamin D reduced breast cancer incidence, a secondary outcome of the study, compared to placebo controls. Further analysis of the WHI randomized controlled trial to stratify results by levels of personal supplementation (67). Among women who did not take a personal supplement, vitamin D reduced the risk of breast cancer, giving strong support to the anticancer effects of vitamin D, but not in those who consumed vitamin D beyond the trial levels. These results demonstrate the importance of considering the status of the participants in assessing

the effects of nutrients on health, including cancer. Similar results to the WHI are also noted in the Vitamin and Omega-3 Trial (VITAL), where 2000 IU vitamin D/day was administered to participants (68). After follow-up for five years, there was no effect of vitamin D on breast cancer incidence compared to placebo. However, when the first two years of follow-up were excluded, the vitamin D group had significantly decreased mortality from breast cancer, suggesting vitamin D inhibition of cancer progression. Collectively, these studies demonstrate vitamin D's preventative role against breast cancer progression.

Vitamin D's preventative role in breast cancer is supported by *in vivo* studies (69). For example, rats fed a low vitamin D diet (0.05 IU/kcal) had more mammary tumor formation compared to rats on a sufficient vitamin D diet (0.5 IU/kcal) after treatment with the carcinogen, 7,12-dimethylbensanthracene (70). In addition, VDR deletion in mammary tumors resulted in increased tumor formation in *in vivo* models of breast cancer, suggesting a role of $1,25(OH)_2D$ action through VDR in reducing breast tumorigenesis (71,72). Further, ablation of the 1α -hydroxylase in mouse mammary tumor virus-polyoma middle tumor-antigen *in vivo* model of breast cancer reduced $1,25(OH)_2D$ levels in primary tumors and increased tumorigenesis (73). Collectively, these studies, among others, support that vitamin D through local tumor production of its metabolite $1,25(OH)_2D$ and VDR inhibits tumorigenesis.

Vitamin D's anticancer role is also demonstrated in mechanistic *in vitro* studies through the use of its most active form, 1,25(OH)₂D. Treatment of MCF7 breast cancer cells with 1,25(OH)₂D inhibited cell growth in culture through inhibition of proliferation and induction of apoptosis (74-76). Cell cycle arrest in the G1 phase was significantly increased in 1,25(OH)₂D treated cells relative to control, through increased accumulation of hypophosphorylated retinoblastoma (Rb) protein (74). Rb is a tumor suppressor, and when hypophosphorylated acts to inhibit the cell cycle and proliferation (77). Jensen et al. also observed G cell cycle arrest when MCF7 breast cancer cells were treated with 1,25(OH)₂D (75). Again, hypophosphorylated Rb was identified in addition to suppressed expression of E2 factor family of transcription factors which act to increase cyclin A protein expression, a regulator of multiple steps in the cell cycle (75). Increased apoptosis was also observed in MCF7 cells treated with 1,25(OH)₂D via downregulation of the antiapoptotic protein, Bcl-2 (74). Interestingly, studies suggest that 1,25(OH)₂D's effects to reduce proliferation and enhance apoptosis in breast cancer cells may be through inhibition of the pro-survival Ras/mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase (MEK)/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) signaling pathway (76). Treatment of MCF7 cells with 1,25(OH)₂D resulted in decreased expression of RAS, and downstream phosphorylation of MEK and ERK proteins (76). Furthermore, overexpression of ras was sufficient to overcome 1,25(OH)₂D's suppression of proliferation and initiation of apoptosis. In addition to vitamin D's regulation of the cell cycle and apoptosis, other cancer-promoting processes have also been recognized. Vitamin D is shown to negatively regulate angiogenesis (78), energy metabolism (79), and oxidative stress protection in cancer cells (80,81), all of which may contribute to vitamin D's inhibition of breast cancer tumorigenesis. In sum, vitamin D mediates its anticancer effects through its bioactive metabolite, 1,25(OH)₂D, through a variety of mechanisms in breast cancer cells.

As we discover mechanisms by which breast cancer progresses to metastatic disease, discoveries of vitamin D's negative regulation may likely be applied to develop targeted recommendations for vitamin D or therapeutics. Additionally, vitamin D's effects on late-stage cancer is an ongoing source of research given the protective effects of vitamin D against breast cancer mortality demonstrated in clinical and preclinical studies (65,68).

1.2 Breast Cancer Metastasis

1.2.1 The Metastatic Cascade

In the United States, breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer in women, with over 280,000 new cases estimated for 2021 (82). Additionally, breast cancer is the second deadliest cancer for women, with the majority of cancer-related deaths caused by metastatic disease (83). Given these statistics, understanding the metastatic process is of utmost importance to prevent and treat metastatic breast cancer. Metastasis of cancer cells from the primary breast tumor to a secondary site follows a multistep process where each step poses new challenges that cancer cells must overcome to proceed to the following metastatic steps (84). The steps include escape from the primary tumor, invasion of the surrounding tissue, intravasation into circulation, systemic dissemination, extravasation into the secondary site, dormancy, and colonization (Figure 1.3). Greater understanding of the cellular requirements of each metastatic step will give direction for antimetastatic treatments.



Figure 1.3 Metastatic Progression.

Metastasis from the primary tumor to a secondary site is a multi-step process. The steps include migration and invasion into the surrounding tissue, intravasation, systemic dissemination, extravasation, dormancy, and colonization to form a metastatic tumor.

In order to metastasize, cancer cells escape from the primary tumor by becoming mobile and detaching from the tumor and the extracellular matrix (ECM) at the primary tumor site (85). Normal epithelial cells will undergo anoikis, a programmed cell death, upon detachment from the ECM. However, cancer cells that achieve anchorage independence are resistant to anoikis, as they no longer require attachment to a matrix for continued survival.

Integrins, which mediate cell adhesion to ECM are a complex framework in epithelial cells which regulate cell processes, including survival and energy metabolism based on matrix connections (86). Because of their role in ECM attachment, integrins are involved in initiating the intracellular anoikis signaling cascade upon detachment. Anoikis prevents the survival and growth of epithelial cells in foreign environments in the body. Upon detachment from ECM, cells initiate anoikis through a reduction of integrin signaling through survival pathways and induction of cell death signaling (87). Specifically, integrins reduce signaling through focal adhesion kinase (FAK) and integrin-linked kinase (ILK) when cells become ECM detached. FAK and ILK maintain

signaling through mitogen activating protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) cell survival pathways (87), thus reduction in signaling through these pathways enhances cell death.

To acquire anoikis resistance, cancer cells alter their response to the loss of adhesion by dysregulating integrins and constitutively activating pro-survival signaling pathways (87). Oncogenic mutations obtained by cancer cells allow for permanent activation of growth and survival signaling pathways and overrides integrin-mediated anoikis signaling. Additionally, dysregulation of integrins is demonstrated to confer anoikis resistance. For example, in intestinal carcinoma cells, the downregulation of $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin mediates anoikis resistance in cells grown in suspension, by reducing pro-apoptosis signaling which is initiated when $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin disengages from the ECM (88). Additionally, overexpression of the *ras* oncogene, which is present in 25% of all cancers, in detached intestinal epithelial cells inhibited anoikis by activation of the pro-survival pathway PI3K (89,90). Thus, anchorage independence drives metastasis by resisting anoikis and increasing the survival of cancer cells when they become detached from the ECM.

Following detachment from the primary tumor, metastasizing cancer cells migrate and invade into the tissue surrounding the primary tumor site. Migration involves the alteration of adhesion protein expression involved in cell-matrix and cell-cell connections in tumor cells. For example, loss of the cell adhesion protein, E-cadherin, is associated with increased migratory capability in cancer cells (91). Migration and invasion take place in single cancer cells following transformation to a mesenchymal phenotype, or cancer cells utilize amoeboid cell invasion where mesenchymal and epithelial-like cancer cells collectively migrate (85). In either single or collective invasion of tumor cells, the mesenchymal phenotype drives mobility. This movement is achieved through at least five steps: pseudopod protrusion, contact at focal adhesions, proteolytic breakdown of the matrix by the secretion of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), actomyosin contraction, and detachment (85,92). Thus, transformation to a mesenchymal phenotype is required for cancer cells to become invasive.

The epithelial to mesenchymal transition (EMT) drives metastasis by facilitating transformation to the mesenchymal phenotype required for invasion. Mesenchymal characteristics are achieved by repression of epithelial genes and increased expression of mesenchymal genes by transcription factors such as Snail1/2, Twist1, and Zeb1/2 (85). In addition, cancer cells induce EMT as a response to transforming growth factor β (TGF β), which activates Wnt and Notch cell signaling pathways (93). Wnt and Notch signaling induces a mesenchymal stem-like phenotype

observed in invasive cancer cells. Additionally, a common biomarker for EMT is the decreased expression of epithelial cadherins, which mediate cell-cell adhesion (91). Further, cancer cells that have undergone EMT also resist anoikis, as similar factors which induce EMT also mediate anoikis resistance, such as β -catenin accumulation in the cytosol as a result of decreased expression of E-cadherin (87). For example, β -catenin overexpression mediates anoikis resistance and maintained ECM detached cell growth in MDCK cells (94). As cancer cells undergo EMT they lose adhesion to the matrix, acquire migratory and invasive capabilities, and are resistant to anoikis and each of these characteristics drives metastasis.

Following invasion, tumor cells may undergo systemic dissemination by transiting through the endothelial or lymphatic vessel barrier, termed intravasation, to enter circulation (84). The ability to enter circulation is often accompanied by vascularization of the primary tumor. Tumor cells secrete vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) which stimulate the vasculature to grow within the primary tumor environment to supply the area of growing cells with oxygen and nutrients (95). Interestingly, an invasive phenotype is sufficient for passage through the endothelial cell barrier. For example, *in vivo* breast cancer cells overexpressing TGF^β were able to enter the blood whereas wild-type cells were not (96). Additionally, circulating tumor cells must survive multiple stressors to arrive at a secondary site. For instance, damage from hemodynamic shear stress is acquired by circulating tumor cells (95). In addition, detachment from ECM while in circulation triggers anoikis, so anoikis resistance likely improves survival in circulation. However, it is unlikely that cancer cells remain in circulation longer than a few minutes, due to the large size of cancer cells (20-30 μ m) and the relatively narrow diameters of luminal capillaries (~8 μ m) in which cancer cells become trapped, potentially before anoikis can occur (95). Extravasation, or passage through the endothelial or lymphatic vessel barrier into a secondary site, occurs after the circulating tumor cells become lodged in the vasculature at the metastatic site. Extravasation is achieved by the utilization of characteristics acquired in previous steps such as anchorage independence, migration, and invasion. In vivo analysis of circulating breast cancer cells demonstrated that disruption of endothelial cell-cell junctions by expression of MMP1 and MMP2 is a requirement for metastatic extravasation into the lung (97). Therefore, cancer cells passage through, travel in, and exit from the vascular system to metastasize.

Finally, the cancer cells complete the process of metastasis by invading the tissue of the secondary site and forming a metastatic tumor (85). Prior to the formation of a metastatic tumor,

cancer cell dormancy is often observed (84). Dormancy occurs when cancer cells remain viable but fail to establish a secondary tumor after metastasis and is attributed to the challenges of establishing a tumor in a secondary environment. One challenge is the differences in ECM composition between primary and secondary tumor sites and overcoming these differences permits proliferation and formation of a secondary tumor. For example, Barkan et al. show that metastatic breast carcinoma cells utilize integrin β1 for cell signaling and transition from a quiescent to a proliferative state (98), demonstrating that metastatic cancer cells alter ECM signaling to adapt to the secondary tumor microenvironment. Another challenge in metastatic tumor formation is the tissue specificity of nutrient availability. Metastatic cancer cells must gain metabolic plasticity to utilize nutrients with different availabilities than were experienced in the primary site. For example, breast cancer metastasis to the liver required preferential utilization of pyruvate to lactate, whereas breast to bone and lung metastasis required pyruvate metabolism through the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle (99). These results suggest that metabolic plasticity acquired by differential expression of pyruvate metabolizing genes may support preferential site-specific metastasis. Collectively, cancer cells must adapt to a foreign environment to form a metastatic tumor. Anchorage Independence Precedes Metastasis

1.2.2 Altered Energy Metabolism in Anchorage Independent Cancer Cells

Energy crisis occurs when normal epithelial cells become detached from ECM as they respond by decreasing glycolysis, pentose phosphate pathway, and oxidative phosphorylation (86). Subsequently, there is decreased adenosine triphosphate (ATP) and nicotinamide dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH) produced as well as decreased fatty acid oxidation (FAO) with increased levels of ROS. This same effect persists in cancer cells, requiring that they reroute metabolism to overcome the ECM detached changes and gain anchorage independence. For example, a study by De Luca et al. confirmed that mitochondrial biosynthesis and function were required for ECM detached survival of MCF7 breast cancer cells (100). Thus, metabolic adaptation to ECM detachment promotes an anchorage independence phenotype and drives metastasis.

Rerouting glucose metabolism is one method that cancer cells overcome the suppression of metabolism in detachment. Upon detachment, nonmalignant human breast epithelial MCF10A cells decreased glucose uptake and glucose flux into glycolysis, the pentose phosphate pathway, and the TCA cycle (101). However, overexpression of the oncogene *ErbB2* rescued flux through

these pathways and consequently improved ATP levels (101,102). Researchers specifically identified that *ErbB2* overexpression-maintained activation of the ERK signaling pathway and ERK signaling suppressed pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) kinase 4 (PDK4). PDK4 action reduces the activity of the anaplerotic enzyme PDH. The ERK-dependent suppression of PDK4 allowed PDH activity to proceed and rescued the metabolism of the detached *ErbB2* overexpressing cells. ERK regulation of anchorage-independent metabolism was also identified in other cancer models (102-104), suggesting that detached cancer cells maintain ERK signaling to restore energy metabolism.

Interestingly, like ERK, other signaling pathways which are commonly activated in cancer may be utilized by ECM detached cancer cells to overcome glucose metabolism inhibition. For example, FAK overexpression is common in cancer and has been implicated with maintaining glycolysis in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cell lines (105). FAK overexpression induced glycolysis as measured by increased lactate production and increased expression of enolase, pyruvate kinase M2, and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) A glycolytic enzymes, as well as increased expression of the membrane transporter for pyruvate and lactate, monocarboxylate transporter. In addition, FAK promoted oxidative phosphorylation suggesting that overexpression of FAK could improve cancer cell survival when detached from ECM by increasing glucose metabolism and energy production. FAK associates with integrins and growth factor receptors to stimulate prosurvival signaling pathways in cells and FAK overexpression promotes anoikis resistance in cancer cell models (106,107). In addition to FAK, SRC is implicated in increasing glycolysis to improve survival in detached ovarian cancer cells (103). These results demonstrate cancer cell's ability through oncogenic transformation to utilize pro-survival signaling pathways to resist anoikis and rescue glucose metabolism in detached conditions.

In addition to glucose metabolism, matrix detached cancer cells also alter the metabolism of pyruvate and glutamine. For example, highly invasive ovarian cancer cells increased pyruvate and glutamine uptake and subsequently increased oxygen consumption and ATP production in detached conditions (108). Additionally, nonmalignant MCF10A cells decreased pyruvate and glutamine uptake, while *ErbB2* overexpressing cells rescued pyruvate and glutamine uptake in detached conditions (101). The rescued glutamine uptake in the detached *ErbB2* overexpressing cells was associated with increased glutamine flux into the TCA cycle relative to detached MCF10A cells. In HepG2 liver carcinoma cells, a preference for glutamine metabolism over

glucose metabolism in detached conditions was observed (109). Detached HepG2 cells increased expression of the glutamine transporter solute carrier family 1A member 5 (SLC1A5) in an adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) dependent manner, and this subsequently enhanced ATP levels (109). Silencing of AMPK by shRNA which targeted the AMPK transcript prevented the increase in SLC1A5 expression and ATP levels in detached cancer cells, and supplementation with a cell-permeable analog of the downstream glutamine metabolite, α -ketoglutarate (α KG), rescued ATP levels (109). These studies demonstrate that pyruvate or glutamine may be used by cancer cells as alternate energy sources to glucose in ECM detachment.

Multiple studies have confirmed a drastic increase in ROS production in detached cells (104,110,111). Increased ROS production often results in anoikis if not properly managed by cancer cells. To combat the accumulation of cytotoxic levels of ROS, cancer cells must maintain adequate reductive-oxidative (redox) balance through the synthesis of reducing equivalents such as NADPH. NADPH functions to regenerate the primary cellular antioxidant, GSH, from its oxidized form, GSSG (112). Metabolism of both glucose and glutamine lead to increased NADPH synthesis. Cancer cells can maintain redox balance by increased synthesis of GSH and NADPH or increasing expression of ROS neutralizing enzymes such as superoxide dismutase 2 (SOD2) or catalase.

Multiple cancer models identified increased expression of SOD2 and catalase in anoikis resistant cells to combat the drastic increase in ROS following detachment. For example, detachment of T47D and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells induced increased expression of catalase and SOD2 (110). Increasing expression of these enzymes was associated with increased energy production from cellular metabolism, as their overexpression in non-malignant MCF10A cells rescued ATP levels and survival in detachment. Further, silencing of catalase in MDA-MB-231 cells resulted in decreased anchorage-independent survival and reduced ATP production (110). These effects were reversed with the addition of the antioxidant Trolox, a water-soluble vitamin E analog, suggesting that antioxidant defense is required to maintain energy production and survival in detached conditions. Similarly, in the MCF10A non-transformed breast epithelial cells, SOD2 expression was required for detached cells to oxidize glucose and survive in detached conditions (113). Therefore, cancer cells increase SOD2 and catalase ROS neutralizing enzymes to mitigate oxidative stress in detached conditions.

The energy sensor and regulator AMPK coordinates increased energy metabolism with mitigation of subsequent elevated oxidative stress in detached cancer models. In HepG2 liver carcinoma cells, AMPK was activated following detachment and an increase in the antioxidant transcription factor nuclear factor erythroid 2-related factor 2 (Nrf2) was observed (109). The Nrf2 increase was AMPK dependent as depletion of AMPK prevented the detachment-induced increase in Nrf2 and increased ROS levels. Collectively, these results suggest that AMPK signaling increases energy metabolism of detached cancer cells through increased expression of the oxidative stress protection transcription factor Nrf2.

FAO indirectly produces NADPH by providing substrates for NADPH producing metabolic reactions (114). Hence, FAO may be used to increase the synthesis of NADPH in cells by providing substrate for enzymes that produce NADPH, however, FAO also produces oxidative stress as energy production in the mitochondria is a major source of ROS. FAO may contribute to both sides of redox balance in cancer cells which ultimately may determine the cancer cell's ability to survive ECM detachment. In a cell model of colorectal cancer increased expression of carnitine palmitoyltransferase A1 (CPT1a), an enzyme involved in FAO was observed (115). CPT1a driven FAO was observed to confer anoikis resistance, demonstrated when increased anoikis resulted from CPT1a knockdown. Increased ROS levels followed CPT1a knockdown, and antioxidant treatment rescued CPT1a knockdown cells from anoikis. In contrast, antioxidant treatment of *ErbB2* overexpressing breast cancer cells rescued ATP levels by permitting FAO, suggesting that in this cancer model FAO increased ROS (102). These results demonstrate the interconnection between FAO and redox balance in detached cancer cells as they require sufficient redox balance to permit FAO for energy metabolism.

Due to the drastic change in energy metabolism and increased ROS production following ECM detachment, a cancer cell's ability to mitigate these effects are imperative to proceed through the steps of metastasis. Collectively these results demonstrate that cancer cells overcome inhibition of energy metabolism by rescuing metabolism of glucose, glutamine, pyruvate, and lipids and increase oxidative stress protection to achieve anchorage independence. Identification and targeting of these metabolic adaptations may reverse anchorage independence and lead to improved cancer outcomes.

1.2.3 Vitamin D Regulation of Breast Cancer Metastasis

Although a higher vitamin D status, determined from serum 25(OH)D levels, is associated with reduced odds of developing breast cancer (116), vitamin D inhibition of metastasis is also suggested. For example, a meta-analysis investigating serum 25(OH)D levels and breast cancer fatality rates, identified that patients with higher circulating 25(OH)D levels had a 50% lower fatality rate than patients with lower 25(OH)D levels (117). Similarly, higher serum 1,25(OH)₂D levels were associated with earlier stages of breast cancer, while patients with breast to bone metastasis had lower 1,25(OH)₂D levels (118). In the recent VITAL trial, while vitamin D did not affect cancer incidence, supplementation with vitamin D resulted in a 25% reduction in cancer mortality with the exclusion of the first five years of follow-up (68). Because the majority of cancer deaths result from metastasis (83), these studies suggest that vitamin D reduces death from breast cancer through inhibition of metastasis.

Vitamin D's preventative role in metastasis is also shown in animal and cell models. Williams et al. maintained BALB/c mice on a vitamin D sufficient diet (500 IU vitamin D/kg) to investigate vitamin D and VDR's role in breast cancer metastatic progression (119). In this experiment, researchers seeded 168FARN murine breast cancer cells with and without VDR knockdown into the mammary fat pad of mice to set up primary mammary tumors. Animals with VDR knockdown tumors had larger primary tumors and established secondary tumors in the liver. Similar results were demonstrated in another *in vivo* breast cancer model where VDR knockdown promoted breast to bone metastasis (120), thus displaying that vitamin D prevents breast cancer metastatic progression through VDR. Further, BALB/c mice fed a vitamin D depleted diet had increased breast to bone metastasis when compared to mice on a vitamin D sufficient diet (2000 IU/kg) (121). Wilmanski et al. utilized an *in vitro* cell model representing breast to bone metastasis to analyze 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of metastasis (122). Metastatic MCF10CA1a breast cancer cells treated with 1,25(OH)₂D had reduced metastatic cell viability compared to vehicle-treated cells. Taken together these data suggest that vitamin D acts to prevent breast cancer metastasis, however, the mechanism is currently under investigation.

1.3 Vitamin D Regulation of Cancer Cell Metabolism

1.3.1 Introduction

Throughout the process of tumorigenesis and metastasis cancer cells are exposed to environments with varying nutrient statuses. For example, tumor growth often results in outgrowing the vasculature which then limits access to nutrients delivered from circulation to affected areas of the tumor. This exposes cancer cells to low oxygen and nutrient availability thereby changing their metabolism. Many cancer cells won't survive this metabolic stress, however, the cells that survive are observed to have a flexible metabolism or metabolic plasticity. Additionally, as cancer progresses, and cancer cells become more invasive and mobile they are exposed to new environments in the body which maintain different concentrations of nutrients utilized by cancer cells. For example, pyruvate levels are 3-fold higher in lung interstitial fluid compared to blood plasma levels (123). Thus, cancer cells that have phenotypes that facilitate metabolic plasticity are better equipped to survive in environments with a wider range of nutrient statuses.

Given the crucial role of metabolic plasticity in cancer progression, it is proposed that vitamin D may exert its regulation of cancer progression through the regulation of energy metabolism. Vitamin D treatment of cancer cells is observed to regulate the metabolism of glucose and glutamine, the two most consumed nutrients in cancers. Through regulation of these energy metabolizing pathways the cancer cells are then less likely to survive in nutrient-depleted environments and their progression through the stages of carcinogenesis is impaired.

1.3.2 Vitamin D Regulation of Glucose Metabolism

Altered glucose energy metabolism is a common characteristic in cancer cells (124). Otto Warburg was the first to observe that cancer cells have altered glucose metabolism (125), where cancer cells increased glucose uptake, glycolysis, and decreased glucose metabolism via oxidative phosphorylation even in the presence of oxygen (126), termed the "Warburg effect". Although not all cancer cells display the Warburg effect, most cancer cells have altered glucose metabolism to support growth, including energy metabolism and anabolic reactions (127). For example, increased flux of glucose through glycolysis increases the production of carbon-based intermediates which may be used for biosynthetic reactions to support growth, as well as

production of lactate which may be an important fuel source for cancer-associated fibroblasts or cancer cells in select contexts (128,129). Additionally, glucose provides substrates for the pentose phosphate pathway which results in increased synthesis of nucleic acids and reducing equivalents through NADPH production, both of which are required to sustain the rapid cell proliferation observed in cancer (84). Current therapies targeting glucose metabolism, while promising as anti-cancer agents, pose serious concerns for their off-target effects demonstrated in clinical trials (130). Given the prevalence of altered glucose metabolism in cancer and its critical contribution to cell proliferation, identification of agents that target this characteristic with minimal effects on benign tissue, such as vitamin D, may provide a promising strategy for preventing cancer and its progression.

One potential mechanism by which vitamin D may inhibit cancer progression is through inhibition or reversal of altered glucose metabolism, including reducing glucose uptake into cancer cells. Glucose enters cells via different isoforms of the glucose transporter (GLUT1-7), and increased expression of GLUT1 in breast cancer is associated with a worse prognosis (131). In agreement with this, GLUT1 expression is associated with increased invasiveness in various human breast cancer cell lines, while expression of GLUT2-5 is not associated with invasive capabilities (132). Treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D decreased GLUT1 mRNA and protein expression in cell models of prostate cancer (133). Additionally, 1,25(OH)₂D decreased GLUT1 mRNA and protein expression and glucose uptake in MCF7 and MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells (134,135). However, the impact of 1,25(OH)₂D on GLUT1 expression may be dependent on stage or type of cancer, as 1,25(OH)₂D treatment decreased glucose uptake without affecting GLUT1 mRNA levels in MCF10A-ras cells, a model of early-stage breast cancer (79). Further, 1-methyl-1nitrosourea-induced breast cancer in Sprague-Dawley rats, supplementation with vitamin D or the vitamin D analog seocalcitol reduced glucose uptake in tumor tissue, measured using flouro-2deoxy-glucose (136). Taken together, these results suggest that $1,25(OH)_2D$ suppresses glucose uptake in models of prostate and breast cancer.

In addition to glucose uptake, $1,25(OH)_2D$ also regulates glycolysis in *in vitro* cancer models, although the degree and direction of regulation varies between models. For example, $1,25(OH)_2D$ decreased protein levels of hexokinase 2 (HK2), the enzyme which mediates the first step of glycolysis, in MCF7 breast cancer cells, but increased HK2 protein expression in MDA-MB-231 cells (134). Treatment with $1,25(OH)_2D$ suppressed mRNA levels of *HK2* in both cell

lines (135). In addition, 1,25(OH)₂D decreased expression of LDHA, the enzyme that reduces pyruvate to lactate, in breast cancer and prostate cancer cells (133,135). In non-metastatic breast cancer cells, 1,25(OH)₂D did not affect mRNA expression of the glycolytic enzymes *HK2* and phosphoglycerate kinase 1, but decreased glycolysis, lactate production, and flux of universally labeled ¹³C₆-glucose into 3-phosphoglycerate, pyruvate, and lactate (79). Additionally, 1,25(OH)₂D suppressed glycolysis as measured by a biosensor chip system, which uses extracellular acidification as an indicator of glycolysis (133). Decreased acidification was detected over time with 1,25(OH)₂D treatment to a greater extent in less progressed cell lines versus highly metastatic cells, suggesting decreased glycolysis (133). In contrast, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment did not affect lactate production in MCF7 cells, while a high 1 μ M dose of 1,25(OH)₂D reduced lactate production in the MDA-MB-231 cells (135). Together, these results demonstrate that 1,25(OH)₂D targets glucose metabolism via inhibition of glycolysis; however, the extent of this regulation may depend on the cancer model.

In addition to glycolysis, $1,25(OH)_2D$ is also proposed to regulate the flux of glucose into the TCA cycle (Figure 1.4). Pyruvate, the end-product of glycolysis, enters the TCA cycle as acetyl-CoA through the activity of PDH and oxaloacetate via pyruvate carboxylase (PC) activity. Treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D decreased mRNA abundance and protein expression of the negative regulator of PDH, PDH kinase 1 (PDK1), in various stages of prostate cancer (133), suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D may promote flux of pyruvate into the TCA cycle. Similarly, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced PDH activity although, in contrast, had no effect on PDK1 mRNA expression in MCF10A-ras transfected breast cancer cells (79). Treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D reduced PC expression in MCF10A-ras transfected breast cancer cells, through direct regulation of a VDRE in the promoter of the PC gene (80,137). In agreement with these results, $1,25(OH)_2D$ reduced flux from ¹³C₆-glucose to acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate, and decreased the pool size of succinate, a TCA cycle intermediate, demonstrating that 1,25(OH)₂D reduces glucose incorporation into the TCA cycle (79). Following pyruvate entry into the TCA cycle, acetyl-CoA and oxaloacetate condense into citrate. Replenishing the citrate pool provides substrate for energy metabolism through the production of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NADH) and flavin adenine dinucleotide (FADH₂) in the TCA cycle, as well as fuels fatty acid synthesis, both of which are utilized by cancer cells. MCF7 breast cancer cells had reduced levels of citrate and downstream TCA cycle intermediates when treated with $1,25(OH)_2D$, while $1,25(OH)_2D$ -treated MDA-MB-

231 breast cancer cells had increased citrate levels (134). Further, $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment of prostate cancer cells decreased mRNA expression of the TCA cycle enzyme isocitrate dehydrogenase 1 (IDH1), which converts isocitrate to α KG, (133), a metabolite which is pivotal in supporting both oxidative and reductive metabolism in cancer (138). Collectively, these results suggest 1,25(OH)₂D treatment decreases glucose utilization in the TCA cycle in cancer cells.



Figure 1.4 Decreased glucose metabolism mediated by 1,25(OH)₂D.

An overall reduction in glycolysis and glucose entry into the TCA cycle is observed in cancer cells treated with the active metabolite of vitamin D, $1,25(OH)_2D$. Treatment of cancer cells *in vitro* with $1,25(OH)_2D$ results in reduced enzyme expression or activity (red font) and U- ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose flux to metabolites (red shaded boxes).

Oxidative phosphorylation is used by cells to produce ATP from the NADH and FADH₂ generated in the TCA cycle. In the context of cancer, oxidative phosphorylation is utilized in oxygenated environments including breast cancer and Hodgkin lymphoma (139-141). Evidence suggests that the effects of vitamin D on oxidative phosphorylation may also have differential

effects depending on stage and type of cancer. For example, 1,25(OH)₂D decreased oxygen consumption rate (OCR), a measurement of oxidative phosphorylation in both non-metastatic and metastatic prostate cancer cell lines, although the metastatic cells were more resistant to 1,25(OH)₂D-mediated decreases compared to non-metastatic cells (133). However, the opposite effect was observed in breast cancer cells, as 1,25(OH)₂D had no effect on OCR in non-metastatic cells, but decreased OCR of metastatic cells (134). Further investigation into understanding the conditions that influence the regulation of oxidative phosphorylation by 1,25(OH)₂D is necessary to develop strategies for use of vitamin D as a means of cancer prevention or treatment through targeting oxidative phosphorylation.

With increasing evidence of vitamin D's negative regulation of glucose metabolism, investigations have focused on elucidating the mechanism underlying this effect. Evidence shows that $1,25(OH)_2D$ increases the activation of AMPK in breast cancer cells (134,135). AMPK activity is regulated by the energy status of the cell and is increased in energy-deplete conditions. Phosphorylation targets of AMPK are proteins involved in increasing the bioenergetic status of the cell (142). For example, one AMPK target is the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway where AMPK activity results in inhibition of mTOR activity through direct and indirect mechanisms, thus suppressing anabolic reactions and conserving energy in the cell (143). Indeed, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment in breast cancer cells increased levels of the active form of AMPK, and thereby decreased levels of the active form of mTOR (135). In addition, in an in vitro colorectal cancer model, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced glycolysis and lactate production through induction of the long non-coding RNA (lncRNA) maternally expressed gene 3 (MEG3) (144). Further, MEG3 and 25(OH)D serum levels were positively correlated in cancer patients, suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D may increase expression of MEG3, which then may exert its effects to suppress glucose metabolism. Thus, regulation of glycolysis by 1,25(OH)₂D may be through regulation of key players in energy metabolism such as AMPK/mTOR signaling or by increasing expression of MEG3 lncRNA.

Collectively, evidence suggests that 1,25(OH)₂D regulates glycolysis, the TCA cycle, and oxidative phosphorylation, with differential responses that may be dependent on the cancer type and stage of progression. In some types of cancer, including breast and prostate cancer, regulation of glucose metabolism by 1,25(OH)₂D is most prominent in non-metastatic cancer cells with lesser effects in metastatic cells (133,134), suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D may play an important role in
regulating glucose metabolism in early-stage tumors. However, models of breast cancer show that 1,25(OH)₂D treatment suppresses oxidative phosphorylation to a greater extent in metastatic cells with less regulation in the TCA cycle (134). This is particularly interesting as the TCA cycle synthesizes the substrates used in oxidative phosphorylation. Further investigation into this differential response may lead to better application of vitamin D as a chemopreventive agent in the treatment of metastatic cancer. In addition, future research addressing the effect of 1,25(OH)₂D-mediated changes in glucose metabolism as it relates to cellular processes associated with metastatic progression is needed to provide mechanistic links between 1,25(OH)₂D treatment, alterations in glucose metabolism, and metastasis.

1.3.3 Vitamin D Regulation of Glutamine Metabolism

Increased dependence on glutamine metabolism is commonly observed in cancer cells and in certain circumstances is required for cancer cell survival (145,146). Tumor cells use glutamine for several purposes including energy production via entry of carbon into the TCA cycle (Figure 1.5), oxidative stress protection through the production of the antioxidant GSH, as well as the synthesis of non-essential amino acids such as alanine, serine, aspartate, and glycine (146). Given the importance of glutamine metabolism for cell proliferation, identifying strategies to inhibit glutamine metabolism to suppress tumor growth is a promising area of research. Interestingly, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment is demonstrated to regulate glutamine metabolism in *in vitro* models of breast cancer through several mechanisms (133,147,148).



Figure 1.5 Decreased glutamine metabolism mediated by 1,25(OH)₂D.

A decrease in glutamine metabolism and replenishment of the TCA cycle by glutamine is observed in 1,25(OH)₂D-treated cancer cells. Treatment of cancer cells *in vitro* with 1,25(OH)₂D reduces enzyme expression or activity (red font) and [U-13C]-glutamine flux to metabolites (red shaded boxes).

Evidence suggests that treatment with $1,25(OH)_2D$ suppresses glutamine uptake in cancer cells. For example, following $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment, expression of the major glutamine transporter SLC1A5 is decreased at the mRNA and protein level in MCF10A-*ras* breast cancer cells (148). A VDRE was identified in the promoter of the gene which encodes for SLC1A5 and verified using site-directed mutagenesis, suggesting that $1,25(OH)_2D$ downregulates SLC1A5 directly (148). In agreement with these results, glutamine uptake was decreased with $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment with no further decrease in uptake observed with the combination of $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment and the SLC1A5 inhibitor L- γ -glutamyl-p-nitroanilide. In contrast, SLC1A5 mRNA and protein expression were unaffected by $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment in non-transformed breast epithelial cells (147,148), suggesting that $1,25(OH)_2D$ -mediated regulation of glutamine uptake may occur

specifically in cancer cells. This is particularly interesting, as 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of SLC1A5 in cancer cells may have broader effects on cell metabolism apart from directly inhibiting glutamine uptake. For example, glutamine uptake is linked to the regulation of mTOR signaling, where inhibiting glutamine uptake prevents mTOR activation (149). Given this connection, 1,25(OH)₂D-mediated downregulation of SLC1A5 may also lead to reduced mTOR signaling, and therefore a further reduction of cell growth. These data support that 1,25(OH)₂D may specifically target cancer cells to reduce glutamine, with minimal effects on this process in non-transformed cells.

Evidence also supports that $1,25(OH)_2D$ regulates intracellular glutamine metabolism. After uptake into the cell, glutamine is metabolized by glutaminase (GLS) to glutamate, following which glutamate can be used for protein synthesis or metabolized into α KG and enter the TCA cycle. In *in vitro* models of breast and prostate cancer, GLS is suppressed by $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment (133,147,150). In accord with this, several studies show that $1,25(OH)_2D$ inhibits the conversion of glutamine to its downstream metabolites, including glutamate and methionine (148,151). As a result, glutamine oxidation is reduced following $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment in SV-40 and H-*ras* transfected breast cancer cells (147), suggesting decreased utilization of glutamine for energy production via oxidative phosphorylation in $1,25(OH)_2D$ -treated cells. These results indicate that $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment reduces glutamine metabolism into glutamate and subsequent utilization in the TCA cycle.

Synthesis of glutamine is also decreased by 1,25(OH)₂D in cancer cell models. Synthesis of glutamine from glutamate is mediated by glutamine synthetase (GLUL), and GLUL expression in cancer cells is associated with increased metabolic flexibility, as it supports glutamine independence (146). For example, breast cancer cells that synthesize glutamine through GLUL are less sensitive to glutamine deprivation (147). Interestingly, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment decreased GLUL mRNA and protein expression in these cell models, with a subsequent decrease in GLUL activity (147). In agreement with these results, 1,25(OH)₂D-mediated inhibition of GLUL causes increased dependence on extracellular glutamine (147). These results suggest that inhibition of glutamine synthesis by 1,25(OH)₂D may increase the cellular requirement for extracellular glutamine and result in inhibition of cancer progression.

Regulation of glutamine metabolism in cancer cells by 1,25(OH)₂D may be of particular interest as a chemopreventive compound and in therapeutic applications, due to the differential

effect of 1,25(OH)₂D across cancer models. For example,1,25(OH)₂D treatment had little effect on glutamine metabolism in non-transformed cells, with more prominent effects observed in transformed MCF10A-*ras* transfected breast cancer cells (148), suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D may alter glutamine metabolism with minimal cytotoxic effects on normal tissue. Treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D suppressed glutamine uptake as well as glutamine synthesis, suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D's role in targeting glutamine metabolism may be clinically relevant particularly in cancers that display glutamine independence, such as glioblastoma and non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) (145). This specificity emphasizes the potential for glutamine metabolism inhibitors such as 1,25(OH)₂D to increase cancer cell death in nutrient-restricted environments, thereby inhibiting cancer progression. Further research is needed to determine the impact of 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of glutamine metabolism on specific outcomes in cancer progression, such as migration or invasion, to determine the mechanisms underlying its anti-cancer effects.

1.4 Pyruvate Carboxylase

1.4.1 PC Activity in Normal Tissue

The TCA cycle is central to cell metabolism, and anaplerosis or replenishment of the TCA cycle is required for its continuation. Recent work has highlighted the role of the anaplerotic enzyme, PC, in cancer (152). PC is a biotin-dependent enzyme that synthesizes the TCA cycle intermediate, oxaloacetate, by a two-step pyruvate carboxylation (153) (Figure 1.6). First, PC adds a carboxyl group from bicarbonate to biotin which requires Mg-ATP. In the second step, the carboxyl group is then transferred to pyruvate to form oxaloacetate. In addition to the TCA cycle, PC activity is used in the first step of gluconeogenesis. Given PC's role in central metabolism, PC activity is relied upon for metabolic processes in several tissues including the liver, the kidney, the pancreas, and adipose tissue.

PC's roles in the liver and kidney are similar. In these tissues, PC activity participates in gluconeogenesis in times of fasting or starvation (153). In gluconeogenesis, which occurs predominantly in the liver and kidney, PC plays a primary role in supplying oxaloacetate for phosphoenolpyruvate (PEP) synthesis by PEP carboxykinase (PCK). PC and PCK activity mediate the first steps of gluconeogenesis. In the liver and kidney, the gluconeogenic pathway is critical in times of low glucose, such as fasting or starvation, to support non-gluconeogenic tissues, and

maintain serum glucose homeostasis. For example, PC expression was markedly increased in rat liver and kidney tissue following five-day bouts of starvation (154). Further, liver-specific knockout of PC was sufficient to impair gluconeogenesis in mice (155). Taken together these results demonstrate a critical role of PC in gluconeogenesis in the liver and kidney.



Figure 1.6 PC's Role in Central Metabolism.

PC plays a role in central metabolism, and PC activity contributes to gluconeogenesis, oxidative stress protection, fatty acid synthesis, and biosynthesis of nonessential amino acids.

PC is also involved in maintaining optimal serum glucose levels by its participation in pyruvate cycling in β cells in pancreatic islets. Insulin secretion from pancreatic β cells requires a higher ATP/adenosine diphosphate (ADP) ratio (156). PC activity supports the maintenance of ATP levels by supplying oxaloacetate to the TCA cycle which produces NADH and FADH₂ for oxidation and synthesis of ATP. Apart from anaplerosis, PC also participates in pyruvate cycling by supplying oxaloacetate for the synthesis of malate. After malate is shuttled from the mitochondria to the cytosol, malic enzyme mediates the conversion of malate to pyruvate which also synthesizes NADPH. Production of the reducing equivalent NADPH supports ATP

production, and insulin secretion in the pancreatic β cell (156). This concept was demonstrated in insulinoma cells, which were isolated from pancreatic islets (157). Insulinoma cells treated with phenylacetic acid to inhibit PC displayed impaired insulin secretion as a response to glucose. Similar results occurred in animals with pharmacological PC inhibition with phenylacetic acid (158). Therefore, PC's role in pyruvate cycling and maintaining the ATP levels required for insulin secretion in the pancreas is another mechanism by which PC activity supports glucose homeostasis.

In adipose tissue PC activity primarily contributes to lipogenesis, rather than supporting the maintenance of serum glucose levels (156). Oxaloacetate supplied from the PC reaction condenses with acetyl-CoA to form citrate. Citrate is shuttled out of the mitochondria and may be oxidized to cytosolic oxaloacetate and acetyl-CoA. Cytosolic acetyl-CoA is used as a building block for fatty acid synthesis. In support of this, PC inhibition resulted in decreased lipid accumulation in murine 3T3-L1 adipocytes (159). Further, flux analysis using a 1,2-¹³C-glucose tracer demonstrated that PC-inhibition with phenylacetic acid decreased lipid stores via reduced *de novo* fatty acid synthesis (159). In sum, PC activity supports fatty acid synthesis by providing substrate for production of citrate, a precursor for fatty acid synthesis.

1.4.2 Regulation of PC Activity in Normal Tissue

PC activity is regulated by short and long-term mechanisms in normal tissues. The most well-known short-term regulator of PC is acetyl-CoA's allosteric regulation which enhances PC activity (156). As acetyl-CoA levels increase so does PC activity, which synthesizes oxaloacetate for subsequent condensation with acetyl-CoA to form citrate. Additionally, glutamate, an amino acid that replenishes the TCA cycle through the intermediate α KG, negatively regulates PC activity (160). This regulation maintains TCA cycle flux and prevents the buildup of excess acetyl-CoA or glutamate.

Transcriptional regulation of PC is tissue-specific and allows for its various site-specific roles in energy metabolism. The tissue specificity is made possible by two alternative promoters, the distal (P2) and proximal (P1) (161). Collectively both promotors provide 3 transcript variants of PC, where the P2 promoter regulates transcription of variant 1 and 3, and the P1 promoter regulates variant 2 (161). In liver and adipose tissue PC transcription is regulated by the P1 promotor, and the P2 promotor controls transcription in pancreatic β cells. Thus, the various transcript variants provide differential expression in tissues.

Tissue-specific transcription factor binding sites are also identified to transcriptionally regulate PC expression. For example, in the P2 promotor, hepatocyte nuclear factor 3β (HNF3 β)/forkhead transcription factor boxA2 (Foxa2) binds to a Foxa2 site and increases transcription of PC in pancreatic β cells (162). While in adipocytes, PPAR γ transcription factor is shown to bind a response element in the P1 promoter and increase PC expression (163). In adipocytes, PPAR γ is a master regulator of lipid metabolism where it promotes transcription of enzymes involved in fatty acid synthesis and storage. Thus, PPAR γ regulation of PC falls in line with PC's role in adipocytes to promote fatty acid synthesis. Collectively, these studies support the tissue-specific regulation of PC expression.

1.4.3 PC Promotes Metastasis

Metabolic reprogramming is a hallmark of cancer and is a potential target for cancer prevention and therapy (164). In cancer, energy metabolism is utilized to maintain growth through the synthesis of building blocks for proliferating cells, but also to produce energy which is required to support carcinogenesis. While some cancers harbor genetic mutations, which suppress mitochondrial ATP production, maintenance of substantial mitochondrial ATP production is generally selected for in cancer (165). Increasing evidence suggests that anaplerosis of the pools of intermediate TCA cycle metabolites is essential for maintaining the cellular capacity for amino acid, nucleic acid, and lipid synthesis in proliferating cancer cells (166). Given its critical role in TCA cycle anaplerosis, PC may serve as a target to prevent cancer cell proliferation and cancer progression.

PC expression is upregulated in several types of cancer compared with normal tissue, including cancers of the mammary, lung, gallbladder, and papillary thyroid cancer (167-172). For example, PC protein is overexpressed in human mammary cancer compared with normal mammary tissue and increases in abundance with tumor stage, as demonstrated by immunohistochemical analysis (172). In addition, increased PC expression in breast cancer was observed as compared to normal mammary tissue. In contrast, an analysis by Shinde et al. of the METABRIC dataset failed to demonstrate significant differences in *PC* mRNA levels according to tumor stage (173). However, further analysis of outlier groups identified high levels of *PC* expression within tumor stage groups. Increased PC expression in breast cancer is associated with reduced patient survival time (173), suggesting a role of PC in metastatic progression of cancer

cells. While the mechanisms of PC upregulation in cancer remain to be definitively determined, PC lies within the 11q13.2 locus, a hotspot for gene amplification. Indeed, analysis of several patient datasets indicates that 16-30% of breast cancer patients harbor copy number gains in the PC gene in tumor tissue, and PC gene amplification corresponds with reduced survival (173). Collectively, these results suggest a role of PC in cancer progression and increased mortality.

Cancer metastasis is a multistep process (84), and several of the steps involved likely require metabolic plasticity for successful transit and adaptation to the destination organ. Indeed metastatic cancer cells display an increased requirement for ATP and redox defense, with prominent roles for glucose, fatty acid, and mitochondrial metabolism (174). Thus PC, given its role in regulating glucose-derived anaplerotic carbon supply to the mitochondria, sits at a nexus of numerous metabolic pathways critical to metastasis. For instance, Shinde et al. showed that PC is required for mammary-to-lung metastasis in an *in vivo* model (173). In this model, injection of 4T1 murine mammary cancer cells with genetic PC depletion into the mammary fat pads of BALB/c mice had no effect on primary tumor size, increased nonpulmonary metastasis, but dramatically decreased pulmonary metastases compared to PC-expressing 4T1 cells (173). These results indicate that PC is specifically required for tumor growth within the lungs. Consistent with these results, Christen et al. also observed an increase in PC expression and flux through PC in lung metastatic lesions of mice injected with 4T1 cells (123). Furthermore, PC expression is required for the growth of primary lung tumors (167). These results are supported by mechanistic in vitro results showing that PC regulates processes specific to tumor cell growth within the lungs including overcoming oxidative stress (167,171-173). These data collectively suggest an organotropic role of PC in metastatic progression. This notion is consistent with previous literature showing that metabolic reprogramming through modulation of specific enzymes is a requirement for cancer cell growth at specific sites. For example, the metabolic PDK1 and PCK1 are required for hepatic colonization in animal models of breast and colon cancer, respectively (175,176). A better understanding of the mechanisms of PC expression and PC function in particular organ environments will help to refine contexts in which therapeutic targeting of PC might be most beneficial for preventing the emergence of metastatic disease.

1.4.4 PC's Role in Cancer Cell Energy Metabolism

Glucose is a primary source of carbon for energy production and biosynthesis in cancer cells. Increased flux of glucose-derived pyruvate into the TCA cycle through the PC reaction, providing energy and carbon backbones from glucose, appears to be a hallmark of certain cancers. The flux of glucose through pathways, including the TCA cycle, can be assessed using $[^{13}C]$ labeled glucose and is useful in understanding alterations in cell metabolism with changing PC activity in cancers. For example, infusing NSCLC patients with universally labeled ¹³C₆-glucose before tumor resection showed increased M+3 and M+5 labeling of aspartate, citrate, and malate, indicative of increased PC activity in tumor tissue compared to normal tissue (167,170). Likewise, an animal model of Kras^{G12D}-driven NSCLC showed increased ¹³C₆-glucose flux through PC in tumor tissue compared to non-tumor tissue (169). Depletion of PC in this model led to impaired primary tumor formation pointing to a requirement for PC in Kras^{G12D}-driven NSCLC (169). Furthermore, in A549 lung adenocarcinoma cells and MDA-MB-231 mammary cancer cells, PC depletion did not affect glycolysis but decreased ¹³C₆-glucose flux to aspartate, citrate, malate, and succinate (167,177). Finally, in 4T1 mammary cancer cells, PC depletion resulted in decreased glycolytic activity and OCR (173). Taken together, these results demonstrate a critical anaplerotic role of PC in the utilization of glucose metabolites in a spectrum of cancer models.

The role of PC in replenishing the TCA cycle intermediates in cancer models that are deficient in glucose or display impaired TCA cycle enzyme activity has been investigated extensively. For example, reduced expression of IDH1 in glioma models is associated with increased PC and decreased PDH activity (178). In addition, PC plays a critical role in overcoming deficiencies in succinate dehydrogenase (SDH), an electron transport chain/TCA complex that is commonly mutated in cancer (179-181). SDH converts succinate to fumarate in the TCA cycle, and inhibition of its activity can lead to depletion of downstream TCA intermediates. SDH ablation increases diversion of glucose to aspartate biosynthesis through PC activity in models of renal cell carcinoma (181). Importantly, PC depletion reduces the viability of renal cell carcinoma cells with SDH ablation, and the addition of aspartate *in vitro* rescues cell growth in this model, suggesting that PC's role in aspartate biosynthesis is crucial for overcoming SDH deficiency. Similarly, inhibition of SDHA or SDHB is sufficient to increase PC activity in prostate and neuroendocrine cancer cell models, leading to the replenishment of cellular aspartate pools (179,180). Further, the use of the BRAF inhibitor, vemurafenib, in melanoma cells suppresses glycolysis but does not

affect the flux of glucose-derived pyruvate through PC and results in an increase in the PC/PDH activity ratio. The addition of the PC inhibitor phenylacetic acid to vemurafenib-treated cells decreases cell growth, suggesting that blocking PC may sensitize melanoma cells to vemurafenib treatment, however off-target effects of phenylacetic acid may play a role in the observed decrease in cell growth (182,183). Given these data, PC's role in replenishing the oxaloacetate pool for utilization in the TCA cycle or aspartate biosynthesis is crucial to consider when treating cells with therapies that target glucose metabolism. Cumulatively, these results support the importance of PC in replenishing the TCA cycle, which is critical in cancer cell progression.

There is also significant evidence that cancer cells "switch" to PC activity in glutamine deplete conditions for anaplerosis. Glutamine is the most abundant amino acid in circulation and is highly utilized by cancer cells throughout progression (145). Glutamine is employed by cancer cells to replenish the TCA cycle through the intermediate, α KG. Similar to its rescue of TCA cycle impairment, PC activity rescued glioblastoma cells grown without glutamine (184). Additionally, glioblastoma 1,6-¹³C-glucose flux results show an increase in PC activity for oxaloacetate flux into the TCA cycle when glutamine metabolism was impaired with GLS depletion. In H460 large cell lung cancer cells' PC activity increased as a result of depletion of the citrate transport protein, which is involved in the entry of glutamine sourced α KG into the TCA cycle (185). Taken together, cancer cell regulation of PC activity is utilized to confer metabolic flexibility to cancer cells exposed to changing nutrient statuses, particularly in low glutamine conditions.

1.4.5 Regulation of PC in Cancer Cells

Given the use of PC for adaption to changing nutrient environments throughout progression, understanding the mechanisms that regulate the expression and activity of PC in cancer cells is important to identify targets to prevent metastasis. Several mechanisms of PC regulation are identified in cancer models, including regulation by non-coding RNAs, signaling pathways, and small molecules, further demonstrating the centrality of PC in metastasis.

PC is regulated by non-coding RNAs, including lncRNA and micro-RNAs. Cell and patient-derived tumor tissue models of gallbladder cancer demonstrated the importance of the lncRNA gallbladder cancer-associated suppressor of pyruvate carboxylase (GCASPC) in the regulation of PC expression (168). Immunoprecipitation studies suggest that GCASPC lncRNA

physically interacts with PC protein in the mitochondria leading to its degradation, suggesting that the loss of GCASPC lncRNA that occurs in gallbladder cancer may lead to increased PC protein retention. Overexpression of GCASPC lncRNA decreased PC protein expression and activity, cell proliferation, and tumor growth *in vivo*, and proliferation was rescued when PC was overexpressed. These data highlight the role of PC in primary tumor formation and regulation by GCASPC lncRNA. In MDA-MB-231 mammary cancer cells, overexpression of the microRNA miR-143-3p resulted in decreased PC expression, cell proliferation, and migration (186). A luciferase reporter assay confirmed the direct binding of miR-143-3p to the 3' untranslated region of PC mRNA, resulting in decreased PC mRNA and protein expression. However, re-expression of PC in miR-143-3p-overexpressing MDA-MB-231 cells increased PC protein expression but did not overcome the inhibitory effects of miR-143-3p on proliferation and migration, suggesting inhibition of PC is only partially responsible for the antiproliferative effects of miR-143-3p on mammary cancer cells. Taken together, these studies demonstrate PC regulation in cancer by noncoding RNAs, which may be novel targets for inhibiting PC in conjunction with other cancer treatments.

Cancer-promoting signaling pathways also play a role in modifying PC expression. In OVCAR-3 ovarian cancer cells, the activity of tankyrase enzyme, a member of the poly(ADPribose) polymerase (PARP) family, maintains PC expression through Wnt/β-catenin/Snail signaling (187). Similar increases in PC protein expression through Wnt/β-catenin/Snail signaling were observed in MCF7 mammary cancer cells (188). Both studies demonstrated that Snail was required for PC expression, although the mechanism by which Snail stabilizes PC has not been elucidated (187,188). Stage and cell type might play a role in Snail's ability to regulate PC, as overexpression of Snail in MCF10A-ras cells, which represent an early model of mammary cancer, did not increase PC expression (173). c-Myc may be an additional signaling molecule that promotes PC expression, as a positive association between c-Myc and PC was found in transcriptome data from The Cancer Genome Atlas breast cancer dataset (189). Further investigation into the regulatory role of c-Myc in PC expression demonstrated that inhibition of c-Myc decreased PC expression in MDA-MB-231 cells through a direct mechanism, but had no effect on PC expression in MCF7 human mammary cancer cells (189). Further, inhibition of c-Myc in MDA-MB-231 cells decreased cell viability, migration, and invasion. PC overexpression partly rescued viability of c-Myc inhibited cells, but PC overexpression did not rescue cell migration or invasion, suggesting that PC plays an important role in cell viability but not migration

or invasion, at least in the MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cell model (189). Given that PC expression is associated with cancer progression, it is not surprising that these data indicate regulation of PC expression by signaling pathways that are commonly upregulated in cancer.

Finally, hormones, including the hormonal form of vitamin D and leptin, are regulators of PC. The bioactive metabolite of vitamin D, 1,25(OH)₂D, decreases PC expression in nonmetastatic human MCF10A-*ras* mammary cancer cells (80) and in metastatic human MCF10CA1a cells (137). In MCF10A-*ras* cells, 1,25(OH)₂D directly decreases PC expression through a VDRE in the promoter region of the PC gene (80). Further evidence of a VDRE in the distal promoter of the human PC gene was identified in MDA-MB-231 metastatic mammary cancer cells (187). Interestingly, treatment of MCF-7 cells with leptin, a hormone secreted by adipocytes, increases PC activity as well as the ratio of PC/PDH activity (190). Increased circulating leptin is associated with obesity and increased mortality from cancer observed in obese individuals (192). Given the prevalence of vitamin D deficiency (193) and the association of low vitamin D status with obesity (194), these studies illuminate a potential strategy to suppress metastasis through reducing PC activity with vitamin D in PC-dependent cancers.

1.5 References

- 1. Chang SW, Lee HC. Vitamin D and health The missing vitamin in humans. Pediatr Neonatol 2019;60:237-44
- 2. Dietary Reference Intakes for Calcium and Vitamin D. 2011.
- 3. Tripkovic L, Lambert H, Hart K, Smith CP, Bucca G, Penson S, *et al.* Comparison of vitamin D2 and vitamin D3 supplementation in raising serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;95:1357-64
- 4. Christakos S, Dhawan P, Verstuyf A, Verlinden L, Carmeliet G. Vitamin D: Metabolism, Molecular Mechanism of Action, and Pleiotropic Effects. Physiol Rev 2016;96:365-408
- 5. Wacker M, Holick MF. Sunlight and Vitamin D: A global perspective for health. Dermatoendocrinol 2013;5:51-108
- 6. Webb AR, Kline L, Holick MF. Influence of season and latitude on the cutaneous synthesis of vitamin D3: exposure to winter sunlight in Boston and Edmonton will not promote vitamin D3 synthesis in human skin. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1988;67:373-8

- 7. Reichrath J, Nürnberg B. Solar UV-radiation, vitamin D and skin cancer surveillance in organ transplant recipients (OTRs). Adv Exp Med Biol 2008;624:203-14
- 8. Monastra G, De Grazia S, De Luca L, Vittorio S, Unfer V. Vitamin D: a steroid hormone with progesterone-like activity. Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci 2018;22:2502-12
- 9. Nykjaer A, Dragun D, Walther D, Vorum H, Jacobsen C, Herz J, *et al.* An endocytic pathway essential for renal uptake and activation of the steroid 25-(OH) vitamin D3. Cell 1999;96:507-15
- 10. Nykjaer A, Fyfe JC, Kozyraki R, Leheste JR, Jacobsen C, Nielsen MS, *et al.* Cubilin dysfunction causes abnormal metabolism of the steroid hormone 25(OH) vitamin D(3). Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2001;98:13895-900
- 11. Bandera Merchan B, Morcillo S, Martin-Nuñez G, Tinahones FJ, Macías-González M. The role of vitamin D and VDR in carcinogenesis: Through epidemiology and basic sciences. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2017;167:203-18
- 12. Nagpal S, Na S, Rathnachalam R. Noncalcemic actions of vitamin D receptor ligands. Endocr Rev 2005;26:662-87
- MacDonald PN, Baudino TA, Tokumaru H, Dowd DR, Zhang C. Vitamin D receptor and nuclear receptor coactivators: crucial interactions in vitamin D-mediated transcription. Steroids 2001;66:171-6
- 14. Oda Y, Chalkley RJ, Burlingame AL, Bikle DD. The transcriptional coactivator DRIP/mediator complex is involved in vitamin D receptor function and regulates keratinocyte proliferation and differentiation. J Invest Dermatol 2010;130:2377-88
- 15. Christakos S, Ajibade DV, Dhawan P, Fechner AJ, Mady LJ. Vitamin D: metabolism. Endocrinol Metab Clin North Am 2010;39:243-53, table of contents
- 16. Sirajudeen S, Shah I, Al Menhali A. A Narrative Role of Vitamin D and Its Receptor: With Current Evidence on the Gastric Tissues. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20
- 17. Toffolon EP, Pechet MM, Isselbacher K. Demonstration of the rapid action of pure crystalline 1 alpha-hydroxy vitamin D3 and 1 alpha,25-dihydroxy vitamin D3 on intestinal calcium uptake. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1975;72:229-30
- Nemere I, Ray R, McManus W. Immunochemical studies on the putative plasmalemmal receptor for 1, 25(OH)(2)D(3). I. Chick intestine. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2000;278:E1104-14

- 19. Nemere I, Dormanen MC, Hammond MW, Okamura WH, Norman AW. Identification of a specific binding protein for 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 in basal-lateral membranes of chick intestinal epithelium and relationship to transcaltachia. J Biol Chem 1994;269:23750-6
- 20. Nemere I, Garbi N, Hämmerling GJ, Khanal RC. Intestinal cell calcium uptake and the targeted knockout of the 1,25D3-MARRS (membrane-associated, rapid response steroid-binding) receptor/PDIA3/Erp57. J Biol Chem 2010;285:31859-66
- 21. Richard CL, Farach-Carson MC, Rohe B, Nemere I, Meckling KA. Involvement of 1,25D3-MARRS (membrane associated, rapid response steroid-binding), a novel vitamin D receptor, in growth inhibition of breast cancer cells. Exp Cell Res 2010;316:695-703
- 22. Wilkin AM, Sullivan R, Trinh T, Edson M, Kozlowski B, Meckling KA. Differential effects of the 1,25D3-MARRS receptor (ERp57/PDIA3) on murine mammary gland development depend on the vitamin D3 dose. Steroids 2020;158:108621
- 23. Li J, Fleet JC, Teegarden D. Activation of rapid signaling pathways does not contribute to 1 alpha,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3-induced growth inhibition of mouse prostate epithelial progenitor cells. J Cell Biochem 2009;107:1031-6
- 24. Khammissa RAG, Fourie J, Motswaledi MH, Ballyram R, Lemmer J, Feller L. The Biological Activities of Vitamin D and Its Receptor in Relation to Calcium and Bone Homeostasis, Cancer, Immune and Cardiovascular Systems, Skin Biology, and Oral Health. Biomed Res Int 2018;2018:9276380
- 25. Ross AC, Manson JE, Abrams SA, Aloia JF, Brannon PM, Clinton SK, *et al.* The 2011 report on dietary reference intakes for calcium and vitamin D from the Institute of Medicine: what clinicians need to know. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2011;96:53-8
- 26. Kimball SM, Mirhosseini N, Holick MF. Evaluation of vitamin D3 intakes up to 15,000 international units/day and serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D concentrations up to 300 nmol/L on calcium metabolism in a community setting. Dermatoendocrinol 2017;9:e1300213
- 27. Migliaccio S, Di Nisio A, Mele C, Scappaticcio L, Savastano S, Colao A, *et al.* Obesity and hypovitaminosis D: causality or casualty? Int J Obes Suppl 2019;9:20-31
- 28. Wortsman J, Matsuoka LY, Chen TC, Lu Z, Holick MF. Decreased bioavailability of vitamin D in obesity. Am J Clin Nutr 2000;72:690-3
- 29. Gangloff A, Bergeron J, Pelletier-Beaumont E, Nazare JA, Smith J, Borel AL, *et al.* Effect of adipose tissue volume loss on circulating 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels: results from a 1-year lifestyle intervention in viscerally obese men. Int J Obes (Lond) 2015;39:1638-43

- Goltzman D, Miao D, Panda DK, Hendy GN. Effects of calcium and of the Vitamin D system on skeletal and calcium homeostasis: lessons from genetic models. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2004;89-90:485-9
- 31. Feldman D. Vitamin D, parathyroid hormone, and calcium: a complex regulatory network. Am J Med 1999;107:637-9
- 32. Christakos S, Li S, De La Cruz J, Shroyer NF, Criss ZK, Verzi MP, *et al.* Vitamin D and the intestine: Review and update. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2020;196:105501
- 33. Christakos S, Veldurthy V, Patel N, Wei R. Intestinal Regulation of Calcium: Vitamin D and Bone Physiology. Adv Exp Med Biol 2017;1033:3-12
- 34. Bikle DD. Vitamin D and bone. Curr Osteoporos Rep 2012;10:151-9
- 35. Yasuda H, Shima N, Nakagawa N, Yamaguchi K, Kinosaki M, Mochizuki S, *et al.* Osteoclast differentiation factor is a ligand for osteoprotegerin/osteoclastogenesisinhibitory factor and is identical to TRANCE/RANKL. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95:3597-602
- 36. Takeda S, Yoshizawa T, Nagai Y, Yamato H, Fukumoto S, Sekine K, *et al.* Stimulation of osteoclast formation by 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D requires its binding to vitamin D receptor (VDR) in osteoblastic cells: studies using VDR knockout mice. Endocrinology 1999;140:1005-8
- 37. Wang Y, Zhu J, DeLuca HF. Where is the vitamin D receptor? Arch Biochem Biophys 2012;523:123-33
- Srikuea R, Zhang X, Park-Sarge OK, Esser KA. VDR and CYP27B1 are expressed in C2C12 cells and regenerating skeletal muscle: potential role in suppression of myoblast proliferation. Am J Physiol Cell Physiol 2012;303:C396-405
- 39. Endo I, Inoue D, Mitsui T, Umaki Y, Akaike M, Yoshizawa T, *et al.* Deletion of vitamin D receptor gene in mice results in abnormal skeletal muscle development with deregulated expression of myoregulatory transcription factors. Endocrinology 2003;144:5138-44
- 40. Sørensen OH, Lund B, Saltin B, Andersen RB, Hjorth L, Melsen F, *et al.* Myopathy in bone loss of ageing: improvement by treatment with 1 alpha-hydroxycholecalciferol and calcium. Clin Sci (Lond) 1979;56:157-61
- 41. Carrillo AE, Flynn MG, Pinkston C, Markofski MM, Jiang Y, Donkin SS, *et al.* Impact of vitamin D supplementation during a resistance training intervention on body composition, muscle function, and glucose tolerance in overweight and obese adults. Clin Nutr 2013;32:375-81

- 42. Charoenngam N, Holick MF. Immunologic Effects of Vitamin D on Human Health and Disease. Nutrients 2020;12
- 43. Gregori S, Giarratana N, Smiroldo S, Uskokovic M, Adorini L. A 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D(3) analog enhances regulatory T-cells and arrests autoimmune diabetes in NOD mice. Diabetes 2002;51:1367-74
- 44. Cantorna MT, Hayes CE, DeLuca HF. 1,25-Dihydroxycholecalciferol inhibits the progression of arthritis in murine models of human arthritis. J Nutr 1998;128:68-72
- 45. Cantorna MT, Hayes CE, DeLuca HF. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D3 reversibly blocks the progression of relapsing encephalomyelitis, a model of multiple sclerosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1996;93:7861-4
- 46. Cantorna MT, Snyder L, Lin YD, Yang L. Vitamin D and 1,25(OH)2D regulation of T cells. Nutrients 2015;7:3011-21
- 47. Eyles DW, Burne TH, McGrath JJ. Vitamin D, effects on brain development, adult brain function and the links between low levels of vitamin D and neuropsychiatric disease. Front Neuroendocrinol 2013;34:47-64
- 48. Chen KB, Lin AM, Chiu TH. Systemic vitamin D3 attenuated oxidative injuries in the locus coeruleus of rat brain. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2003;993:313-24; discussion 45-9
- 49. Gezen-Ak D, Dursun E, Yilmazer S. The effects of vitamin D receptor silencing on the expression of LVSCC-A1C and LVSCC-A1D and the release of NGF in cortical neurons. PLoS One 2011;6:e17553
- 50. Kong J, Li YC. Molecular mechanism of 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 inhibition of adipogenesis in 3T3-L1 cells. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2006;290:E916-24
- 51. Li J, Byrne ME, Chang E, Jiang Y, Donkin SS, Buhman KK, *et al.* 1alpha,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D hydroxylase in adipocytes. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2008;112:122-6
- 52. Chang E, Kim Y. Vitamin D decreases adipocyte lipid storage and increases NAD-SIRT1 pathway in 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Nutrition 2016;32:702-8
- 53. Larrick BM, Kim KH, Donkin SS, Teegarden D. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D regulates lipid metabolism and glucose utilization in differentiated 3T3-L1 adipocytes. Nutr Res 2018;58:72-83
- 54. Garland CF, Garland FC. Do sunlight and vitamin D reduce the likelihood of colon cancer? Int J Epidemiol 1980;9:227-31

- 55. Garland FC, Garland CF, Gorham ED, Young JF. Geographic variation in breast cancer mortality in the United States: a hypothesis involving exposure to solar radiation. Prev Med 1990;19:614-22
- 56. Garland CF, Comstock GW, Garland FC, Helsing KJ, Shaw EK, Gorham ED. Serum 25hydroxyvitamin D and colon cancer: eight-year prospective study. Lancet 1989;2:1176-8
- 57. Ahonen MH, Tenkanen L, Teppo L, Hakama M, Tuohimaa P. Prostate cancer risk and prediagnostic serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D levels (Finland). Cancer Causes Control 2000;11:847-52
- 58. Engel P, Fagherazzi G, Boutten A, Dupré T, Mesrine S, Boutron-Ruault MC, *et al.* Serum 25(OH) vitamin D and risk of breast cancer: a nested case-control study from the French E3N cohort. Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev 2010;19:2341-50
- 59. Giovannucci E, Liu Y, Rimm EB, Hollis BW, Fuchs CS, Stampfer MJ, *et al.* Prospective study of predictors of vitamin D status and cancer incidence and mortality in men. J Natl Cancer Inst 2006;98:451-9
- 60. Zehnder D, Bland R, Williams MC, McNinch RW, Howie AJ, Stewart PM, *et al.* Extrarenal expression of 25-hydroxyvitamin d(3)-1 alpha-hydroxylase. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 2001;86:888-94
- 61. Friedrich M, Diesing D, Cordes T, Fischer D, Becker S, Chen TC, *et al.* Analysis of 25hydroxyvitamin D3-1alpha-hydroxylase in normal and malignant breast tissue. Anticancer Res 2006;26:2615-20
- 62. Grant WB. A Review of the Evidence Supporting the Vitamin D-Cancer Prevention Hypothesis in 2017. Anticancer Res 2018;38:1121-36
- 63. Vaughan-Shaw PG, O'Sullivan F, Farrington SM, Theodoratou E, Campbell H, Dunlop MG, *et al.* The impact of vitamin D pathway genetic variation and circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D on cancer outcome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2017;116:1092-110
- 64. Rohan TE, Negassa A, Chlebowski RT, Ceria-Ulep CD, Cochrane BB, Lane DS, *et al.* A randomized contro80. Wilmanski T, Zhou X, Zheng W, Shinde A, Donkin SS, Wendt M, et al. Inhibition of pyruvate carboxylase by 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D promotes oxidative stress in early breast cancer progression. Cancer Lett 2017;411:171-81
- 65. Prentice RL, Pettinger MB, Jackson RD, Wactawski-Wende J, Lacroix AZ, Anderson GL, *et al.* Health risks and benefits from calcium and vitamin D supplementation: Women's Health Initiative clinical trial and cohort study. Osteoporos Int 2013;24:567-80

- 66. Lappe JM, Travers-Gustafson D, Davies KM, Recker RR, Heaney RP. Vitamin D and calcium supplementation reduces cancer risk: results of a randomized trial. Am J Clin Nutr 2007;85:1586-91
- 67. Bolland MJ, Grey A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. Calcium and vitamin D supplements and health outcomes: a reanalysis of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) limited-access data set. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:1144-9
- 68. Manson JE, Cook NR, Lee IM, Christen W, Bassuk SS, Mora S, *et al.* Vitamin D Supplements and Prevention of Cancer and Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med 2019;380:33-44
- 69. Welsh J. Vitamin D and breast cancer: Past and present. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2018;177:15-20
- 70. Jacobson EA, James KA, Newmark HL, Carroll KK. Effects of dietary fat, calcium, and vitamin D on growth and mammary tumorigenesis induced by 7,12dimethylbenz(a)anthracene in female Sprague-Dawley rats. Cancer Res 1989;49:6300-3
- Johnson AL, Zinser GM, Waltz SE. Vitamin D3-dependent VDR signaling delays ronmediated breast tumorigenesis through suppression of β-catenin activity. Oncotarget 2015;6:16304-20
- 72. Zinser GM, Welsh J. Vitamin D receptor status alters mammary gland morphology and tumorigenesis in MMTV-neu mice. Carcinogenesis 2004;25:2361-72
- 73. Li J, Luco AL, Ochietti B, Fadhil I, Camirand A, Reinhardt TA, *et al.* Tumoral Vitamin D Synthesis by CYP27B1 1-α-Hydroxylase Delays Mammary Tumor Progression in the PyMT-MMTV Mouse Model and Its Action Involves NF-κB Modulation. Endocrinology 2016;157:2204-16
- 74. Simboli-Campbell M, Narvaez CJ, van Weelden K, Tenniswood M, Welsh J. Comparative effects of 1,25(OH)2D3 and EB1089 on cell cycle kinetics and apoptosis in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1997;42:31-41
- 75. Jensen SS, Madsen MW, Lukas J, Binderup L, Bartek J. Inhibitory effects of 1alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D(3) on the G(1)-S phase-controlling machinery. Mol Endocrinol 2001;15:1370-80
- 76. Zheng W, Cao L, Ouyang L, Zhang Q, Duan B, Zhou W, *et al.* Anticancer activity of 1,25-(OH). Onco Targets Ther 2019;12:721-32
- 77. Du W, Searle JS. The rb pathway and cancer therapeutics. Curr Drug Targets 2009;10:581-9

- Mantell DJ, Owens PE, Bundred NJ, Mawer EB, Canfield AE. 1 alpha,25dihydroxyvitamin D(3) inhibits angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Circ Res 2000;87:214-20
- 79. Zheng W, Tayyari F, Gowda GA, Raftery D, McLamore ES, Shi J, *et al.* 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D regulation of glucose metabolism in Harvey-ras transformed MCF10A human breast epithelial cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2013;138:81-9
- Wilmanski T, Zhou X, Zheng W, Shinde A, Donkin SS, Wendt M, *et al.* Inhibition of pyruvate carboxylase by 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D promotes oxidative stress in early breast cancer progression. Cancer Lett 2017;411:171-81
- 81. Koren R, Hadari-Naor I, Zuck E, Rotem C, Liberman UA, Ravid A. Vitamin D is a prooxidant in breast cancer cells. Cancer Res 2001;61:1439-44
- 82. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin 2021;71:7-33
- 83. Dillekås H, Rogers MS, Straume O. Are 90% of deaths from cancer caused by metastases? Cancer Med 2019;8:5574-6
- 84. Scheel C, Weinberg RA. Cancer stem cells and epithelial-mesenchymal transition: concepts and molecular links. Semin Cancer Biol 2012;22:396-403
- 85. Melzer C, von der Ohe J, Hass R. Breast Carcinoma: From Initial Tumor Cell Detachment to Settlement at Secondary Sites. Biomed Res Int 2017;2017:8534371
- 86. Sousa B, Pereira J, Paredes J. The Crosstalk Between Cell Adhesion and Cancer Metabolism. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20
- 87. Paoli P, Giannoni E, Chiarugi P. Anoikis molecular pathways and its role in cancer progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1833:3481-98
- 88. Morozevich GE, Kozlova NI, Chubukina AN, Berman AE. Role of integrin alphavbeta3 in substrate-dependent apoptosis of human intestinal carcinoma cells. Biochemistry (Mosc) 2003;68:416-23
- 89. McFall A, Ulkü A, Lambert QT, Kusa A, Rogers-Graham K, Der CJ. Oncogenic Ras blocks anoikis by activation of a novel effector pathway independent of phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Mol Cell Biol 2001;21:5488-99
- 90. Galiè M. RAS as Supporting Actor in Breast Cancer. Front Oncol 2019;9:1199
- 91. Yilmaz M, Christofori G. Mechanisms of motility in metastasizing cells. Mol Cancer Res 2010;8:629-42

- 92. Stamenkovic I. Matrix metalloproteinases in tumor invasion and metastasis. Semin Cancer Biol 2000;10:415-33
- 93. Xu J, Lamouille S, Derynck R. TGF-beta-induced epithelial to mesenchymal transition. Cell Res 2009;19:156-72
- 94. Orford K, Orford CC, Byers SW. Exogenous expression of beta-catenin regulates contact inhibition, anchorage-independent growth, anoikis, and radiation-induced cell cycle arrest. J Cell Biol 1999;146:855-68
- 95. Valastyan S, Weinberg RA. Tumor metastasis: molecular insights and evolving paradigms. Cell 2011;147:275-92
- 96. Giampieri S, Manning C, Hooper S, Jones L, Hill CS, Sahai E. Localized and reversible TGFbeta signalling switches breast cancer cells from cohesive to single cell motility. Nat Cell Biol 2009;11:1287-96
- 97. Gupta GP, Nguyen DX, Chiang AC, Bos PD, Kim JY, Nadal C, et al. Mediators of vascular remodelling co-opted for sequential steps in lung metastasis. Nature 2007;446:765-70
- 98. Barkan D, Kleinman H, Simmons JL, Asmussen H, Kamaraju AK, Hoenorhoff MJ, et al. Inhibition of metastatic outgrowth from single dormant tumor cells by targeting the cytoskeleton. Cancer Res 2008;68:6241-50
- 99. Döppler H, Storz P. Differences in Metabolic Programming Define the Site of Breast Cancer Cell Metastasis. Cell Metab 2015;22:536-7
- 100. De Luca A, Fiorillo M, Peiris-Pagès M, Ozsvari B, Smith DL, Sanchez-Alvarez R, et al. Mitochondrial biogenesis is required for the anchorage-independent survival and propagation of stem-like cancer cells. Oncotarget 2015;6:14777-95
- Grassian AR, Metallo CM, Coloff JL, Stephanopoulos G, Brugge JS. Erk regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase flux through PDK4 modulates cell proliferation. Genes Dev 2011;25:1716-33
- 102. Schafer ZT, Grassian AR, Song L, Jiang Z, Gerhart-Hines Z, Irie HY, et al. Antioxidant and oncogene rescue of metabolic defects caused by loss of matrix attachment. Nature 2009;461:109-13
- 103. Cai Q, Xu Y. The microenvironment reprograms circuits in tumor cells. Mol Cell Oncol 2015;2:e969634
- 104. Avivar-Valderas A, Salas E, Bobrovnikova-Marjon E, Diehl JA, Nagi C, Debnath J, et al. PERK integrates autophagy and oxidative stress responses to promote survival during extracellular matrix detachment. Mol Cell Biol 2011;31:3616-29

- 105. Zhang J, Gao Q, Zhou Y, Dier U, Hempel N, Hochwald SN. Focal adhesion kinasepromoted tumor glucose metabolism is associated with a shift of mitochondrial respiration to glycolysis. Oncogene 2016;35:1926-42
- 106. Ward KK, Tancioni I, Lawson C, Miller NL, Jean C, Chen XL, et al. Inhibition of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) activity prevents anchorage-independent ovarian carcinoma cell growth and tumor progression. Clin Exp Metastasis 2013;30:579-94
- 107. Xu LH, Yang X, Bradham CA, Brenner DA, Baldwin AS, Craven RJ, et al. The focal adhesion kinase suppresses transformation-associated, anchorage-independent apoptosis in human breast cancer cells. Involvement of death receptor-related signaling pathways. J Biol Chem 2000;275:30597-604
- 108. Caneba CA, Bellance N, Yang L, Pabst L, Nagrath D. Pyruvate uptake is increased in highly invasive ovarian cancer cells under anoikis conditions for anaplerosis, mitochondrial function, and migration. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2012;303:E1036-52
- Endo H, Owada S, Inagaki Y, Shida Y, Tatemichi M. Metabolic reprogramming sustains cancer cell survival following extracellular matrix detachment. Redox Biol 2020;36:101643
- 110. Davison CA, Durbin SM, Thau MR, Zellmer VR, Chapman SE, Diener J, et al. Antioxidant enzymes mediate survival of breast cancer cells deprived of extracellular matrix. Cancer Res 2013;73:3704-15
- 111. Jiang L, Shestov AA, Swain P, Yang C, Parker SJ, Wang QA, et al. Reductive carboxylation supports redox homeostasis during anchorage-independent growth. Nature 2016;532:255-8
- 112. Liou GY, Storz P. Reactive oxygen species in cancer. Free Radic Res 2010;44:479-96
- 113. Kamarajugadda S, Cai Q, Chen H, Nayak S, Zhu J, He M, et al. Manganese superoxide dismutase promotes anoikis resistance and tumor metastasis. Cell Death Dis 2013;4:e504
- 114. Carracedo A, Cantley LC, Pandolfi PP. Cancer metabolism: fatty acid oxidation in the limelight. Nat Rev Cancer 2013;13:227-32
- 115. Wang YN, Zeng ZL, Lu J, Wang Y, Liu ZX, He MM, et al. CPT1A-mediated fatty acid oxidation promotes colorectal cancer cell metastasis by inhibiting anoikis. Oncogene 2018;37:6025-40
- 116. Garland CF, Gorham ED, Mohr SB, Grant WB, Giovannucci EL, Lipkin M, et al. Vitamin D and prevention of breast cancer: pooled analysis. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2007;103:708-11

- 117. Mohr SB, Gorham ED, Kim J, Hofflich H, Garland CF. Meta-analysis of vitamin D sufficiency for improving survival of patients with breast cancer. Anticancer Res 2014;34:1163-6
- 118. Mawer EB, Walls J, Howell A, Davies M, Ratcliffe WA, Bundred NJ. Serum 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D may be related inversely to disease activity in breast cancer patients with bone metastases. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1997;82:118-22
- 119. Williams JD, Aggarwal A, Swami S, Krishnan AV, Ji L, Albertelli MA, et al. Tumor Autonomous Effects of Vitamin D Deficiency Promote Breast Cancer Metastasis. Endocrinology 2016;157:1341-7
- 120. Horas K, Zheng Y, Fong-Yee C, Macfarlane E, Manibo J, Chen Y, et al. Loss of the Vitamin D Receptor in Human Breast Cancer Cells Promotes Epithelial to Mesenchymal Cell Transition and Skeletal Colonization. J Bone Miner Res 2019;34:1721-32
- 121. Ooi LL, Zheng Y, Zhou H, Trivedi T, Conigrave AD, Seibel MJ, et al. Vitamin D deficiency promotes growth of MCF-7 human breast cancer in a rodent model of osteosclerotic bone metastasis. Bone 2010;47:795-803
- 122. Wilmanski T, Barnard A, Parikh MR, Kirshner J, Buhman K, Burgess J, et al. 1α,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Inhibits the Metastatic Capability of MCF10CA1a and MDA-MB-231 Cells in an In Vitro Model of Breast to Bone Metastasis. Nutr Cancer 2016;68:1202-9
- 123. Christen S, Lorendeau D, Schmieder R, Broekaert D, Metzger K, Veys K, et al. Breast Cancer-Derived Lung Metastases Show Increased Pyruvate Carboxylase-Dependent Anaplerosis. Cell Rep 2016;17:837-48
- 124. Ghanavat M, Shahrouzian M, Deris Zayeri Z, Banihashemi S, Kazemi SM, Saki N. Digging deeper through glucose metabolism and its regulators in cancer and metastasis. Life Sci 2021;264:118603
- 125. Warburg O, Wind F, Negelein E. THE METABOLISM OF TUMORS IN THE BODY. J Gen Physiol 1927;8:519-30
- 126. Liberti MV, Locasale JW. The Warburg Effect: How Does it Benefit Cancer Cells? Trends Biochem Sci 2016;41:211-8
- 127. Bose S, Le A. Glucose Metabolism in Cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 2018;1063:3-12
- 128. Sazeides C, Le A. Metabolic Relationship between Cancer-Associated Fibroblasts and Cancer Cells. Adv Exp Med Biol 2018;1063:149-65

- 129. Wilde L, Roche M, Domingo-Vidal M, Tanson K, Philp N, Curry J, et al. Metabolic coupling and the Reverse Warburg Effect in cancer: Implications for novel biomarker and anticancer agent development. Semin Oncol 2017;44:198-203
- 130. Abdel-Wahab AF, Mahmoud W, Al-Harizy RM. Targeting glucose metabolism to suppress cancer progression: prospective of anti-glycolytic cancer therapy. Pharmacol Res 2019;150:104511
- 131. Kang SS, Chun YK, Hur MH, Lee HK, Kim YJ, Hong SR, et al. Clinical significance of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) expression in human breast carcinoma. Jpn J Cancer Res 2002;93:1123-8
- 132. Grover-McKay M, Walsh SA, Seftor EA, Thomas PA, Hendrix MJ. Role for glucose transporter 1 protein in human breast cancer. Pathol Oncol Res 1998;4:115-20
- 133. Abu El Maaty MA, Alborzinia H, Khan SJ, Büttner M, Wölfl S. 1,25(OH)2D3 disrupts glucose metabolism in prostate cancer cells leading to a truncation of the TCA cycle and inhibition of TXNIP expression. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 2017;1864:1618-30
- 134. Abu El Maaty MA, Dabiri Y, Almouhanna F, Blagojevic B, Theobald J, Büttner M, et al. Activation of pro-survival metabolic networks by 1,25(OH)2D3 does not hamper the sensitivity of breast cancer cells to chemotherapeutics. Cancer Metab 2018;6:11
- 135. Santos JM, Khan ZS, Munir MT, Tarafdar K, Rahman SM, Hussain F. Vitamin D3 decreases glycolysis and invasiveness, and increases cellular stiffness in breast cancer cells. J Nutr Biochem 2018;53:111-20
- 136. Macejová D, Ondková S, Jakubíková L, Mlynarčíková A, Scsuková S, Liška J, et al. MNU-induced mammary gland carcinogenesis: chemopreventive and therapeutic effects of vitamin D and Seocalcitol on selected regulatory vitamin D receptor pathways. Toxicol Lett 2011;207:60-72
- 137. Wilmanski T, Buhman K, Donkin SS, Burgess JR, Teegarden D. 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits de novo fatty acid synthesis and lipid accumulation in metastatic breast cancer cells through down-regulation of pyruvate carboxylase. J Nutr Biochem 2017;40:194-200
- Abla H, Sollazzo M, Gasparre G, Iommarini L, Porcelli AM. The multifaceted contribution of α-ketoglutarate to tumor progression: An opportunity to exploit? Semin Cell Dev Biol 2020;98:26-33
- 139. Ashton TM, McKenna WG, Kunz-Schughart LA, Higgins GS. Oxidative Phosphorylation as an Emerging Target in Cancer Therapy. Clin Cancer Res 2018;24:2482-90

- 140. Whitaker-Menezes D, Martinez-Outschoorn UE, Flomenberg N, Birbe RC, Witkiewicz AK, Howell A, et al. Hyperactivation of oxidative mitochondrial metabolism in epithelial cancer cells in situ: visualizing the therapeutic effects of metformin in tumor tissue. Cell Cycle 2011;10:4047-64
- 141. Birkenmeier K, Dröse S, Wittig I, Winkelmann R, Käfer V, Döring C, et al. Hodgkin and Reed-Sternberg cells of classical Hodgkin lymphoma are highly dependent on oxidative phosphorylation. Int J Cancer 2016;138:2231-46
- 142. Cork GK, Thompson J, Slawson C. Real Talk: The Inter-play Between the mTOR, AMPK, and Hexosamine Biosynthetic Pathways in Cell Signaling. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) 2018;9:522
- 143. Luo Z, Zang M, Guo W. AMPK as a metabolic tumor suppressor: control of metabolism and cell growth. Future Oncol 2010;6:457-70
- 144. Zuo S, Wu L, Wang Y, Yuan X. Long Non-coding RNA. Front Oncol 2020;10:274
- 145. Cluntun AA, Lukey MJ, Cerione RA, Locasale JW. Glutamine Metabolism in Cancer: Understanding the Heterogeneity. Trends Cancer 2017;3:169-80
- 146. Hensley CT, Wasti AT, DeBerardinis RJ. Glutamine and cancer: cell biology, physiology, and clinical opportunities. J Clin Invest 2013;123:3678-84
- 147. Beaudin S, Welsh J. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Regulation of Glutamine Synthetase and Glutamine Metabolism in Human Mammary Epithelial Cells. Endocrinology 2017;158:4174-88
- 148. Zhou X, Zheng W, Nagana Gowda GA, Raftery D, Donkin SS, Bequette B, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits glutamine metabolism in Harvey-ras transformed MCF10A human breast epithelial cell. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2016;163:147-56
- 149. Yoshida GJ. The Harmonious Interplay of Amino Acid and Monocarboxylate Transporters Induces the Robustness of Cancer Cells. Metabolites 2021;11
- 150. Narvaez CJ, Grebenc D, Balinth S, Welsh JE. Vitamin D regulation of HAS2, hyaluronan synthesis and metabolism in triple negative breast cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2020;201:105688
- 151. Saracligil B, Ozturk B, Unlu A, Abusoglu S, Tekin G. The effect of vitamin D on MCF-7 breast cancer cell metabolism. Bratisl Lek Listy 2017;118:101-6
- 152. Lao-On U, Attwood PV, Jitrapakdee S. Roles of pyruvate carboxylase in human diseases: from diabetes to cancers and infection. J Mol Med (Berl) 2018;96:237-47

- 153. Valle M. "Pyruvate Carboxylase, Structure and Function". Subcell Biochem 2017;83:291-322
- 154. Salto R, Sola M, Oliver FJ, Vargas AM. Effects of starvation, diabetes and carbon tetrachloride intoxication on rat kidney cortex and liver pyruvate carboxylase levels. Arch Physiol Biochem 1996;104:845-50
- 155. Cappel DA, Deja S, Duarte JAG, Kucejova B, Iñigo M, Fletcher JA, et al. Pyruvate-Carboxylase-Mediated Anaplerosis Promotes Antioxidant Capacity by Sustaining TCA Cycle and Redox Metabolism in Liver. Cell Metab 2019;29:1291-305.e8
- Jitrapakdee S, St Maurice M, Rayment I, Cleland WW, Wallace JC, Attwood PV. Structure, mechanism and regulation of pyruvate carboxylase. Biochem J 2008;413:369-87
- 157. Fransson U, Rosengren AH, Schuit FC, Renström E, Mulder H. Anaplerosis via pyruvate carboxylase is required for the fuel-induced rise in the ATP:ADP ratio in rat pancreatic islets. Diabetologia 2006;49:1578-86
- 158. Liu YQ, Han J, Epstein PN, Long YS. Enhanced rat beta-cell proliferation in 60% pancreatectomized islets by increased glucose metabolic flux through pyruvate carboxylase pathway. Am J Physiol Endocrinol Metab 2005;288:E471-8
- 159. Si Y, Shi H, Lee K. Impact of perturbed pyruvate metabolism on adipocyte triglyceride accumulation. Metab Eng 2009;11:382-90
- 160. Qu H, Eloqayli H, Unsgård G, Sonnewald U. Glutamate decreases pyruvate carboxylase activity and spares glucose as energy substrate in cultured cerebellar astrocytes. J Neurosci Res 2001;66:1127-32
- 161. Thonpho A, Rojvirat P, Jitrapakdee S, MacDonald MJ. Characterization of the distal promoter of the human pyruvate carboxylase gene in pancreatic beta cells. PLoS One 2013;8:e55139
- 162. Boonsaen T, Rojvirat P, Surinya KH, Wallace JC, Jitrapakdee S. Transcriptional regulation of the distal promoter of the rat pyruvate carboxylase gene by hepatocyte nuclear factor 3beta/Foxa2 and upstream stimulatory factors in insulinoma cells. Biochem J 2007;405:359-67
- 163. Spiegelman BM. PPAR-gamma: adipogenic regulator and thiazolidinedione receptor. Diabetes 1998;47:507-14
- 164. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144:646-74

- 165. DeBerardinis RJ, Chandel NS. We need to talk about the Warburg effect. Nature Metabolism 2020;2:127-9
- 166. Deberardinis RJ, Sayed N, Ditsworth D, Thompson CB. Brick by brick: metabolism and tumor cell growth. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2008;18:54-61
- Sellers K, Fox MP, Bousamra M, Slone SP, Higashi RM, Miller DM, et al. Pyruvate carboxylase is critical for non-small-cell lung cancer proliferation. J Clin Invest 2015;125:687-98
- 168. Ma MZ, Zhang Y, Weng MZ, Wang SH, Hu Y, Hou ZY, et al. Long Noncoding RNA GCASPC, a Target of miR-17-3p, Negatively Regulates Pyruvate Carboxylase-Dependent Cell Proliferation in Gallbladder Cancer. Cancer Res 2016;76:5361-71
- 169. Davidson SM, Papagiannakopoulos T, Olenchock BA, Heyman JE, Keibler MA, Luengo A, et al. Environment Impacts the Metabolic Dependencies of Ras-Driven Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Cell Metab 2016;23:517-28
- 170. Fan TW, Lane AN, Higashi RM, Farag MA, Gao H, Bousamra M, et al. Altered regulation of metabolic pathways in human lung cancer discerned by (13)C stable isotope-resolved metabolomics (SIRM). Mol Cancer 2009;8:41
- 171. Strickaert A, Corbet C, Spinette SA, Craciun L, Dom G, Andry G, et al. Reprogramming of Energy Metabolism: Increased Expression and Roles of Pyruvate Carboxylase in Papillary Thyroid Cancer. Thyroid 2019;29:845-57
- 172. Phannasil P, Thuwajit C, Warnnissorn M, Wallace JC, MacDonald MJ, Jitrapakdee S. Pyruvate Carboxylase Is Up-Regulated in Breast Cancer and Essential to Support Growth and Invasion of MDA-MB-231 Cells. PLoS One 2015;10:e0129848
- 173. Shinde A, Wilmanski T, Chen H, Teegarden D, Wendt MK. Pyruvate carboxylase supports the pulmonary tropism of metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2018;20:76
- 174. Elia I, Doglioni G, Fendt S-M. Metabolic Hallmarks of Metastasis Formation. Trends in Cell Biology 2018;28:673-84
- 175. Dupuy F, Tabariès S, Andrzejewski S, Dong Z, Blagih J, Annis MG, et al. PDK1-Dependent Metabolic Reprogramming Dictates Metastatic Potential in Breast Cancer. Cell Metab 2015;22:577-89
- 176. Yamaguchi N, Weinberg EM, Nguyen A, Liberti MV, Goodarzi H, Janjigian YY, et al. PCK1 and DHODH drive colorectal cancer liver metastatic colonization and hypoxic growth by promoting nucleotide synthesis. Elife 2019;8

- 177. Phannasil P, Ansari IH, El Azzouny M, Longacre MJ, Rattanapornsompong K, Burant CF, et al. Mass spectrometry analysis shows the biosynthetic pathways supported by pyruvate carboxylase in highly invasive breast cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 2017;1863:537-51
- 178. Izquierdo-Garcia JL, Cai LM, Chaumeil MM, Eriksson P, Robinson AE, Pieper RO, et al. Glioma cells with the IDH1 mutation modulate metabolic fractional flux through pyruvate carboxylase. PLoS One 2014;9:e108289
- 179. Lorendeau D, Rinaldi G, Boon R, Spincemaille P, Metzger K, Jager C, et al. Dual loss of succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) and complex I activity is necessary to recapitulate the metabolic phenotype of SDH mutant tumors. Metab Eng 2017;43:187-97
- 180. Lussey-Lepoutre C, Hollinshead KE, Ludwig C, Menara M, Morin A, Castro-Vega LJ, et al. Loss of succinate dehydrogenase activity results in dependency on pyruvate carboxylation for cellular anabolism. Nat Commun 2015;6:8784
- 181. Cardaci S, Zheng L, MacKay G, van den Broek NJ, MacKenzie ED, Nixon C, et al. Pyruvate carboxylation enables growth of SDH-deficient cells by supporting aspartate biosynthesis. Nat Cell Biol 2015;17:1317-26
- 182. Delgado-Goñi T, Galobart TC, Wantuch S, Normantaite D, Leach MO, Whittaker SR, et al. Increased inflammatory lipid metabolism and anaplerotic mitochondrial activation follow acquired resistance to vemurafenib in BRAF-mutant melanoma cells. Br J Cancer 2020;122:72-81
- 183. Delgado-Goni T, Miniotis MF, Wantuch S, Parkes HG, Marais R, Workman P, et al. The BRAF Inhibitor Vemurafenib Activates Mitochondrial Metabolism and Inhibits Hyperpolarized Pyruvate-Lactate Exchange in BRAF-Mutant Human Melanoma Cells. Mol Cancer Ther 2016;15:2987-99
- 184. Cheng T, Sudderth J, Yang C, Mullen AR, Jin ES, Matés JM, et al. Pyruvate carboxylase is required for glutamine-independent growth of tumor cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:8674-9
- 185. Jiang L, Boufersaoui A, Yang C, Ko B, Rakheja D, Guevara G, et al. Quantitative metabolic flux analysis reveals an unconventional pathway of fatty acid synthesis in cancer cells deficient for the mitochondrial citrate transport protein. Metab Eng 2017;43:198-207
- 186. Pinweha P, Phillips CA, Gregory PA, Li X, Chuayboonya P, Mongkolsiri P, et al. MicroRNA-143-3p targets pyruvate carboxylase expression and controls proliferation and migration of MDA-MB-231 cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 2019;677:108169

- 187. Yang HY, Shen JX, Wang Y, Liu Y, Shen DY, Quan S. Tankyrase Promotes Aerobic Glycolysis and Proliferation of Ovarian Cancer through Activation of Wnt/. Biomed Res Int 2019;2019:2686340
- 188. Lee SY, Jeon HM, Ju MK, Kim CH, Yoon G, Han SI, et al. Wnt/Snail signaling regulates cytochrome C oxidase and glucose metabolism. Cancer Res 2012;72:3607-17
- 189. Lao-On U, Rojvirat P, Chansongkrow P, Phannasil P, Siritutsoontorn S, Charoensawan V, et al. c-Myc directly targets an over-expression of pyruvate carboxylase in highly invasive breast cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 2020;1866:165656
- 190. Blanquer-Rossello MDM, Oliver J, Sastre-Serra J, Valle A, Roca P. Leptin regulates energy metabolism in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 2016;72:18-26
- 191. Patterson RE, Rock CL, Kerr J, Natarajan L, Marshall SJ, Pakiz B, et al. Metabolism and breast cancer risk: frontiers in research and practice. J Acad Nutr Diet 2013;113:288-96
- 192. Calle EE, Rodriguez C, Walker-Thurmond K, Thun MJ. Overweight, obesity, and mortality from cancer in a prospectively studied cohort of U.S. adults. N Engl J Med 2003;348:1625-38
- 193. Parva NR, Tadepalli S, Singh P, Qian A, Joshi R, Kandala H, et al. Prevalence of Vitamin D Deficiency and Associated Risk Factors in the US Population (2011-2012). Cureus 2018;10:e2741
- 194. Vanlint S. Vitamin D and obesity. Nutrients 2013;5:949-56

CHAPTER 2. PYRUVATE CARBOXYLASE SUPPORTS MCF10A-RAS CELL SURVIVAL IN EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX DETACHED CONDITIONS

2.1 Abstract

Throughout metastatic progression, cancer cells acquire anchorage independence, or the ability to survive detached from the extracellular matrix (ECM). While non-transformed epithelial cells reduce energy metabolism when detached, cancer cells display metabolic flexibility to continue important metabolic processes. Glucose and glutamine are predominant nutrients utilized for energy as well as other purposes, and their metabolism is regulated by cancer cells. Therefore, the effects of detachment on glucose and glutamine metabolism in human breast epithelial MCF10A cells transfected with the Harvey-ras oncogene (MCF10A-ras), a model of early-stage cancer, was determined. Detachment was simulated with poly-HEMA coated plates, and intracellular flux was determined using stably labeled ¹³C₅-glutamine and ¹³C₆-glucose tracers. Results show reduced glutamine flux in detached cells as determined by reduced levels of labeled glutamate (21%), malate (30%), and aspartate (23%) from labelled glutamine. Detachment also reduced flux of ${}^{13}C_{6}$ glucose to pyruvate and lactate pools by 51% and 29%, respectively. Similarly, detachment reduced total intracellular pool sizes of pyruvate (51%), lactate (49%), α -ketoglutarate (43%), fumarate (32%), malate (19%), alanine (35%), serine (35%), and glutamate (28%) compared to attached cells, but citrate and aspartate pool sizes were unchanged. Compared to attached cells, detachment increased pyruvate carboxylase (PC) mRNA abundance and protein expression by 131% and 190%, respectively. In detachment, PC activity, determined by ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose derived M+3 isotopomers, was shown to preferentially replenish malate and aspartate, but not citrate pools. In addition, Doxycycline-inducible shRNA knockdown of PC significantly decreased, while Doxycycline-inducible PC overexpression significantly increased, detached cell viability. Further, a switch from glutamine to PC activity for anaplerosis was demonstrated, as supplementation with the cell permeable analog of the tricarboxylic acid cycle intermediate, α -ketoglutarate, a downstream metabolite of glutamine, decreased PC mRNA abundance in detached cells. Collectively, these results suggest that detached breast cancer cells increase PC activity in response to decreased glutamine-derived anaplerosis to promote survival.

2.2 Introduction

Metastasis accounts for the majority of cancer-related deaths (1). The five-year survival rate of breast cancer patients is 28% when diagnosed with metastatic disease compared to a 99% five-year survival rate in patients with a localized diagnosis (2). Metastasis is a multistep process that includes cellular modifications in the primary tumor, invasion into surrounding tissue, systemic dissemination, and colonization of a secondary tumor at a distal site (3). Thus, research that identifies regulators of progression through the metastatic cascade may provide targets to improve the survival of breast cancer patients.

Survival and growth of normal epithelial cells are dependent on attachment to the extracellular matrix (ECM). In a primary tumor, cellular changes permitting "anchorage independence," which enables cancer cell survival when detached from the ECM, promotes tumor growth and metastasis (4). Integrins mediate attachment to the matrix and, upon detachment, initiate signaling that stimulates anoikis, a form of programmed cell death (5). For example, integrins reduce activation of focal adhesion kinase (FAK), leading to reduced downstream signaling through pro-survival signaling pathways such as mitogen activating protein kinase (MAPK) and phosphoinositide-3 kinase (PI3K) (6). Oncogenic transformation, such as those mediated by mutation to *RAS* or amplification of *ERBB2*, assists cancer cells in gaining "anchorage independence" which enables their survival when detached from the ECM by maintaining activation through survival signaling pathways such as PI3K (7,8). Thus, anchorage independence supports the metastatic phenotype as metastatic steps such as invasion and systemic dissemination involve cellular detachment from the ECM.

Reprogrammed energy metabolism is an emerging hallmark of cancer (9), and evidence supports that metabolic reprogramming plays an important role in maintaining survival of ECMdetached cancer cells. For example, nonmalignant epithelial cells decrease energy metabolism pathways upon detachment (4). However, detached MCF10A human breast epithelial cells with overexpression of the ErbB2 oncogene increased glucose and glutamine flux into the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle compared to detached non-transformed MCF10A cells (10). Additionally, overexpression of FAK increased glycolysis in detached pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma cells (11). Further, detached MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells increased the expression of antioxidant enzymes, which was required for fatty acid oxidation and the subsequent production of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) (12). These results suggest that oncogenic transformation enables adaptations in cellular energy metabolism in ECM detached conditions.

The anaplerotic enzyme, pyruvate carboxylase (PC), is responsible for the conversion of pyruvate to oxaloacetate to replenish the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle. Previous results demonstrate that PC is required for breast to lung metastasis *in vivo* (13). In addition, Phannasil et al. demonstrated that PC activity contributes to metastatic steps such as migration and invasion (14). Interestingly, a preference for PC over glutamine anaplerosis was previously identified in breast to lung metastatic tumors, suggesting a "PC switch" in metastatic progression to adjust to nutrient availability (15). PC activity replenishes the TCA cycle and is linked to increased fatty acid synthesis and oxidative stress protection in breast cancer models (16,17). While PC activity is utilized by cancer cells to supply substrate for various metabolic processes, its role in detached conditions has not been established. In the current work it was hypothesized that PC is required to maintain cell viability of transformed breast epithelial cells by replenishing the oxaloacetate pool to rescue cells from decreased glutamine availability in ECM detached conditions.

2.3 Methods

2.3.1 Cell Culture

MCF10A cells transfected with the Harvey-*ras* oncogene (MCF10A-*ras*), a of model early-stage breast cancer, were a gift from Michael Kinch, Purdue University. Cells were grown at 37°C with 5% CO₂ in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM, Sigma, St. Louis, MO) containing 5 mM glucose, 2.5 mM glutamine, and no sodium pyruvate. Media also contained 5% horse serum (Gibco, Waltham MA), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco), 10 mg/L insulin (Sigma), 50 μ /L cholera toxin (Sigma), 20 μ g/L epidermal growth factor (Sigma, St. Louis, MO), and 50 mg/L hydrocortisone (Sigma).

2.3.2 Poly-HEMA-Coated Plates

Extracellular matrix (ECM) detachment was simulated using Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (Poly-HEMA, Sigma) coated plates. Plates were coated with 70 μ L/cm² of 20 mg/mL Poly-HEMA in 95% ethanol. The plates were dried overnight under ultraviolet light after the addition of Poly-

HEMA. The Poly-HEMA coated plates and dishes were rinsed twice with sterile 1x calcium/magnesium-free phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) before use.

2.3.3 MTT Assay

Viability assays were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions using 3-(4,5dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT, Sigma). Briefly, cells were plated at 20k cells/well with indicated treatment into Poly-HEMA coated 96-well plates. MTT solution was added to each well to a final concentration of 1% for two hours, followed by solubilization in dimethylsulfoxide and absorbance measured at 570 nm.

2.3.4 RNA Isolation and qRT-PCR

Cells were plated into 100 mm Poly-HEMA coated dishes. After 40 hours, Tri-Reageant (Molecular Research Center, Cincinnati, OH) was used to harvest and isolate RNA according to the manufacturer's instructions. RNA was reverse transcribed using the MMLV reverse transcriptase (Promega, Madison, WI). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed on the subsequent cDNA using a LightCycler 480 instrument using LightCycler 480 SYBR Green I Master Mix (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). All target gene mRNA abundance was normalized to 18S abundance with the comparative Ct method $(2^{-\Delta Ct})$.

2.3.5 Glutamine and Glucose Flux

Following 40 hours in attachment or detachment, media was changed to media containing either 100% (2.5 mM) ${}^{13}C_5$ -glutamine or 100% (5 mM) ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose. Cells were incubated at 37°C for two hours, followed by harvest into 70% ethanol at 70°C and the addition of 1 µg of the internal standard norvaline to each sample. Intracellular metabolites were extracted from the cells into ethanol by a 5-minute incubation at 95°C. A bicinchoninic acid (BCA, ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA) assay was used to measure protein content in the cell pellet, and the supernatant dried. Methoxylamine hydrochloride in pyridine was used to derivatize metabolites as previously described (18). Following derivatization, metabolites were analyzed with gas chromatographymass spectrometry (GC-MS) using a TG-5MS gas chromatography column and Thermo TSQ 8000

triple quadrupole mass spectrometer. Mass spectra data were acquired using Chromeleon 7 software (ThermoFisher). Intracellular pool sizes were calculated by dividing the area under the curve for the total metabolite by norvaline and protein in the cell pellet to control for recovery and cell quantity, respectively. Isotopomer percent enrichment of the metabolite pool sizes was used to calculate ¹³C flux, and results are calculated relative to levels determined for attached cells.

2.3.6 Western Blot Analysis

Following two washes with calcium/magnesium-free PBS, cells were harvested on ice into 1x radioimmunoprecipitation assay (RIPA) lysis buffer (Cell Signaling, Danvers MA) supplemented with 1% phosphatase (Sigma) and 1% phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride protease inhibitors (Cell Signaling). To harvest detached cells, cells were pelleted by 5-minute centrifugation at 1000 RPM and rinsed twice with calcium/magnesium-free PBS. Pelleted detached cells were resuspended in 25 µL of RIPA lysis buffer. Attached and detached cells were sonicated for 15 minutes and centrifuged for 15 minutes at 12,000 revolutions per minute. The supernatant was collected and protein quantified using the BCA assay. A 4-15% gradient polyacrylamide gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) was used to resolve 20 µg of protein by electrophoresis. Primary antibodies for PC and actin were purchased from Sigma. Proteins were transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad Laboratories) and antigen-antibody complexes were detected by the Li-Cor Odyssey imaging system.

2.3.7 PC Knockdown and Overexpression

Doxycycline (Dox) inducible TRIPZ lentiviral human shRNA which targeted PC and was purchased from GE Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO) and Dox inducible lentiviral plasmid containing the human PC gene (NM_000920.2) was purchased from VectorBuilder (Chicago, IL). Polyethylamine was used to transduce HEK293T cells with lentiviral plasmids and the lentiviral particles harvested. MCF10A-*ras* cells were transfected for 48 hours with 10 µg/mL polybrene, and stably transfected cells were selected using puromycin (5 mg/mL). For PC overexpression, hygromycin (450 ug/mL) was used in addition to puromycin to select for stable transfection. PC knockdown or overexpression was verified following treatment with Dox (0.5 ug/mL) for three days by PCR analysis of PC mRNA abundance.

2.3.8 Statistical Analysis

Results are expressed as mean \pm S.E.M. Comparisons between two groups were determined using an independent samples *t*-test, or across groups by analysis of variance (ANOVA). Statistical significance of *P* < 0.05.

18S	Forward: 5'- TTAGAGTGTTCAAAGCAGGCCCGA-3'
	Reverse: 5'- TCTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCTC-3'
ASCT2	Forward: 5'- TGAACATCCTGGGGCTTGGTAG-3'
	Reverse: 5'- AGCAGGCAGCACAGAATGTAC-3'
GLUD1	Forward: 5'- TTAGAGTGTTCAAAGCAGGCCCGA-3'
	Reverse: 5'- TCTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCTC-3'
GOT1	Forward: 5'-CAACTGGGATTGACCCAACT -3'
	Reverse: 5'- GGAACAGAAACCGGTGCTT -3'
GOT2	Forward: 5'-ACCCATGTGGAAATGGGACC -3'
	Reverse: 5'- GACTTCGCTGTTCTCACCCA-3'
GLUT1	Forward: 5'-TATCGTCAACACGGCCTTCACTGT -3'
	Reverse: 5'- CACAAAGCCAAAGATGGCCACGAT -3'
HK2	Forward: 5'-CTGCAGCGCATCAAGGAGAACAAA -3'
	Reverse: 5'- ACGGTCTTATGTAGACGCTTGGCA -3'
LDHA	Forward: 5'- TGGTCCAGCGTAACGTGAACATCT -3'
	Reverse: 5'-TTGCAACCGCTTCCAATAACACGG -3'
PC	Forward: 5'- ATGTTGCCCACAACTTCAGCAAGC -3'
	Reverse: 5'- AGTTGAGGGAGTCAAACACACGGA-3'

2.4 Results

To evaluate the response of the MCF10A-*ras* cells to ECM detachment, cell viability was measured over a time course of 0, 24, 40, and 48 hours (Figure 2.1A). Cell viability decreased with time in detached conditions up to 40 hours, with an increase at 48 hours, suggesting growth of the

surviving detached cells. Given that 40 hours was the time point with the lowest level of viability, this time point was selected for further study.

Because previous studies demonstrate the importance of energy metabolism for cell survival in ECM detached conditions (10,19), the dependence of detached MCF10A-*ras* cells on glutamine and glucose was determined. Depriving cells of either glutamine or glucose decreased detached cell viability by 57% or 69%, respectively, and deprivation of both glucose and glutamine decreased cell viability by 82% (Figure 2.1B). These results demonstrate a dependence on glutamine or glucose for the survival of MCF10A-*ras* cells in detachment.



Figure 2.1. Effect of detachment on cell viability.

Viability of MCF10A-*ras* cells was assessed by MTT after 0, 24, 40, and 48 hours in detached conditions (A) and in glutamine and glucose depleted conditions (B). Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Different letters indicates significance P < 0.05.
Due to the dependence on glutamine for survival in detached conditions, the metabolism of glutamine in detached cells was determined. Compared to attached cells, detached cells had decreased mRNA levels of the membrane glutamine transporter, Alanine/Serine/Cysteine-preferring Transporter 2 (ASCT2) (Figure 2.2C). Flux analysis of ¹³C₅-glutamine showed that detachment decreased glutamine flux into glutamate, malate, and aspartate, demonstrating reduced TCA cycle anaplerosis from glutamine (Figure 2.2A and 2.2B). In addition, In detached cells, lower mRNA abundance relative to attached cells of enzymes involved in the metabolism of glutamate, which is directly metabolized from glutamine, were also shown, including glutamate dehydrogenase (GLUD1) and the cytosolic glutamate oxaloacetate transaminase (GOT) 1 (Figure 2C). In contrast, mRNA abundance of the mitochondrial isoform *GOT2* was unchanged in detached cells (Figure 2.2C). These results support that there is a decrease in glutamine uptake and catabolism in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells compared to attached cells.



Figure 2.2. Glutamine metabolism in attached and detached conditions.

¹³C₅-Glutamine was used to determine M+5 labeling of glutamate (A), and M+4 malate and aspartate downstream metabolites in attached and detached MCF10A-*ras* cells (B). mRNA abundance of enzymes in glutamine metabolism (C) was assessed in attached and detached MCF10A-*ras* cells. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to attached cells.

To explore glucose metabolism in ECM detached conditions, the effects of detachment on glycolysis were determined. Intracellular pool sizes of the end products of glycolysis, pyruvate and lactate, were both decreased in detachment (Figure 2.3A). Universally labeled ¹³C₆-glucose flux, which results in pyruvate and lactate labeled with three ¹³C's (M+3), were both decreased following detachment (Figure 2.3B). Decreased mRNA abundance of glycolytic enzymes hexokinase 2 (HK2) and lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) was observed in detached cells relative to attached cells (Figure 2.3C). However, compared to attached cells, mRNA abundance of glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) was unchanged following detachment (Figure 2.3C). Similar to glutamine metabolism, these results demonstrate that while glucose is required for detached cell survival,

detached cells decrease glucose metabolism through glycolysis compared to their attached counterparts.

Given the decrease in glycolysis observed in detached cells, it was hypothesized that glucose flux into the TCA cycle was also decreased. Compared to attached cells, detachment decreased pool sizes for all intermediates measured, except citrate which was unchanged (Figure 2.3D). Additionally, free amino acid pool sizes which are metabolically connected to glutamine, glucose, or TCA cycle metabolism were measured. Detachment decreased total pool sizes for alanine, serine, and glutamate, but no change was observed for aspartate (Figure 2.3E). Furthermore, glucose-derived anaplerosis through pyruvate dehydrogenase was measured, using ¹³C₆-glucose flux into citrate which results in M+2 labeling, was decreased in detached cells relative to attached (Figure 2.3F). Collectively these results suggest that energy metabolism through glycolysis and the TCA cycle is reduced following detachment. Overall, these results suggest that detachment suppresses TCA cycle anaplerosis from both glutamine and glucose. However, these results also suggest that detached MCF10A-*ras* cells maintain the production of citrate and aspartate in detachment.



Figure 2.3. Glucose metabolism in attached and detached conditions.

Intracellular pools of pyruvate and lactate were measured (A) and ¹³C₆-Glucose was used to determine M+3 labeling of pyruvate and lactate (B) mRNA abundance of enzymes in glucose metabolism was assessed (C) intracellular pools of citrate, α KG, fumarate, and malate were measured (D) intracellular pools of alanine, serine, aspartate, and glutamate were measured (E) ¹³C₆-Glucose was used to determine M+2 labeling of citrate (F) in attached and detached MCF10A-ras cells. Results are expressed as ± SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to attached cells.

Replenishment of the oxaloacetate pool to support the TCA cycle can be mediated by PC activity, which synthesizes oxaloacetate from pyruvate and bicarbonate. Because pool sizes of the downstream metabolites of oxaloacetate, citrate and aspartate, were unchanged following detachment, PC activity was assessed. Compared to attached cells, detached cells significantly

increased PC mRNA abundance (Figure 2.4A) and protein expression (Figure 2.4B). Further, the flux of ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose to M+3 labeled malate and aspartate was significantly higher in detached cells, demonstrating an increase in PC activity. However, there was significantly decreased flux to M+3 citrate in detached cells (Figure 2.4C). These data demonstrate a preferential utilization of PC-derived oxaloacetate into malate and aspartate, rather than citrate, in detached cells. These results suggest that in detached cells, there is reduced forward TCA cycle flux that would replenish oxaloacetate from non-PC sources and are consistent with the decreased glutamine flux into the TCA cycle.



Figure 2.4. Effect of detachment on PC expression and activity.

mRNA abundance of PC (A) and protein abundance of PC was assessed. (B) PC activity determined from ${}^{13}C_6$ -Glucose-derived M+3 labeled citrate, malate, and aspartate (C) in attached and detached MCF10A-ras cells. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to attached cells.

Due to the increase in PC activity and shift in glucose utilization, the requirement of PC activity for detached cell survival was assessed. Dox treatment of attached Dox-inducible shPC MCF10A-*ras* cells reduced PC mRNA abundance by 73% (Figure 2.5A). PC depletion significantly decreased detached cell viability by 13% (Figure 2.5B). Treatment of PC-depleted cells with exogenous oxaloacetate (2 mM), the product of the PC reaction, rescued cell viability to a level similar to that of PC-expressing cells (Figure 2.5B). In addition, treating PC-depleted cells with 2.5 mM aspartate, a downstream metabolite of oxaloacetate produced via mitochondrial GOT2 activity, also rescued viability to that of PC-expressing cells (Figure 2.5C).



Figure 2.5. Detached cell viability with PC depletion.

mRNA abundance of PC in attached shPC Dox-inducible MCF10A-*ras* cells treated with and without Dox (A) Viability with 2 mM OAA (B) and 2.5 mM Asp supplementation (C) in detached Dox-inducible PC knockdown MCF10A-*ras* cells treated with and without Dox. Results are expressed as ± SEM. Asterisk (*) or different letters indicates significance P < 0.05.

Previous work demonstrated that metastatic MCF10CA1a cells have five-fold higher PC expression than MCF10A-*ras* cells (16). Given the increased PC expression observed in cells with higher metastatic capability than the MCF10A-*ras* cells and the requirement for anchorage independence in metastatic cells, the effect of PC overexpression in MCF10A-*ras* cells on cell viability in detached conditions was assessed. Results demonstrate that overexpressing PC in MCF10A-*ras* cells significantly increased their viability in detached conditions compared to detached control cells (Figure 2.6A and 2.6B).



Figure 2.6. Effect of PC overexpression on detached cell viability.

mRNA abundance of PC of attached Dox-inducible PC overexpressing and Dox-inducible scram MCF10A-*ras* cells treated with Dox was assessed (A) Viability with and without Dox treatment (B) of detached Dox-inducible PC overexpressing and Dox-inducible scram MCF10A-*ras* cells. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to (-) Dox of the same cell type.

A recent study identified that glutamine metabolism is required for the survival of detached liver cancer cells (20), and a PC "switch" has been proposed to describe the metabolic flexibility of cancer cells where depletion of glutamine from the microenvironment increases PC activity. To test whether a switch to PC-mediated anaplerosis due to reduced glutamine availability occurs in detachment, detached cells were treated with a membrane-permeable analog of α -ketoglutarate, dimethyl- α -ketoglutarate (DM- α KG), and PC mRNA levels measured. Treatment with DM- α KG, which is the downstream metabolite of glutamine that enters the TCA cycle, decreased PC mRNA abundance in detached cells (Figure 2.7A). These data support that detachment in MCF10A-*ras* cells reprograms cell metabolism to suppress glutamine flux into the TCA cycle and "switch" to preferential utilization of PC for TCA cycle anaplerosis.



Figure 2.7. Dimethyl α -ketoglutarate's effect on PC expression.

mRNA abundance of PC of detached MCF10A-*ras* cells supplemented with 2 mM dimethyl α -ketoglutarate (DM- α KG) was assessed (A). Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to (-) DM- α KG.

2.5 Discussion

Metastasis of cancer cells is a multistep process, which includes survival in ECM detachment (6). Thus, tumor cells that demonstrate anchorage-independent growth possess a survival advantage. Detachment from ECM in non-transformed epithelial cells induces cellular changes that suppress flux of metabolites, including glucose and glutamine, into energy-producing pathways such as glycolysis and the TCA cycle which contributes to reduced viability in ECM detached conditions (4). Compared to non-transformed cells, oncogenic transformation rescues glucose and glutamine flux into the TCA cycle in detached conditions (10). The flux of metabolites through the TCA cycle generates the coenzymes nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide or flavin adenine dinucleotide, which are then oxidized at the electron transport chain for ATP production, collectively suggesting that enhanced flux of nutrients through the TCA cycle contributes to anchorage independence in transformed cells. Additionally, intermediates of the TCA cycle are

utilized by cells to mediate biosynthetic reactions required for cell proliferation, such as amino acids and lipids. The present study demonstrates that detached MCF10A-*ras* cells display decreased glucose metabolism through glycolysis and decreased anaplerosis from glutamine compared to attached cells. However, detached cells specifically display increased flux of pyruvate, the end product of glycolysis, to oxaloacetate through upregulated expression and activity of PC.

Previous studies identified that PC is required for breast cancer metastasis to the lung. For example, in an *in vivo* model of breast cancer, metastatic lesions at the lung contained high levels of PC expression and activity (15). Additionally PC was required for breast to lung metastasis in an animal model (13). The organotropic role of PC in breast to lung metastasis is consistent with previous literature showing a cellular requirement for PC activity in primary lung tumors (21). Given the requirement for PC in both primary and metastatic cancer cell growth in the lung, these data may highlight PC as an attractive therapeutic target. The present work identified a novel mechanism by which detached breast cancer cells reprogram energy metabolism to increase the expression and activity of PC. Further, depletion of PC in detachment impairs cell survival, suggesting a specific molecular mechanism by which PC mediates breast to lung metastasis. Additionally, overexpression of PC, a characteristic of metastatic breast cancer (14,16), improves detached viability of MCF10A-*ras* breast epithelial cells. Collectively, these results suggest that increased PC expression may promote metastasis by supporting survival in ECM detached conditions throughout the metastatic cascade.

Metabolic flexibility has recently been identified as a contributor to the successful metastasis of cancer cells (22). As cancer cells progress through metastasis, they require adaption to changing nutrient conditions in variable microenvironmental conditions. As a compensatory mechanism, PC may play a crucial role in conferring metabolic flexibility to cancer cells. For example, in healthy BALB/c mice, the ratio of pyruvate/glutamine in the lung interstitial fluid is three times higher than in serum (15). This varying ratio of pyruvate/glutamine may require cancer cells to switch from utilizing glutamine as a means of replenishing the TCA cycle to increasing anaplerosis through PC activity for successful colonization. Indeed, PC activity was increased in lung metastases compared to primary breast tumors (15). In the current study, a PC switch was demonstrated in detached cells as detachment resulted in decreased glutamine incorporation into the TCA cycle and increased flux of glucose into aspartate and malate pools through PC activity. Further support for metabolic reprogramming in favor of PC over glutamine was demonstrated by

the decreased mRNA abundance of PC following the addition of DM- α KG to detached cells. These results demonstrate that replenishing the TCA cycle with a metabolite of glutamine reverses the increase in PC abundance. Therefore, detached cancer cells display metabolic flexibility by increasing PC expression and activity in response to reduced glutamine metabolism.

PC's role in aspartate biosynthesis has been well documented in cancer models. In renal cell carcinoma with succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) ablation, the addition of aspartate rescues cells from PC depletion (23). Consistent with these results, SDHA or SDHB inhibition resulted in an increase in PC activity in both neuroendocrine and prostate cancer cells (24,25). In both of these models, increased PC activity following SDH inhibition resulted in the replenishment of aspartate. Thus, inhibition of the forward TCA cycle by inhibition of SDH activity increases PC-mediated TCA cycle anaplerosis. Consistent with this, the current study identified increased PC activity in detached cells indicated by enrichment of $^{13}C_6$ -glucose derived M+3 labeling patterns in the intracellular pools of aspartate and malate. These results suggest that detached cells use PC activity to compensate for an inability to synthesize oxaloacetate from glutamine through the forward TCA cycle.

In summary, these findings demonstrate that detachment of MCF10A-*ras* cells leads to a decreased flux of glucose and glutamine into the TCA cycle compared to their attached counterparts. However, PC expression and activity are increased in detached cells, and this effect is reversed with exogenous addition of the TCA cycle intermediate DM- α KG. These results indicate that PC plays a critical role in promoting the survival of cells in matrix detached conditions and highlights a potential therapeutic target for the prevention of cancer metastasis.

2.6 Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the use of the facilities of the Bindley Bioscience Center, a core facility of the NIH-funded Indiana Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute.

2.7 References

- 1. Dillekås H, Rogers MS, Straume O. Are 90% of deaths from cancer caused by metastases? Cancer Med 2019;8:5574-6
- 2. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin 2021;71:7-33
- 3. Melzer C, von der Ohe J, Hass R. Breast Carcinoma: From Initial Tumor Cell Detachment to Settlement at Secondary Sites. Biomed Res Int 2017;2017:8534371
- 4. Grassian AR, Coloff JL, Brugge JS. Extracellular matrix regulation of metabolism and implications for tumorigenesis. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 2011;76:313-24
- 5. Schwartz MA. Integrins, oncogenes, and anchorage independence. J Cell Biol 1997;139:575-8
- 6. Paoli P, Giannoni E, Chiarugi P. Anoikis molecular pathways and its role in cancer progression. Biochim Biophys Acta 2013;1833:3481-98
- 7. Kang JS, Krauss RS. Ras induces anchorage-independent growth by subverting multiple adhesion-regulated cell cycle events. Mol Cell Biol 1996;16:3370-80
- 8. Grassian AR, Schafer ZT, Brugge JS. ErbB2 stabilizes epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) expression via Erk and Sprouty2 in extracellular matrix-detached cells. J Biol Chem 2011;286:79-90
- 9. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144:646-74
- Grassian AR, Metallo CM, Coloff JL, Stephanopoulos G, Brugge JS. Erk regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase flux through PDK4 modulates cell proliferation. Genes Dev 2011;25:1716-33
- 11. Zhang J, Gao Q, Zhou Y, Dier U, Hempel N, Hochwald SN. Focal adhesion kinasepromoted tumor glucose metabolism is associated with a shift of mitochondrial respiration to glycolysis. Oncogene 2016;35:1926-42
- 12. Davison CA, Durbin SM, Thau MR, Zellmer VR, Chapman SE, Diener J, et al. Antioxidant enzymes mediate survival of breast cancer cells deprived of extracellular matrix. Cancer Res 2013;73:3704-15
- Shinde A, Wilmanski T, Chen H, Teegarden D, Wendt MK. Pyruvate carboxylase supports the pulmonary tropism of metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2018;20:76

- 14. Phannasil P, Thuwajit C, Warnnissorn M, Wallace JC, MacDonald MJ, Jitrapakdee S. Pyruvate Carboxylase Is Up-Regulated in Breast Cancer and Essential to Support Growth and Invasion of MDA-MB-231 Cells. PLoS One 2015;10:e0129848
- 15. Christen S, Lorendeau D, Schmieder R, Broekaert D, Metzger K, Veys K, et al. Breast Cancer-Derived Lung Metastases Show Increased Pyruvate Carboxylase-Dependent Anaplerosis. Cell Rep 2016;17:837-48
- Wilmanski T, Buhman K, Donkin SS, Burgess JR, Teegarden D. 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits de novo fatty acid synthesis and lipid accumulation in metastatic breast cancer cells through down-regulation of pyruvate carboxylase. J Nutr Biochem 2017;40:194-200
- Wilmanski T, Zhou X, Zheng W, Shinde A, Donkin SS, Wendt M, et al. Inhibition of pyruvate carboxylase by 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D promotes oxidative stress in early breast cancer progression. Cancer Lett 2017;411:171-81
- 18. Long CP, Antoniewicz MR. High-resolution 13 C metabolic flux analysis. Nat Protoc 2019;14:2856-77
- 19. Schafer ZT, Grassian AR, Song L, Jiang Z, Gerhart-Hines Z, Irie HY, et al. Antioxidant and oncogene rescue of metabolic defects caused by loss of matrix attachment. Nature 2009;461:109-13
- 20. Endo H, Owada S, Inagaki Y, Shida Y, Tatemichi M. Metabolic reprogramming sustains cancer cell survival following extracellular matrix detachment. Redox Biol 2020;36:101643
- 21. Sellers K, Fox MP, Bousamra M, Slone SP, Higashi RM, Miller DM, et al. Pyruvate carboxylase is critical for non-small-cell lung cancer proliferation. J Clin Invest 2015;125:687-98
- 22. Bergers G, Fendt SM. The metabolism of cancer cells during metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer 2021
- 23. Cardaci S, Zheng L, MacKay G, van den Broek NJ, MacKenzie ED, Nixon C, et al. Pyruvate carboxylation enables growth of SDH-deficient cells by supporting aspartate biosynthesis. Nat Cell Biol 2015;17:1317-26
- 24. Lussey-Lepoutre C, Hollinshead KE, Ludwig C, Menara M, Morin A, Castro-Vega LJ, et al. Loss of succinate dehydrogenase activity results in dependency on pyruvate carboxylation for cellular anabolism. Nat Commun 2015;6:8784
- 25. Lorendeau D, Rinaldi G, Boon R, Spincemaille P, Metzger K, Jäger C, et al. Dual loss of succinate dehydrogenase (SDH) and complex I activity is necessary to recapitulate the metabolic phenotype of SDH mutant tumors. Metab Eng 2017;43:187-97

CHAPTER 3. 1,25-DIHYDROXYVITAMIN D REDUCES MCF10A-RAS CELL SURVIVAL IN EXTRACELLULAR MATRIX DETACHED CONDITIONS THROUGH REGULATION OF PYRUVATE CARBOXYLASE

3.1 Abstract

Metabolic reprogramming to adjust to varying cellular environments is an emerging hallmark of cancer. Throughout the process of metastasis, cancer cells gain anchorage independence which confers survival and proliferative characteristics when detached from the extracellular matrix (ECM). Previous work demonstrates that the bioactive metabolite of vitamin D, 1α ,25dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D), suppresses cancer progression, potentially through regulation of energy metabolism. The purpose of the present studies were to determine the impact and mechanism of 1,25(OH)₂D effects on cell survival in ECM detached conditions. Treatment of MCF10A-ras breast cancer cells with 1,25(OH)₂D reduces the viability of cells in detached conditions by 11%. Glucose and glutamine metabolic flux analysis utilized ¹³C₅-glutamine and ¹³C₆-glucose tracers, respectively. Results show that 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced glutamine flux into downstream metabolites glutamate (6%), malate (8%), and aspartate (13%), and reduces glucose flux through the anaplerotic enzyme pyruvate carboxylase (PC) determined by decreased $^{13}C_6$ -glucose derived M+3 labeling in citrate (9%) and aspartate (23%) pools. However, $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment did not affect pool sizes or ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose flux into the end products of glycolysis, pyruvate and lactate. Further, treatment of detached cells with 1,25(OH)₂D reduced PC mRNA abundance and protein expression by 64% and 57%, respectively, relative to vehicletreated detached cells. While depletion of PC with doxycycline-inducible shRNA reduced detached cell viability, PC knockdown in combination with 1,25(OH)₂D treatment did not additionally affect the viability of detached cells. Further, PC overexpression improved detached cell viability, and inhibited the effect of 1,25(OH)₂D on detached breast cancer cell survival, suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D mediates its effects in detachment through regulation of PC expression. These results suggest that inhibition of PC by 1,25(OH)₂D suppresses cancer cell anchorage independence and may provide a target to inhibit breast cancer metastasis.

3.2 Introduction

Breast cancer is estimated to be the most common cancer diagnosed among American women in 2021 (1). In addition, breast cancer is the second most fatal cancer for women, with metastatic disease accounting for the majority of breast cancer deaths (1). Because of the prevalence and mortality of breast cancer, it is critical to identify strategies to not only prevent breast cancer incidence but also improve breast cancer patient survival by inhibiting metastasis.

Metastasis follows a step-wise progression which includes cellular changes at the primary site, invasion into surrounding tissue, systemic dissemination, and tumor formation at the distal site (2). Acquiring anchorage independence, or the ability to survive in the absence of extracellular matrix (ECM) attachment, is required for progression through the metastatic cascade (3). Survival in ECM detachment is facilitated, in part, by reprogrammed energy metabolism in cancer cells (4,5). For example, compared to matrix-detached non-transformed breast epithelial cells, cancer cells increased glucose and glutamine energy metabolism (6). Further, detached MDA-MB-231 cells increased expression of the antioxidant enzyme catalase, which was required for fatty acid oxidation-derived ATP production and anchorage-independent growth (7). Thus, reprogrammed energy metabolism in response to matrix detachment mediates anchorage-independent survival in breast cancer cells and is a potential target for prevention of metastasis.

A growing body of evidence recognizes vitamin D's preventatitve actions against breast cancer development. Vitamin D is either acquired from the diet or synthesized from 7-dehydrocholesterol in the skin upon ultraviolet B exposure from the sun (8). Two sequential hydroxylation steps are required for synthesis of the primary hormonal and active form in the blood, 1α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D). The action of 1,25(OH)₂D is mediated through binding to the vitamin D receptor (VDR) expressed in cells regulated by vitamin D. Once bound to 1,25(OH)₂D, VDR heterodimerizes with the retinoid X receptor, and the heterodimer subsequently binds to vitamin D response elements (VDREs) in the promoter regions of vitamin D-regulated genes. Thus, vitamin D, through the actions of its most active metabolite 1,25(OH)₂D, may inhibit breast cancer development through transcriptional regulation of genes.

A relationship between vitamin D status and breast cancer incidence was first identified in observational studies where an inverse association was observed between annual ultraviolet light exposure from the sun and breast cancer incidence (9,10). This observation suggested that vitamin D, which can be synthesized in the skin upon ultraviolet B exposure, may be involved in preventing

breast cancer. For example, higher vitamin D status is associated with a lower odds ratio of breast cancer development (11). In addition, the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) study examined the effect of vitamin D on breast cancer where the participants were given 400 international units of vitamin D/day with an average follow-up of seven years (12). Initial results from the WHI did not demonstrate a lower incidence in breast cancer in women in the vitamin D supplementation cohort. However, in a reanalysis of the WHI study where participants were stratified into groups according to personal supplementation, results identified that vitamin D reduced the risk of breast cancer in the group of participants with no additional vitamin D intake from personal supplementation (13). Therefore, evidence supports that sufficient vitamin D status prevents the development of breast cancer, reducing the incidence.

In addition to preventing initial breast cancer development, vitamin D is also implicated in regulating the metastatic process. For example, a recent study identified an inverse correlation between vitamin D status and metastasis in breast cancer patients (14). Similarly, in the Vitamin D and Omega-3 Trial (VITAL), vitamin D supplementation reduced breast cancer mortality when the first two years of follow-up were excluded, suggesting that vitamin D supplementation may reduce the progression of cancer (15). Further, a meta-analysis demonstrated that higher vitamin D status was associated with reduced breast cancer mortality providing additional evidence that vitamin D may be utilized to prevent breast cancer progression to a fatal metastatic disease state (16,17). Several potential mechanisms by which vitamin D prevents tumor formation and subsequent cancer progression have been identified, including increased cancer cell cycle arrest and apoptosis (9,18); however, the role of 1,25(OH)₂D in regulating cellular bioenergetics has not been elucidated.

Evidence supports that 1,25(OH)₂D regulates energy metabolism in malignant breast epithelial cells (19-21), including through the enzyme pyruvate carboxylase (PC). PC mediates the conversion of pyruvate to the tricarboxylic acid (TCA) cycle intermediate oxaloacetate, which is a precursor for reactions involved in energy production in the TCA cycle, fatty acid synthesis, and oxidative stress protection. Previous research demonstrates that treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D reduced lipid accumulation and fatty acid synthesis in MCF10CA1a breast cancer cells through direct regulation of PC (21). In addition, PC is also involved in oxidative stress protection, which is essential for increased fatty acid oxidation, in MCF10A-*ras* cells, thus 1,25(OH)₂D treatment acted as a prooxidant by reducing PC expression (22). In the present study, it was hypothesized

that in detached breast cancer cells 1,25(OH)₂D reduces expression of PC, thereby reducing glucose-derived anaplerosis and leading to reduced cell survival.

3.3 Methods

3.3.1 Cell Culture

Harvey-*ras* transformed MCF10A-*ras* cells were a gift from Michael Kinch, Purdue University. Cells were grown in an incubator set to 37°C with 5% CO₂ in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM) (Sigma, St. Louis, MO) with 5 mM glucose, 2.5 mM glutamine, and no sodium pyruvate. Media was supplemented with 5% horse serum (Gibco, Waltham MA), 1% penicillin/streptomycin (Gibco), 10 mg/L insulin (Sigma), 50 μ g/L cholera toxin (Sigma), 20 μ g/L epidermal growth factor (Sigma), and 50 mg/L hydrocortisone (Sigma). Cells were pretreated for 72 hours with 10 nM 1,25(OH)₂D (Biomol, Plymouth Meeting, PA) in 100% ethanol vehicle (final concentration <0.1%), with media changed every 24 hours.

3.3.2 Poly-HEMA Coated Plates

Seventy μ L/cm² of 20 mg/mL Poly(2-hydroxyethyl methacrylate) (Poly-HEMA, Sigma) in 95% ethanol was used to coat 96-well plates and 100 mm dishes. Following addition of Poly-HEMA, the plates or dishes were dried overnight under ultraviolet light. Before use, Poly-HEMA coated plates and dishes were rinsed twice with sterile 1x calcium/magnesium-free phosphate-buffered saline (PBS).

3.3.3 MTT Assay

Cell viability was measured using the 3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide (MTT, Sigma) assay according to the manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, following 72-hour pretreatment, cells were plated into Poly-HEMA coated 96-well plates at 20k cells/well with corresponding treatments. After 40 hours, MTT solution was added, allowed to incubate for 2 hours and cells solubilized in dimethylsulfoxide. Absorbance was measured at 570 nm with a spectrophotometer.

3.3.4 Flow Cytometry

Following treatment and placement into detached conditions, a cellular suspension of 1,000,000 cells was harvested into calcium-rich Annexin V binding buffer containing 5 μ L Annexin V (Invitrogen, Carlsbad, CA) and 10 mg/mL propidium iodide (Sigma). A BD Fortessa LSR SORP Cell Analyzer with a 488 nm laser was used to analyze apoptosis in cells. Results were analyzed with FCS Express software (Pasadena, CA). Results are shown as the percent of total cells in each apoptotic stage.

3.3.5 RNA Isolation and Analysis

Pretreated cells were plated into 100 mm Poly-HEMA coated dishes at 1500k cells/dish. After 40 hours, cells were harvested and isolated using Tri-Reageant (Molecular Research Center, Cincinnati, OH) following the manufacturer's instructions. Reverse transcription of RNA was performed using MMLV reverse transcriptase (Promega, Madison, WI). Real-time quantitative PCR was performed in a LightCycler 480 instrument using LightCycler 480 SYBR Green I Master Mix (Roche, Indianapolis, IN). mRNA abundance of target genes was normalized to 18S abundance using the comparative Ct method $(2^{-\Delta Ct})$, and results represent arbitrary units.

3.3.6 Glucose and Glutamine Flux Analysis

Pretreated cells were grown in detached conditions for 40 hours, and cell media was changed to 100% (5 mM) $^{13}C_6$ -glucose, or 100% (2.5 mM) $^{13}C_5$ -glutamine containing media. After 2 hours, in detached conditions, cells were harvested into 70°C 70% ethanol and 1 µg of the internal standard, norvaline. Metabolites were extracted from the cells by a 5-minute 95°C incubation and the supernatant dried. The cell pellet was used to quantify protein with a bicinchoninic acid (BCA Assay) (ThermoFisher, Waltham, MA). Derivatization of metabolites from the dried supernatant was performed as described previously using methoxylamine hydrochloride in pyridine (23). Metabolites were analyzed using gas chromatography-mass spectrometry with a TG-5MS gas chromatography column and Thermo TSQ 8000 triple quadrupole mass spectrometer. Pool sizes were calculated by dividing total metabolite area under the curve (AUC) by norvaline AUC and mg protein to account for variations in recovery and cell quantity.

3.3.7 Western Blot Analysis

For protein analysis, detached cells were washed twice with 1x calcium/magnesium-free PBS. Following rinses, cells were harvested into RIPA lysis buffer, sonicated for 15 minutes, and centrifuged at 12,000 revolutions per minute for 15 minutes. The supernatant was collected and a BCA assay used to quantify protein. Protein was resolved by electrophoresis on a 4-15% gradient polyacrylamide gel (Bio-Rad Laboratories, Hercules, CA) and transferred to a nitrocellulose membrane (Bio-Rad Laboratories). PC and actin primary antibodies were purchased from Sigma, and a Li-Cor Odyssey imaging system was used for the detection of antigen-antibody complexes.

3.3.8 PC Knockdown and Overexpression

PC knockdown in cells utilized TRIPZ lentiviral human shRNA which targeted PC and was doxycycline (Dox) inducible, purchased from GE Dharmacon (Lafayette, CO). PC overexpression utilized Dox inducible lentiviral plasmids containing the human PC gene (NM_000920.2) were purchased from VectorBuilder (Chicago, IL). HEK293T cells were transduced with lentiviral plasmids using polyethylamine, and lentiviral particles harvested. Transfection of MCF10A-*ras* cells took place for 48 hours with 10 μ g/mL polybrene, followed by puromycin (5 mg/mL) selection. PC overexpressing, stably transfected cells were selected with puromycin followed by hygromycin (450 ug/mL). PC knockdown or overexpressing cells were pretreated with Dox (0.5 ug/mL) for 3 days with an additional cotreatment of vehicle or 1,25(OH)₂D where indicated.

3.3.9 Statistical Analysis

Results are displayed using mean \pm S.E.M. Independent samples *t*-test was used to calculate comparisons between two groups. Letters indicate differences determined using analysis of variance (ANOVA) with statistical significance of *P* < 0.05.

18S	Forward: 5'- TTAGAGTGTTCAAAGCAGGCCCGA-3'
	Reverse: 5'- TCTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCTC-3'
ASCT2	Forward: 5'- TGAACATCCTGGGGCTTGGTAG-3'
	Reverse: 5'- AGCAGGCAGCACAGAATGTAC-3'
GLUD1	Forward: 5'- TTAGAGTGTTCAAAGCAGGCCCGA-3'
	Reverse: 5'- TCTTGGCAAATGCTTTCGCTC-3'
GOT1	Forward: 5'-CAACTGGGATTGACCCAACT -3'
	Reverse: 5'- GGAACAGAAACCGGTGCTT -3'
GOT2	Forward: 5'-ACCCATGTGGAAATGGGACC -3'
	Reverse: 5'- GACTTCGCTGTTCTCACCCA-3'
GLUT1	Forward: 5'-TATCGTCAACACGGCCTTCACTGT -3'
	Reverse: 5'- CACAAAGCCAAAGATGGCCACGAT -3'
HK2	Forward: 5'-CTGCAGCGCATCAAGGAGAACAAA -3'
	Reverse: 5'- ACGGTCTTATGTAGACGCTTGGCA -3'
LDHA	Forward: 5'- TGGTCCAGCGTAACGTGAACATCT -3'
	Reverse: 5'-TTGCAACCGCTTCCAATAACACGG -3'
PC	Forward: 5'- ATGTTGCCCACAACTTCAGCAAGC -3'
	Reverse: 5'- AGTTGAGGGAGTCAAACACACGGA-3'

3.4 Results

In order to determine the effect of 1,25(OH)₂D in detached conditions, the metabolite's effect on viability was measured. After 40 hours in detachment, MCF10A-*ras* cell viability was decreased following pretreatment with 1,25(OH)₂D compared to vehicle-treated cells (Figure 3.1A). In addition, 1,25(OH)₂D pretreatment resulted in significantly fewer live cells, and significantly more cells undergoing apoptosis (Figure 3.1B). Together these results demonstrate that 1,25(OH)₂D reduces the viability of MCF10A-*ras* cells by inducing apoptosis.



Figure 3.1. Effect of 1,25(OH)₂D on detached cell viability.

Following 3-day vehicle or $1,25(OH)_2D$ pretreatment, viability of MCF10A-*ras* cells were assessed after 40 hours in detached conditions for (A) viability by MTT, and (B) apoptosis by flow cytometry. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to vehicle.

Previous studies confirmed an effect of 1,25(OH)₂D on regulating energy metabolism in breast cancer cell models (19-21). Given this effect, 1,25(OH)₂D regulation of glutamine flux and metabolism in detached cells was examined. Pretreatment with 1,25(OH)₂D reduced flux of a universally labeled ¹³C₅-glutamine tracer to glutamate, malate, and aspartate, determined by decreased M+5 and M+4 labeling patterns, respectively (Figure 3.2A and 3.2B). In addition, 1,25(OH)₂D-treatment did not change *ASCT2* mRNA abundance, the neutral amino acid exchanger

which mediates extracellular glutamine transport of detached cells compared to detached vehicletreated cells (Figure 3.2C). Additionally, in detached cells 1,25(OH)₂D-treatment did not change mRNA abundance of glutamate dehydrogenase (GLUD1) and glutamic-oxaloacetic transferase (GOT) 1 and 2, enzymes involved in the metabolism of glutamate, a downstream glutamine metabolite (Figure 3.2C). While glutamine flux was decreased by 1,25(OH)₂D treatment, mRNA abundance of key glutamine metabolizing enzymes was unchanged, suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D regulates glutamine metabolism in detached cancer cells through a mechanism distinct from direct regulation of glutamine metabolizing genes.



Figure 3.2. Glutamine metabolism in detached cells treated with 1,25(OH)₂D.

Following 3 day vehicle or $1,25(OH)_2D$ pretreatment, ${}^{13}C_5$ -Glutamine was used to determine (A) M+5 labeling of glutamate, and (B) M+4 malate and aspartate downstream metabolites (C) mRNA abundance of enzymes in glutamine metabolism was assessed in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to vehicle.

Similar to glutamine metabolism, $1,25(OH)_2D$ was hypothesized to inhibit glucose metabolism in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells, similar to its effects in attached cells (19). Interestingly, $1,25(OH)_2D$ treated cells did not change pyruvate and lactate intracellular pool sizes (Figure 3.3A). Metabolic flux analysis was performed using a ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose tracer to assess glucose flux. Similarly, there were no differences in ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose flux into pyruvate and lactate in $1,25(OH)_2D$ treated detached cells relative to vehicle determined by M+3 labelling patterns (Figure 3.3B). In accordance with the ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose flux results, $1,25(OH)_2D$ did not affect mRNA abundance of glucose metabolizing enzymes. The genes that were measured include the glucose transporter 1 (GLUT1) which transports extracellular glucose into the cells, hexokinase 2 (HK2) which encodes for the enzyme which mediates the conversion of glucose to glucose-6-phosphate in the first step of glycolysis, and lactate dehydrogenase A (LDHA) which catalyzes the conversion of lactate from pyruvate (Figure 3.3C). In accordance with the glucose flux results, $1,25(OH)_2D$ pretreatment had no effect on mRNA abundance of any of the glucose-related genes measured, suggesting that glycolysis is not regulated by $1,25(OH)_2D$ in detached cells.



Figure 3.3. Glucose metabolism in detached cells treated with 1,25(OH)₂D.

Following 3 day vehicle or $1,25(OH)_2D$ pretreatment (A) intracellular pools of pyruvate and lactate were measured and (B) ${}^{13}C_6$ -Glucose was used to determine M+3 labeling of pyruvate and lactate (C) mRNA abundance of enzymes in glucose metabolism was assessed in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to vehicle.

Glucose replenishes the TCA cycle through pyruvate dehydrogenase (PDH) activity which synthesizes acetyl-CoA from pyruvate, or through PC activity which forms oxaloacetate from the carboxylation of pyruvate. To determine 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of glucose-derived anaplerosis into the TCA cycle a ¹³C₆-glucose tracer was used. Treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D had no effect on glucose flux into the TCA cycle through PDH activity, determined by M+2 labeled citrate (Figure 3.4A). However, 1,25(OH)₂D reduced the entry of glucose-derived pyruvate into the TCA cycle through the PC reaction, determined by decreased M+3 labeled citrate and aspartate (Figure 3.4B). M+3 malate was unchanged in detached 1,25(OH)₂D pretreated cells compared to vehicle (Figure 3.4B), suggesting the 1,25(OH)₂D-induced reduction in PC activity primarily impacts a reduction

in citrate and aspartate pools. Consistent with the PC activity results, detached cell PC mRNA abundance and protein expression were also reduced with 1,25(OH)₂D pretreatment (Figure 3.5A and 3.5B). In sum, 1,25(OH)₂D reduced PC expression and activity in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells.



Figure 3.4. Effect of 1,25(OH)₂D on TCA cycle intermediates.

Following 3 day vehicle or 1,25(OH)₂D pretreatment ¹³C₆-Glucose was used to determine (A) M+2 labeling of citrate and (C) M+3 labeling of citrate, malate, and aspartate in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to

vehicle.



Figure 3.5. Glucose-derived anaplerosis in detached cells treated with 1,25(OH)₂D.

Following 3 day vehicle or $1,25(OH)_2D$ pretreatment ${}^{13}C_6$ -Glucose was used to determine (A) PDH activity with M+2 labeling of citrate and (B) PC activity with M+3 labeling of citrate, malate, and aspartate in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells. Results are expressed as \pm SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to vehicle.

Given that 1,25(OH)₂D downregulates PC in detached cells, the impact of this regulation on survival in detached conditions was evaluated. Dox-inducible shRNA PC knockdown and PC overexpressing MCF10A-*ras* cell lines were utilized to measure cell viability in detached conditions with 1,25(OH)₂D treatment (Figure 3.6 A and 3.C). PC depletion reduced cell viability to a similar extent as 1,25(OH)₂D treatment with no additional effect on detached cell viability with 1,25(OH)₂D treatment and PC knockdown together (Figure 3.6B). In addition, PC overexpression increased detached cell viability, and inhibited the 1,25(OH)₂D mediated decrease in detached cell viability (Figure 3.6D). These data demonstrate that 1,25(OH)₂D's negative effects on detached MCF10A-*ras* cell viability are dependent on PC downregulation.



Figure 3.6. Cell viability with 1,25(OH)₂D and PC depletion or overexpression.

Following 3 day Dox treatment (A) PC mRNA abundance was measured in attached conditions (B) and MTT was utilized to assess cell viability of detached Dox-inducible PC shRNA MCF10A-*ras* cells with Dox treatment in combination with 1,25(OH)₂D. (C) PC mRNA abundance was determined following 3 day Dox treatment and (D) cell viability was assessed with MTT in Dox and 1,25(OH)₂D treated detached Dox-inducible PC overexpressing MCF10A-*ras* cells. Results are expressed as ± SEM. Asterisk (*) indicates P < 0.05 relative to vehicle (-) Dox of the same cell type.

3.5 Discussion

While breast cancer survival rates remain high when diagnosed early, it is estimated that between 25-50% of breast cancer patients will form metastatic tumors (1,24). Therefore, it is critical to identify safe and effective compounds that prevent metastasis as it results in the vast majority of breast cancer-related deaths (1). Throughout carcinogenesis, metastatic cancer cells acquire anchorage independence and reprogram energy metabolism, both of which support survival and growth at the primary and secondary site (25). The results of the present study demonstrate that the active metabolite of vitamin D, 1,25(OH)₂D, downregulation of PC expression reduces cell survival of detached breast cancer cells.

Recent studies have implicated PC in the promotion of breast to lung metastasis. For example, Christen et al. observed an increase in PC expression in metastatic tumors in the lung compared to the primary breast tumor (26). In addition, PC knockdown in the primary tumor significantly decreased the number of breast to lung metastatic outgrowths *in vivo* (27). Further support is provided by analysis of the Molecular Taxonomy of Breast Cancer International Consortium dataset where amplification of PC was detected in 16-30% of breast cancer patients, and PC amplification was associated with decreased patient survival suggesting PC's role in promoting metastasis (27). PC activity replenishes the TCA cycle intermediate, oxaloacetate, which likely supports cancer progression through energy production and synthesis of building blocks such as amino and fatty acids required for proliferation. Studies also suggest that PC expression confers metastatic properties, as PC expression was positively associated with greater invasive and migratory capabilities, and PC inhibition reduced invasion and migration in various breast cancer models (28). Cumulatively, these results demonstrate that PC expression is associated with a metastatic phenotype.

Although others have reported 1,25(OH)₂D's long-term negative effects on ECM detached cancer cell survival, a mechanism was not elucidated. For example, Pervin et al observed that SKBR3 breast cancer cells grown in detachment for four and seven days had reduced mammosphere formation with VDR overexpression, and that 1,25(OH)₂D treatment alone was sufficient to reduce sphere formation (29). In addition, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced mammosphere formation in metastatic SUM159 breast epithelial cells grown in detached conditions for five days (30). Further, treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D reduced mammosphere formation after secondary and tertiary passaging, suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D treatment may

98

prevent tumor resurgence. While the long-term reduction of detached mammosphere formation by 1,25(OH)₂D is promising, the mechanism by which 1,25(OH)₂D regulates detached cancer growth remained unknown. The present study identifies 1,25(OH)₂D regulation of anaplerosis by downregulation of PC as the mechanism by which 1,25(OH)₂D decreases viability in detached transformed breast epithelial cells.

While the current results also show a decrease in glutamine metabolism by decreased ${}^{13}C_{5}$ glutamine flux to glutamate, malate, and aspartate with 1,25(OH)₂D, a 1,25(OH)₂D target gene was not determined. Gene regulation is the predominant mechanism by which $1,25(OH)_2D$ mediates its effects in target tissues. However, mRNA abundance of key glutamine-metabolizing enzymes was unchanged with 1,25(OH)₂D treatment in detached cells, suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D regulates glutamine metabolism indirectly. A potential mechanism may be through reducing signaling through the adenosine monophosphate-activated protein kinase (AMPK) pathway which regulates energy metabolism as previously described (31). The results from the current study are contrary to earlier studies where in attached MCF10A-ras cells 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced glutamine metabolism through direct downregulation of the glutamine transporter ASCT2 (20). Although a 1,25(OH)₂D target that regulates glutamine metabolism was not identified in detached cells, the 1,25(OH)₂D-induced decrease in ¹³C₅-glutamine flux likely does not play a significant role in 1,25(OH)₂D's reduction of detached cell viability as PC overexpression was sufficient to eliminate 1,25(OH)₂D's effects on viability. In sum, these results suggest that regulation of PC, not glutamine metabolism, is the mechanism by which 1,25(OH)₂D decreases cell viability in detached conditions.

Regulation of glucose metabolism by $1,25(OH)_2D$ was also previously identified in attached MCF10A-*ras* cells (19,21,22). Similar to attached MCF10A-*ras* cells, in the current study, $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment did not effect the mRNA abundance of *HK2* or *GLUT1* in detached cells (19). However, previous studies identified in attached cells $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment reduced intracellular lactate and ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose flux to lactate, an effect which did not occur with $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells (19). In addition, $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment had no effect on detached ${}^{13}C_6$ -glucose-derived anaplerosis through PDH activity, which is contrary to previous work in attached cells where $1,25(OH)_2D$ treatment reduced PDH activity (19). Interestingly, the current work demonstrated a $1,25(OH)_2D$ -mediated decrease in PC expression and subsequent activity in detached MFC10A-*ras* cells. These results are in accord with previous studies which

identified 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of PC in attached MCF10A-*ras* cells through an active VDRE, and support that this regulation also occurs in detachment (22). In sum, in contrast to attached cells, detached cells no longer respond to 1,25(OH)₂D regulation of glycolysis and PDH anaplerosis, however, similar to attached cells, regulation of PC by 1,25(OH)₂D occurred in detachment. Further, results of studies with where PC is depleted or overexpressed demonstrate that regulation of PC was the mechanism by which 1,25(OH)₂D reduced detached cell viability. Given PC's role in supporting metastasis, PC downregulation by 1,25(OH)₂D may be utilized to inhibit ECM detached cell survival and prevent metastasis.

Taken together, the current results identifies that 1,25(OH)₂D's downregulation of PC in detached conditions results in decreased cell viability. These results may contribute to setting vitamin D recommendations to levels which improve breast cancer survival by adding to the growing body of evidence that the bioactive metabolite of vitamin D, 1,25(OH)₂D, inhibits cancer progression, potentially through the regulation of energy metabolism.

3.6 Acknowledgements

The authors acknowledge the use of the facilities of the Bindley Bioscience Center, a core facility of the NIH-funded Indiana Clinical and Translational Sciences Institute.

3.7 References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin 2021;71:7-33
- 2. Lambert AW, Pattabiraman DR, Weinberg RA. Emerging Biological Principles of Metastasis. Cell 2017;168:670-91
- 3. Sousa B, Pereira J, Paredes J. The Crosstalk Between Cell Adhesion and Cancer Metabolism. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20
- 4. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144:646-74
- 5. Elia I, Doglioni G, Fendt SM. Metabolic Hallmarks of Metastasis Formation. Trends Cell Biol 2018;28:673-84
- Grassian AR, Metallo CM, Coloff JL, Stephanopoulos G, Brugge JS. Erk regulation of pyruvate dehydrogenase flux through PDK4 modulates cell proliferation. Genes Dev 2011;25:1716-33
- Davison CA, Durbin SM, Thau MR, Zellmer VR, Chapman SE, Diener J, et al. Antioxidant enzymes mediate survival of breast cancer cells deprived of extracellular matrix. Cancer Res 2013;73:3704-15
- 8. Tripkovic L, Lambert H, Hart K, Smith CP, Bucca G, Penson S, et al. Comparison of vitamin D2 and vitamin D3 supplementation in raising serum 25-hydroxyvitamin D status: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Clin Nutr 2012;95:1357-64
- 9. Feldman D, Krishnan AV, Swami S, Giovannucci E, Feldman BJ. The role of vitamin D in reducing cancer risk and progression. Nat Rev Cancer 2014;14:342-57
- Garland FC, Garland CF, Gorham ED, Young JF. Geographic variation in breast cancer mortality in the United States: a hypothesis involving exposure to solar radiation. Prev Med 1990;19:614-22
- Garland CF, Gorham ED, Mohr SB, Grant WB, Giovannucci EL, Lipkin M, et al. Vitamin D and prevention of breast cancer: pooled analysis. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2007;103:708-11
- 12. Rohan TE, Negassa A, Chlebowski RT, Ceria-Ulep CD, Cochrane BB, Lane DS, et al. A randomized controlled trial of calcium plus vitamin D supplementation and risk of benign proliferative breast disease. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2009;116:339-50
- 13. Bolland MJ, Grey A, Gamble GD, Reid IR. Calcium and vitamin D supplements and health outcomes: a reanalysis of the Women's Health Initiative (WHI) limited-access data set. Am J Clin Nutr 2011;94:1144-9

- Vaughan-Shaw PG, O'Sullivan F, Farrington SM, Theodoratou E, Campbell H, Dunlop MG, et al. The impact of vitamin D pathway genetic variation and circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D on cancer outcome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2017;116:1092-110
- 15. Micheletti PL, de Borba Cecílio da Silva AP, Rech D, Victorino VJ, do Amaral Herrera ACDS, Kern R, et al. Low Plasmatic 25-hydroxyvitamin D at Diagnosis is Associated with Axillary Invasion, Chemoresistance and Metastasis in Women with Breast Cancer. Arch Med Res 2020;51:542-7
- Manson JE, Cook NR, Lee IM, Christen W, Bassuk SS, Mora S, et al. Vitamin D Supplements and Prevention of Cancer and Cardiovascular Disease. N Engl J Med 2019;380:33-44
- 17. Kim Y, Je Y. Vitamin D intake, blood 25(OH)D levels, and breast cancer risk or mortality: a meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2014;110:2772-84
- 18. Simboli-Campbell M, Narvaez CJ, van Weelden K, Tenniswood M, Welsh J. Comparative effects of 1,25(OH)2D3 and EB1089 on cell cycle kinetics and apoptosis in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1997;42:31-41
- 19. Zheng W, Tayyari F, Gowda GA, Raftery D, McLamore ES, Shi J, et al. 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D regulation of glucose metabolism in Harvey-ras transformed MCF10A human breast epithelial cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2013;138:81-9
- 20. Zhou X, Zheng W, Nagana Gowda GA, Raftery D, Donkin SS, Bequette B, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits glutamine metabolism in Harvey-ras transformed MCF10A human breast epithelial cell. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2016;163:147-56
- Wilmanski T, Buhman K, Donkin SS, Burgess JR, Teegarden D. 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits de novo fatty acid synthesis and lipid accumulation in metastatic breast cancer cells through down-regulation of pyruvate carboxylase. J Nutr Biochem 2017;40:194-200
- 22. Wilmanski T, Zhou X, Zheng W, Shinde A, Donkin SS, Wendt M, et al. Inhibition of pyruvate carboxylase by 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D promotes oxidative stress in early breast cancer progression. Cancer Lett 2017;411:171-81
- 23. Long CP, Antoniewicz MR. High-resolution 13 C metabolic flux analysis. Nat Protoc 2019;14:2856-77
- 24. Welsh J. Induction of apoptosis in breast cancer cells in response to vitamin D and antiestrogens. Biochem Cell Biol 1994;72:537-45

- 25. Shan NL, Wahler J, Lee HJ, Bak MJ, Gupta SD, Maehr H, et al. Vitamin D compounds inhibit cancer stem-like cells and induce differentiation in triple negative breast cancer. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2017;173:122-9
- 26. Shinde A, Wilmanski T, Chen H, Teegarden D, Wendt MK. Pyruvate carboxylase supports the pulmonary tropism of metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2018;20:76
- 27. Rabbani SA, Mazar AP. Evaluating distant metastases in breast cancer: from biology to outcomes. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2007;26:663-74
- 28. Grassian AR, Coloff JL, Brugge JS. Extracellular matrix regulation of metabolism and implications for tumorigenesis. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 2011;76:313-24
- 29. Christen S, Lorendeau D, Schmieder R, Broekaert D, Metzger K, Veys K, et al. Breast Cancer-Derived Lung Metastases Show Increased Pyruvate Carboxylase-Dependent Anaplerosis. Cell Rep 2016;17:837-48
- 30. Phannasil P, Thuwajit C, Warnnissorn M, Wallace JC, MacDonald MJ, Jitrapakdee S. Pyruvate Carboxylase Is Up-Regulated in Breast Cancer and Essential to Support Growth and Invasion of MDA-MB-231 Cells. PLoS One 2015;10:e0129848
- 31. Pervin S, Hewison M, Braga M, Tran L, Chun R, Karam A, et al. Down-regulation of vitamin D receptor in mammospheres: implications for vitamin D resistance in breast cancer and potential for combination therapy. PLoS One 2013;8:e53287

CHAPTER 4. CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

4.1 Summary

The five-year survival rate of metastatic breast cancer is 28% compared to 99% for the diagnosis of localized breast cancer (1). This stark difference is accounted for by the unique difficulty in treating metastatic disease. Metastatic spread may not manifest until many years past the initial cancer diagnosis, at which point metastases have colonized throughout the body (2). Often, resection of metastatic tumors is not possible, thus explaining the low survival rate of metastatic breast cancer. While treatment of metastasis has improved over recent years, only 2-5% of metastatic cancer patients are expected to survive ten years past diagnosis (3). Thus, there remains a clinical need for new treatments which prevent the progression of cancer to metastatic disease.

An emerging hallmark of cancer is reprogrammed energy metabolism (4). One of the first examples of reprogrammed energy metabolism was identified by Otto Warburg in 1927 (5). Warburg observed that cancer cells preferentially metabolized glucose through glycolysis to produce lactate rather than through oxidative phosphorylation in the TCA cycle despite the presence of oxygen. This characteristic was later termed the "Warburg effect." We now understand that cancer cells utilize the carbon backbone of glucose for the biosynthesis of lipids, amino, and nucleic acids to support proliferation (6). In addition, glucose metabolism produces energy and oxidative stress protection by its metabolism through the TCA cycle and the pentose phosphate pathway, respectively. In addition to glucose, cancer cells have an increased dependence on glutamine metabolism (7). After glucose, glutamine is the second preferred nutrient of cancer cells and is the predominant amino acid in circulation (8). Glutamine is used by cancer cells for incorporation into nascent protein synthesis, energy production, and oxidative stress protection by supplying glutamate for the synthesis of the cellular antioxidant glutathione (GSH) (9). Further, metabolic plasticity, or the ability to use one nutrient for various metabolic purposes, and metabolic flexibility, or the ability to utilize different nutrients to fulfill the same metabolic requirement, are highly favored phenotypes in metastasis (10). Metabolic plasticity and flexibility permit cancer cells to reprogram their energy metabolism, such as rerouting glucose and glutamine metabolism, based on changing nutrient status and needs as the cancer cells metastasize to different

environments in the body. Therefore, cancer cells with the ability to reprogram energy metabolism have increased potential for successful metastasis.

Throughout the process of metastasis, cancer cells become detached from the ECM (11). Detachment from the ECM leads to activation of anoikis in normal epithelial cells. Further, attachment to ECM regulates cellular metabolism, and in normal epithelial cells, detachment results in reduced nutrient uptake and energy production and increased oxidative stress levels (12). Cancer cells acquire anchorage independence to survive when detached from the ECM in order to metastasize. While resisting anoikis that accompanies ECM detachment is important for achieving anchorage independence, studies indicate that overcoming ECM detachment-induced metabolic stress is also necessary (13). Interestingly, pro-survival pathways which are constitutively active in cancer cells not only promote anoikis resistance but activate energy metabolism in ECM detached conditions (12). Thus, the discovery of metabolic targets utilized by anchorage independent cancer cells may be useful for inhibiting metastasis.

The ability to reroute energy metabolism to fulfill cell requirements in ECM detached conditions is a characteristic of anchorage independence (12). Further, metabolic reprogramming may be crucial for cancer cell survival in ECM detached conditions throughout metastasis. In the present work, we identified that anchorage-independent MCF10A-*ras* breast cancer cells displayed metabolic flexibility as they increased expression of the anaplerotic enzyme pyruvate carboxylase (PC) (Chapter 2). Detached cells decreased anaplerosis from glutamine, however, the cancer cells that survived prolonged detachment responded by increasing PC expression and subsequent activity. This metabolic flexibility fulfilled the detached cell requirement for aspartate biosynthesis. Additionally, the PC "switch" from glutamine anaplerosis to PC anaplerosis was demonstrated by decreased PC expression when cells were supplemented with the downstream glutamine metabolic flexibility, and the PC switch may be targeted to reverse anchorage independence and prevent metastasis. However, future research is needed to determine the usefulness of this target in prevention of metastasis.

Vitamin D is associated with reduced breast cancer incidence and progression. For example, breast cancer patients with low vitamin D status have reduced survival, and more progressed disease (14). Given this association, studies have focused on identifying the mechanism by which vitamin D regulates breast cancer to reduce breast cancer mortality. Vitamin D mediates its

regulation in cells through its most active metabolite, 1α ,25-dihydroxyvitamin D (1,25(OH)₂D). Importantly, treatment with $1,25(OH)_2D$ is not possible due to its hypercalcemic effects, thus it is necessary to determine adequate vitamin D levels which support sufficient local production of 1,25(OH)₂D to prevent carcinogenesis (15). While most mechanistic studies focus on 1,25(OH)₂D's role in promoting cell cycle arrest and apoptosis in cancer cells (16), recent studies identified an emerging role of 1,25(OH)₂D in regulating cancer cell energy metabolism (17-20). While 1,25(OH)₂D mediated regulation of energy metabolism is identified, the usefulness of this regulation to prevent progression through the steps of metastasis has yet to be determined. In the present work, we demonstrate that $1,25(OH)_2D$ pretreatment reduces detached MCF10A-ras breast cancer cell viability, suggesting that adequate vitamin D may prevent cancer cell survival of metastasis by reducing viability in detached conditions. Further, the reduced viability observed in $1,25(OH)_2D$ treated cells was dependent on PC, as PC depleted detached cells were resistant to 1,25(OH)₂D, and PC overexpression overcame the 1,25(OH)₂D-induced decrease in detached cell viability. Given the important role, PC plays in central metabolism in normal tissue, utilizing 1,25(OH)₂D to inhibit metastasis by increasing vitamin D status to prevent anchorage independence poses a promising low-risk treatment, although future research is required before use in clinical settings.

4.2 Future Directions

4.2.1 Mechanism Behind the PC Switch

Metabolic reprogramming occurs in cancer cells detached from ECM. In Chapter 2, we demonstrate a PC switch utilized by MCF10A-*ras* cells upon detachment to improve survival. Understanding the mechanism that initiates this change in metabolism may be useful for targeting cancer cells with the ability to switch between glutamine and PC anaplerosis.

The cellular ability to switch between glutamine and PC anaplerosis is noted in the literature. For example, in the brain, glutamate, which is directly synthesized from glutamine, negatively regulates PC activity (21). This regulation demonstrates the tight control of the metabolite pools in the TCA cycle. In breast cancer models, PC expression and activity are increased in breast-derived lung metastases compared to the primary tumor (22,23). Increased dependence on PC was also observed in lung cancer models (24,25), suggesting that the lung

environment may stimulate the PC switch. The ratio of available pyruvate/glutamine is hypothesized to drive the increase in PC activity as serum pyruvate/glutamine ratio is decreased compared to the ratio in interstitial lung fluid *in vivo* (22). To test this hypothesis, Christen et al. showed increased PC-dependent anaplerosis with increasing pyruvate supplementation (22). However, our studies were designed to measure glucose-derived anaplerosis, and the PC switch was demonstrated in cancer cells grown without pyruvate supplementation in the media, suggesting that other factors besides environmentally-sourced pyruvate also act to modulate PC. Further, our studies support that the detachment-induced increase in PC activity is due to increased expression of PC as detached cells increased both PC mRNA and protein expression. Thus, environmental factors inducing changes in PC transcription are likely the mechanism underlying the PC switch.

In cancer cells, factors that regulate PC expression have been identified and may be implicated in the PC switch observed in the lung and detached cancer cells. In ovarian and mammary cancer cells, Wnt/β-catenin/Snail signaling was associated with increased PC expression (26,27), although the mechanism by which Snail-induced PC expression was not identified. In contrast, regulation of PC expression by Snail was not observed in MCF10A-*ras* cells (23). In MDA-MB-231 breast cancer cells, PC expression was also increased by c-Myc through direct binding to a c-Myc binding site in the promoter region of the PC gene (28). However, c-Myc was not shown to regulate PC expression in MCF-7 breast cancer cells (28). Also, expression of the micro-RNA, miR-143-3p, in MDA-MB-231 cells resulted in reduced PC expression (29). Decreased PC expression occurred through direct binding of miR-143-3p to the 3'-untranslated region of PC mRNA. While further investigation into these regulators of PC is required to determine their role in the PC switch, the inconsistencies between cancer models indicate the initiator of the PC switch has yet to be discovered. Thus, future research focusing on the molecular regulators of PC expression is needed.

The role of glutamine in the PC switch may provide insight into the mechanism that initiates this switch away from glutamine to PC. For example, in Chapter 2 we observed that detached cells reduced glutamine flux and decreased mRNA abundance of the glutamine transporter, *ASCT2*, which encodes for the enzyme that transports glutamine into the cell. In other models, decreased glutamine uptake is linked to activation of the mTOR signaling pathway (30). mTOR is considered a master regulator of cell growth and metabolism and is commonly

upregulated in cancer (31). Environmental cues such as growth factors, amino acids, and energy status lead to activation of mTOR and subsequent mTOR-induced anabolism, which promotes cell proliferation and survival. Regulation of energy metabolism by mTOR occurs through activation of various transcription factors, such as sterol-regulatory-binding proteins and hypoxia-inducible factor-1-a (32). In addition, the PI3K/Akt/mTOR pathway is activated in detached cancer cells and contributes to anchorage independence (33). Furthermore, mTOR signaling upregulates pyruvate kinase, which mediates the synthesis of pyruvate from phosphoenolpyruvate in glycolysis, in various cancer models (34). These results suggest that in pyruvate depleted detached conditions, cancer cell activation of mTOR as a result of decreased glutamine uptake may increase substrate levels for the PC reaction by increasing pyruvate kinase expression and subsequent pyruvate production. Thus mTOR activation induced by decreased glutamine metabolism may explain the discrepancy between our observed PC switch in pyruvate deplete conditions and the pyruvateinduced PC switch observed in previous studies. PC regulation by mTOR may occur through the activity of transcription factors that upregulate PC expression, as well as increasing substrate production for the PC reaction. Therefore, I hypothesize that the decreased glutamine metabolism observed in detached cancer cells resulting from decreased ASCT2 expression activates the mTOR signaling pathway and results in increased expression and activity of PC. To test this hypothesis, the active form of mTOR, phosphorylated-mTOR relative to unphosphorylated mTOR can be measured in detached cancer cells. In addition, PC expression measured following inhibition of mTOR will contribute to determining if mTOR is required for the observed increase in PC expression. Assessing activation of mTOR following inhibition of glutamine uptake will connect glutamine metabolism to mTOR activation. Hypothesis supportive results acquired from these studies will demonstrate that mTOR is active in detached cells, inhibition of mTOR will result in reduced PC expression, and glutamine uptake inhibition will also result in increased mTOR activation.

4.2.2 Regulation of Cellular Oxidative Stress by 1,25(OH)₂D in Detachment

Detachment from the ECM is associated with a marked increase in reactive oxygen species (ROS) (35). However, cancer cells mitigate increasing ROS levels by reprogramming energy metabolism in favor of reductive-oxidative (redox) balance. Cells maintain redox balance by synthesizing reducing equivalents such as nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide phosphate (NADPH).
NADPH is utilized in the regeneration of the primary cellular antioxidant, GSH, from its oxidized form, GSSG (36). In detachment, reductive glutamine metabolism is used by non-small-cell lung cancer models to cycle citrate into the mitochondria for its use in the NADPH-producing reaction mediated by isocitrate dehydrogenase 2 (37). This cycling contributed to anchorage independence by mitigating mitochondrial ROS. Therefore, increased oxidative stress protection supports anchorage independence in cancer cells and may be targeted to prevent metastasis.

Studies suggest that 1,25(OH)₂D acts as a prooxidant in cancer cells by disrupting redox balance. For example, Bao et al. observed increased cell death as a result of 1,25(OH)₂D-induced increased oxidative stress levels in prostate cancer cells (38). Similarly, in MCF10A-*ras* cells 1,25(OH)₂D treatment decreased the ratios of NADPH/NADP+ and GSH/GSSG thereby increasing oxidative stress by disrupting redox balance and reducing cell viability (39). Interestingly, in non-malignant prostate cancer cells 1,25(OH)₂D treatment was protective against hydrogen peroxide-induced oxidative stress, suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D has differential effects which depend on the cell type. Collectively, 1,25(OH)₂D protects against oxidative stress in non-transformed cells but acts as a prooxidant in cancer cells which may be a characteristic utilized in treating cancer.

Given the prooxidant effects of 1,25(OH)₂D in cancer models and the need to mitigate ROS following detachment, 1,25(OH)₂D may be used to reduce cancer cell survival in detached conditions by disrupting redox balance. In the current work, we demonstrate that 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduces viability through downregulation of PC (Chapter 3). Previous work with the MCF10A-*ras* cells identified that 1,25(OH)₂D-induced oxidative stress through negative regulation of PC (39). It was proposed, but not tested, that PC activity protects cancer cells from oxidative stress by providing substrate for the NADPH producing malic enzyme 1 reaction. In Chapter 2 of this work, we demonstrate that detached MCF10A-*ras* cells increased PC activity to, in part, replenish intracellular malate pools. Thus, PC activity in detachment may improve redox balance through the malic enzyme 1 reaction. Therefore, I hypothesize that detached cancer cells increase PC expression and activity to provide substrate for NADPH producing reactions and mitigate ROS thereby increasing detached cell survival, and treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D reverses these effects. To test this hypothesis, NADPH/NADP+, and GSH/GSSG ratios will be determined in detached breast cancer cells with and without PC depletion. Further, the use of a [1-¹³C]pyruvate tracer in detached cancer cells will provide insight into which reactions utilize PC-derived

oxaloacetate. This tracer is especially useful for the detection of PC activity as the PC reaction adds all three carbons from pyruvate into the TCA cycle, while pyruvate dehydrogenase activity, the alternative path by which pyruvate may enter the TCA cycle, removes the first carbon. Therefore, the use of a [1-¹³C]pyruvate tracer results in downstream labeling with PC activity, but unlabeled intermediates arise from pyruvate dehydrogenase activity. Further experiments are also needed to connect PC-derived oxidative stress protection to improved detached cell viability. Therefore, I propose the addition of antioxidants, such as N-acetylcysteine or Trolox, to PC depleted cells and subsequent measurement of detached cell viability. Therefore, if these results support my hypothesis they will demonstrate that PC depletion reduces NADPH/NADP+ and GSH/GSSG ratios, NADPH producing reactions which utilize oxaloacetate synthesized from [1-¹³C]pyruvate through the PC reaction such as malic enzyme, and addition of antioxidants will rescue cell viability from PC depletion.

4.2.3 Regulation of Lipid Metabolism by 1,25(OH)₂D in Detachment

Increased lipid accumulation and dysregulated lipid metabolism are observed in cancer (40). In addition, progressed disease and poor clinical outcomes are associated with lipid accumulation in tumors (41). Indeed, clinical studies are currently testing inhibitors of lipid metabolism as a means of cancer treatment (42). As lipids participate in cellular energy metabolism processes, the observed alteration of lipid metabolism contributes to the overall reprogrammed energy metabolism hallmark of cancer and may also support anchorage independence.

Although few studies have investigated lipid metabolism in detached cancer models, changes in lipid metabolism in detachment are observed. In detached breast cancer cells, fatty acid oxidation (FAO) only occurred when the cells were equipped with sufficient antioxidants to mitigate subsequent ROS produced by mitochondrial oxidation in the electron transport chain (33). Interestingly, in detached colorectal cancer cells, the opposite was observed where cancer cells utilized FAO to provide substrates for NADPH producing reactions (43). While FAO is commonly associated with inducing oxidative stress, it is hypothesized that cancer cells may utilize FAO to transfer reductive potential from the cytosol to the mitochondria when redox balance is needed (44). Thus, detached cells may reprogram their lipid metabolism to maintain cytosolic and mitochondrial redox balance when challenged by detachment-induced increased oxidative stress.

Studies indicate that vitamin D, through $1,25(OH)_2D$, regulates lipid metabolism in cancer models. For example, 1,25(OH)₂D induced an increase in lipid accumulation in BT-474 breast carcinoma cells (45). In contrast, in metastatic MCF10CA1a breast epithelial cells, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced lipid accumulation (18). Similar to detached conditions, $1,25(OH)_2D$ may differentially regulate lipid metabolism based on the metabolic demands of the cancer cells. Thus 1,25(OH)₂D may disrupt the reprogrammed lipid metabolism observed in anchorage-independent cancer cells, reducing their survival in those conditions. In the current work, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment reduced viability through downregulating PC (Chapter 3). Interestingly, in MCF10CA1a cells, 1,25(OH)₂D reduced lipid accumulation also by downregulating PC (18). PC activity supported fatty acid synthesis by providing substrate to produce citrate, a precursor of fatty acids. Thus, the downregulation of PC by 1,25(OH)₂D reduced lipid accumulation by decreasing fatty acid synthesis. Interestingly, Wilmanski et al. characterized the relative lipid accumulation of the nontransformed MCF10A, MCF10A-ras, and MCF10CA1a cells, and determined that MCF10A-ras cells did not significantly accumulate lipids relative to MCF10A cells. These results suggest that MCF10A-ras cells have not acquired dysregulated lipid accumulation to the extent of the metastatic MCF10CA1a cells. In addition, our current results indicate a decrease in glucosederived flux through PC to citrate, suggesting that detached cells do not utilize PC activity for fatty acid synthesis (Chapter 2). Thus, future studies investigating 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of lipid metabolism in detached cancer cells may be most productive if focused on the metastatic MCF10CA1a cell line, or other lipid accumulating cells. Therefore, I hypothesize that 1,25(OH)₂D treatment disrupts reprogrammed lipid metabolism in detached MCF10CA1a cells resulting in reduced detached cell viability. To test this, 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of lipid metabolism including lipid accumulation, fatty acid synthesis, oxidation, and uptake in detached MCF10CA1a cells will first be identified. Following identification of regulation, the effects of 1,25(OH)₂D on genetically manipulated MCF10CA1a cells to constitutively activate or inhibit the targeted lipid metabolism will demonstrate a mechanism. Results supporting my hypothesis from these experiments would demonstrate 1,25(OH)₂D's regulation of lipid accumulation such as its previously determined role in reducing fatty acid synthesis (18), and genetic depletion of fatty acid synthase would eliminate 1,25(OH)₂D's effects on lipid accumulation.

4.3 Conclusion

Prevention of metastasis continues to be a focus of current research due to the increased mortality associated with metastatic disease (1). Current results from studies targeting specific characteristics of metastatic cancer cells, such as reprogrammed energy metabolism and anchorage independence, identify these characteristics as potential anti-metastatic targets. In Chapter 2 of the current work, the reliance of breast cancer cells on PC activity for survival in detached conditions was demonstrated. Additionally, our data in Chapter 3 support the regulation of PC by 1,25(OH)₂D in detached breast cancer cells. Further research into utilizing 1,25(OH)₂D to downregulate PC as a means of metastasis prevention is still needed. Given the current vitamin D recommendations that optimize its cancer preventative role. The insights from this work contribute to the growing body of evidence that vitamin D prevents breast cancer progression and will hopefully influence setting vitamin D recommendations to levels that reduce breast cancer mortality.

4.4 References

- 1. Siegel RL, Miller KD, Fuchs HE, Jemal A. Cancer Statistics, 2021. CA Cancer J Clin 2021;71:7-33
- 2. Sambi M, Qorri B, Harless W, Szewczuk MR. Therapeutic Options for Metastatic Breast Cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 2019;1152:131-72
- 3. Cheng YC, Ueno NT. Improvement of survival and prospect of cure in patients with metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer 2012;19:191-9
- 4. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144:646-74
- 5. Warburg O, Wind F, Negelein E. THE METABOLISM OF TUMORS IN THE BODY. J Gen Physiol 1927;8:519-30
- 6. Scheel C, Weinberg RA. Cancer stem cells and epithelial-mesenchymal transition: concepts and molecular links. Semin Cancer Biol 2012;22:396-403
- 7. Cluntun AA, Lukey MJ, Cerione RA, Locasale JW. Glutamine Metabolism in Cancer: Understanding the Heterogeneity. Trends Cancer 2017;3:169-80

- 8. DeBerardinis RJ, Cheng T. Q's next: the diverse functions of glutamine in metabolism, cell biology and cancer. Oncogene 2010;29:313-24
- 9. Hensley CT, Wasti AT, DeBerardinis RJ. Glutamine and cancer: cell biology, physiology, and clinical opportunities. J Clin Invest 2013;123:3678-84
- 10. Bergers G, Fendt SM. The metabolism of cancer cells during metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer 2021
- 11. Melzer C, von der Ohe J, Hass R. Breast Carcinoma: From Initial Tumor Cell Detachment to Settlement at Secondary Sites. Biomed Res Int 2017;2017:8534371
- 12. Grassian AR, Coloff JL, Brugge JS. Extracellular matrix regulation of metabolism and implications for tumorigenesis. Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol 2011;76:313-24
- 13. Fung C, Lock R, Gao S, Salas E, Debnath J. Induction of autophagy during extracellular matrix detachment promotes cell survival. Mol Biol Cell 2008;19:797-806
- Vaughan-Shaw PG, O'Sullivan F, Farrington SM, Theodoratou E, Campbell H, Dunlop MG, et al. The impact of vitamin D pathway genetic variation and circulating 25hydroxyvitamin D on cancer outcome: systematic review and meta-analysis. Br J Cancer 2017;116:1092-110
- 15. Mazzaferro S, Goldsmith D, Larsson TE, Massy ZA, Cozzolino M. Vitamin D metabolites and/or analogs: which D for which patient? Curr Vasc Pharmacol 2014;12:339-49
- 16. Simboli-Campbell M, Narvaez CJ, van Weelden K, Tenniswood M, Welsh J. Comparative effects of 1,25(OH)2D3 and EB1089 on cell cycle kinetics and apoptosis in MCF-7 breast cancer cells. Breast Cancer Res Treat 1997;42:31-41
- 17. Zheng W, Tayyari F, Gowda GA, Raftery D, McLamore ES, Shi J, et al. 1,25dihydroxyvitamin D regulation of glucose metabolism in Harvey-ras transformed MCF10A human breast epithelial cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2013;138:81-9
- Wilmanski T, Buhman K, Donkin SS, Burgess JR, Teegarden D. 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits de novo fatty acid synthesis and lipid accumulation in metastatic breast cancer cells through down-regulation of pyruvate carboxylase. J Nutr Biochem 2017;40:194-200
- 19. Zhou X, Zheng W, Nagana Gowda GA, Raftery D, Donkin SS, Bequette B, et al. 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D inhibits glutamine metabolism in Harvey-ras transformed MCF10A human breast epithelial cell. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2016;163:147-56
- 20. Abu El Maaty MA, Alborzinia H, Khan SJ, Büttner M, Wölfl S. 1,25(OH)2D3 disrupts glucose metabolism in prostate cancer cells leading to a truncation of the TCA cycle and inhibition of TXNIP expression. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Cell Res 2017;1864:1618-30

- 21. Qu H, Eloqayli H, Unsgård G, Sonnewald U. Glutamate decreases pyruvate carboxylase activity and spares glucose as energy substrate in cultured cerebellar astrocytes. J Neurosci Res 2001;66:1127-32
- 22. Christen S, Lorendeau D, Schmieder R, Broekaert D, Metzger K, Veys K, et al. Breast Cancer-Derived Lung Metastases Show Increased Pyruvate Carboxylase-Dependent Anaplerosis. Cell Rep 2016;17:837-48
- 23. Shinde A, Wilmanski T, Chen H, Teegarden D, Wendt MK. Pyruvate carboxylase supports the pulmonary tropism of metastatic breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2018;20:76
- 24. Davidson SM, Papagiannakopoulos T, Olenchock BA, Heyman JE, Keibler MA, Luengo A, et al. Environment Impacts the Metabolic Dependencies of Ras-Driven Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Cell Metab 2016;23:517-28
- 25. Sellers K, Fox MP, Bousamra M, Slone SP, Higashi RM, Miller DM, et al. Pyruvate carboxylase is critical for non-small-cell lung cancer proliferation. J Clin Invest 2015;125:687-98
- 26. Yang HY, Shen JX, Wang Y, Liu Y, Shen DY, Quan S. Tankyrase Promotes Aerobic Glycolysis and Proliferation of Ovarian Cancer through Activation of Wnt/. Biomed Res Int 2019;2019:2686340
- 27. Lee SY, Jeon HM, Ju MK, Kim CH, Yoon G, Han SI, et al. Wnt/Snail signaling regulates cytochrome C oxidase and glucose metabolism. Cancer Res 2012;72:3607-17
- 28. Lao-On U, Rojvirat P, Chansongkrow P, Phannasil P, Siritutsoontorn S, Charoensawan V, et al. c-Myc directly targets an over-expression of pyruvate carboxylase in highly invasive breast cancer. Biochim Biophys Acta Mol Basis Dis 2020;1866:165656
- 29. Pinweha P, Phillips CA, Gregory PA, Li X, Chuayboonya P, Mongkolsiri P, et al. MicroRNA-143-3p targets pyruvate carboxylase expression and controls proliferation and migration of MDA-MB-231 cells. Arch Biochem Biophys 2019;677:108169
- 30. Yoshida GJ. The Harmonious Interplay of Amino Acid and Monocarboxylate Transporters Induces the Robustness of Cancer Cells. Metabolites 2021;11
- 31. Murugan AK. mTOR: Role in cancer, metastasis and drug resistance. Semin Cancer Biol 2019;59:92-111
- 32. Laplante M, Sabatini DM. Regulation of mTORC1 and its impact on gene expression at a glance. J Cell Sci 2013;126:1713-9

- 33. Schafer ZT, Grassian AR, Song L, Jiang Z, Gerhart-Hines Z, Irie HY, et al. Antioxidant and oncogene rescue of metabolic defects caused by loss of matrix attachment. Nature 2009;461:109-13
- 34. Sun Q, Chen X, Ma J, Peng H, Wang F, Zha X, et al. Mammalian target of rapamycin upregulation of pyruvate kinase isoenzyme type M2 is critical for aerobic glycolysis and tumor growth. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2011;108:4129-34
- 35. Hawk MA, Schafer ZT. Mechanisms of redox metabolism and cancer cell survival during extracellular matrix detachment. J Biol Chem 2018;293:7531-7
- 36. Liou GY, Storz P. Reactive oxygen species in cancer. Free Radic Res 2010;44:479-96
- 37. Jiang L, Shestov AA, Swain P, Yang C, Parker SJ, Wang QA, et al. Reductive carboxylation supports redox homeostasis during anchorage-independent growth. Nature 2016;532:255-8
- 38. Bao BY, Ting HJ, Hsu JW, Lee YF. Protective role of 1 alpha, 25-dihydroxyvitamin D3 against oxidative stress in nonmalignant human prostate epithelial cells. Int J Cancer 2008;122:2699-706
- Wilmanski T, Zhou X, Zheng W, Shinde A, Donkin SS, Wendt M, et al. Inhibition of pyruvate carboxylase by 1α,25-dihydroxyvitamin D promotes oxidative stress in early breast cancer progression. Cancer Lett 2017;411:171-81
- 40. Cruz ALS, Barreto EA, Fazolini NPB, Viola JPB, Bozza PT. Lipid droplets: platforms with multiple functions in cancer hallmarks. Cell Death Dis 2020;11:1-16
- 41. Ramos CV, Taylor HB. Lipid-rich carcinoma of the breast. A clinicopathologic analysis of 13 examples. Cancer 1974;33:812-9
- 42. Beloribi-Djefaflia S, Vasseur S, Guillaumond F. Lipid metabolic reprogramming in cancer cells. Oncogenesis 2016;5:e189
- 43. Wang YN, Zeng ZL, Lu J, Wang Y, Liu ZX, He MM, et al. CPT1A-mediated fatty acid oxidation promotes colorectal cancer cell metastasis by inhibiting anoikis. Oncogene 2018;37:6025-40
- 44. Mikalayeva V, Ceslevičienė I, Sarapinienė I, Žvikas V, Skeberdis VA, Jakštas V, et al. Fatty Acid Synthesis and Degradation Interplay to Regulate the Oxidative Stress in Cancer Cells. Int J Mol Sci 2019;20
- 45. Punj V, Graves JM, Mehta RR. Effect of vitamin D analog (1alpha hydroxy D5) immunoconjugated to Her-2 antibody on breast cancer. Int J Cancer 2004;108:922-9

APPENDIX A. SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

A.1 1,25(OH)₂D's Regulation in Metastatic Cells

Understanding regulation of PC by 1,25(OH)₂D in metastatic cells is important to understand its differential effects across cells with varying metastatic potentials. In the human metastatic MDA-MB-231 cells, treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D for two days resulted in reduced PC mRNA abundance and increased CYP24 mRNA abundance (Figure A.1.A and A.1.B). However, prolonged four-day 1,25(OH)₂D treatment resulted in no change in PC mRNA abundance, while CYP24 remained increased relative to vehicle (Figure A.1.C and A.1.D). These results suggest that MDA-MB-231 cells respond to 1,25(OH)₂D treatment, although they readily increase expression of CYP24 to inactivate 1,25(OH)₂D effects by four days.



Figure A. 1. Effect of 1,25(OH)₂D on MDA-MB-231 mRNA abundance.

Following two-day treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D MDA-MB-231 cell mRNA abundance of PC (A) and CYP24 (B) were measured. Following four-day treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D MDA-MB-231 cell mRNA abundance of PC (C) and CYP24 (D) were measured.

A.2 Regulation of ROS by 1,25(OH)₂D in Detached Cells

A striking increase in ROS is associated with detachment, and previous work indicates $1,25(OH)_2D$ acts to inhibit cancer cell's ability to mitigate ROS. Therefore, the effect of oxidative stress in detached cells, and regulation by $1,25(OH)_2D$ was determined in MCF10Aras cells. Detached cells reduce viability in a dose-dependent manner when stressed with increasing levels of H₂O₂ (Figure A.2.A). Addition of the antioxidant, Trolox, rescues viability of detached cells in a dose-dependent manner (Figure A.2.B). In addition, 1,25(OH)₂D treatment has no additional effect on detached cell viability (Figure A.2.C and A.2.C), suggesting that 1,25(OH)₂D's effects on detached cell viability are not through dysregulating redox balance.



Figure A. 2. Effect of detachment and 1,25(OH)₂D on oxidative stress.

Detached MCF10A-*ras* cells viability with 0, 100, and 200 µM H₂O₂ treatment (A). Assessment of viability with treatment of 0, 150, and 300 µM Trolox at the time of detachment (B). Viability of detached cells with co-treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D and variable H₂O₂ (C). Percent decrease of vehicle and 1,25(OH)₂D pretreated (3 days) cells treated with 200 µM H₂O₂.

A.3 Regulation of Lipid Metabolism by 1,25(OH)₂D in Detached Cells

Increased lipid accumulation is associated with increasing metastatic potential. Therefore, lipid metabolism and regulation by 1,25(OH)₂D was evaluated in detached MCF10A-*ras* cells. Treatment for three days with 1,25(OH)₂D increased lipid accumulation of attached cells (Figure A.3.A). Detached cell viability was unaffected by inhibition of fatty acid oxidation with etomoxir treatment (Figure A.3.B). The addition of oleic acid did not improve viability of detached cells (Figure A.3.C). This is likely because detached cells reduce fatty acid uptake compared to attached cells (Figure A.3.D). Treatment with 1,25(OH)₂D had no effect on fatty acid uptake of attached or detached cells (Figure A.3.D).



Figure A. 3. Effect of detachment and 1,25(OH)₂D on lipid metabolism.

MCF10A-*ras* cells were pretreated for three days with vehicle or 1,25(OH)₂D and TAG (A) viability with etomoxir co-treatment (B) were measured. Viability of detached cells supplemented with oleic acid was measured (C). Fatty acid uptake of vehicle and 1,25(OH)₂D attached and detached cells.

VITA

Madeline Sheeley

Education PhD Candidate, Nutrition Science Purdue University West Lafayette, IN

BS, Biochemistry

2016 Purdue University West Lafayette, IN Minor Forensic Science

Professional Experience

Graduate Research Assistant Purdue University, Department of Nutrition Science Project: 1,25-Dihydroxyvitamin D Regulation of Extracellular Matrix Detached Cell Energy Metabolism in Prevention of Breast Cancer Metastasis Mentor: Dorothy Teegarden Preliminary Exam Date: March 19, 2019

Undergraduate Research Assistant

Purdue University, Department of Nutrition Science May 2015- May 2016 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D Alters Crosstalk Between 3T3-L1 Adipocytes and MCF10CA1a Breast **Epithelial Cells** Mentor: Dr. Dorothy Teegarden

Undergraduate Research Assistant

Purdue University, Department of Biochemistry May 2014- May 2015 Detecting Biomarkers for Alzheimer's Disease from Low Abundance Proteins in Cerebrospinal Fluid Mentor: Dr. Andy Tao

August 2016-present

August 2012- May

August 2016-present

Awards, Honors, and Fellowships

٠	3rd Place in the Women's Global Health Initiative	October 2019
	Graduate Student Poster Competition	
•	Mary E Fuqua Graduate Scholarship	Fall 2019
		Spring 2020
		Fall 2020
•	Okos Memorial Scholarship	Fall 2019
•	Purdue Graduate Student Government Travel Grant	March 2019
	Highest Tier of Funding	
•	Purdue Marquis Scholarship	August 2012- May 2016

Publications

Sheeley MP, Andolino C, Kiesel VA, Teegarden D. Vitamin D Regulation of Energy Metabolism in Cancer. British Journal of Pharmacology. March 2021.

Conferences and Presentations

- Sheeley MP, Teegarden D. Pyruvate Carboxylase Rescues MCF10A-ras Cell Viability in Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions. American Association of Cancer Annual Virtual Meeting. April 2021.
- Garg K, **Sheeley MP**, Teegarden D. Comparison of Metastatic and Nonmetastatic Breast Cancer Cell Survival in Glutamine Depleted Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions. American Association of Cancer Annual Virtual Meeting. April 2021.
- Sheeley MP, Wong K, Teegarden D. 1α, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ Regulation of Pyruvate Carboxylase in MCF10A-ras Cells Decreases Viability in Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions. American Association of Cancer Annual Virtual Meeting. June 2020.
- Garg K, **Sheeley MP**, Teegarden D. *Comparison of Metastatic and Nonmetastatic Breast Cancer Cell Survival in Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions*. Purdue Undergraduate Research Conference. Purdue University. April 2020.
- Sheeley MP, Wong K, Teegarden D. 1α, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ Regulation of Pyruvate Carboxylase in MCF10A-ras Cells Decreases Viability in Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions. Women's Global Health Initiative Poster Session. Purdue University. October 2019.
- Garg K, **Sheeley MP**, Teegarden D. Comparison of Metastatic and Nonmetastatic Breast Cancer Cell Survival in Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions. Purdue Summer Undergraduate Research Symposium. Purdue University. July 2019.
- Sheeley MP, Wong K, Teegarden D. 1α, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ Altered Metabolism of MCF10A-ras Cells Decreases Viability in Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions. American Society for Nutrition Poster Theatre Flash Session. Baltimore, Maryland. June 2019.
- **Sheeley MP**, Wong K, Teegarden D. 1α, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ Altered Metabolism of MCF10A-ras Cells Decreases Viability in Extracellular Matrix Detached

Conditions. What do Americans Really Eat Poster Session. Purdue University. May 2019.

- Kiesel V, Sheeley MP, K Wong, Yum C, Andolino C, Shinde A, Wendt M, Hursting S, Teegarden D. *Molecular Mechanisms Underlying 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D Inhibition of Breast to Lung Metastasis.* Health and Disease: Science, Technology, Culture, and Policy Research Poster Session. Purdue University. February 2019.
- Sheeley MP, Wong K, Teegarden D. 1α, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ Altered Metabolism of MCF10A-ras Cells Decreases Viability in Extracellular Matrix Detached Conditions. Interdepartmental Nutrition Program Day Poster Session. Purdue University. January 2019.
- Kiesel V, Sheeley MP, K Wong, Yum C, Andolino C, Shinde A, Wendt M, Hursting S, Teegarden D. Molecular Mechanisms Underlying 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D Inhibition of Breast to Lung Metastasis. Health and Human Sciences Fall Research Day Poster Session. Purdue University. October 2018.
- Kiesel V, Sheeley MP, K Wong, Yum C, Andolino C, Shinde A, Wendt M, Hursting S, Teegarden D. Molecular Mechanisms Underlying 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D Inhibition of Breast to Lung Metastasis. International Breast Cancer and Nutrition Conference. Purdue University. October 2018.
- Wong K, **Sheeley MP**, Wilmanski T, Zhou X, Teegarden D. *Regulation of Early Breast Cancer Cell Viability by Pyruvate Carboxylase and Glutamine* Purdue Undergraduate Research Symposium. Purdue University. April 2018.
- Kiesel V, Sheeley MP, K Wong, Yum C, Andolino C, Shinde A, Wendt M, Hursting S, Teegarden D. Molecular Mechanisms Underlying 1,25-dihydroxyvitamin D Inhibition of Breast to Lung Metastasis. Purdue University Interdepartmental Nutrition Program Day Poster Session. Purdue University. February 2018.
- Wong K, Yum C, Wilmanski T, Sheeley MP, Teegarden D. Regulation of Early Breast Cancer Migration by 1,25 Dihydroxyvitamin D and Pyruvate. Interdisciplinary Cancer Prevention Research Internship Research Program Poster Symposium. Purdue University. April 2017.
- Sheeley MP, Larrick B, Teegarden D. 1α, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ Alters Crosstalk Between 3T3-L1 Adipocytes and MCF10CA1a Breast Epithelial Cells. Discovery Park Undergraduate Research Spring Poster Session. Purdue University. April 2016.
- Sheeley MP, Larrick B, Teegarden D. 1α, 25-Dihydroxyvitamin D₃ Alters Crosstalk Between 3T3-L1 Adipocytes and MCF10CA1a Breast Epithelial Cells. Discovery Park Undergraduate Research Summer Poster Session. Purdue University. July 2015.
- Sheeley MP, Arrington J, Tao A. Increasing Sensitivity of Kinase Assays to Detect Kinase Substrates Using Thiphophorylation. Discovery Park Undergraduate Research Summer Poster Session. Purdue University. July 2014.

<u>Teaching Experience</u> NUTR 605: Nutritional Biochemistry and Physiology Graduate Teaching Assistant, Purdue University Instructor: Dr. Dorothy Teegarden	Fall 2019	
NUTR 436: Micronutrient Metabolism Fall 2018		
Graduate Teaching Assistant, Purdue University		
Instructor: Dr. Nana Gletsu-Miller		
NUTR 205: Food Science I	May 2017- Fall 2018	
Graduate Teaching Assistant, Purdue University		
Dr. Cori Running (Fall, 2018)	(Fall, 2017),	
NUTR 303: Essentials of Nutrition	Fall 2016- Spring 2017	
Graduate Teaching Assistant, Purdue University		
Instructor: Dr. Jay Burgess		
Professional Memberships		

American Society of Nutrition American Association for Cancer Research $\begin{array}{l} 2018-present\\ 2019-present \end{array}$